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DUNCAN==STUART =

FAMILY IN AMERIGA.

0
OUR BRANCH AND ITS CONNECTIONS.

O
A4

When commencing investigations in the winter of 1891
for tracing our family lineage back to the first settlers in
this country the earliest information we had was from the
tales of our grandmother, that they came in ¢‘the troublous
times of King Charles.” or al:out 1650 to 1660. Our Aunt,
Ruth Hobson used to think they came earlier, and that they
cettled Stuartstown, in the extreme northern part of New
Hampshire, the original immigrant, named Charles, fleeing
from Scotland with a hundred followers. I find, however,
that the grant of Stuartstown, N. H. was given to Sir George
Cockburn, Sir George Coleman, Jokn Stuart and John Nel-
son; and as the location must have been a very unsafe one
previous to the conquest of Canada in 17€(, ard the settle-
ment was so weak as to be abandoned after the Revolution
broke out, this Jobhn could not be the immigrant from whom
we descend. Her version of the traditions, however, leads
me to conclude that our ancestor was in one of the defeated
Scotch armies led into England by Charles Stuart, father or
son, and fled here for safety. Both promised immunity from
religious persecution to the Covenanters, and they flocked to
the zid of eachin turn. My aunt and sister say our ancestor
was a Covenanter, ‘‘coming here {0 escape persecution ;” but
as the religious persecution of Covenanters did not begin
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till 1662, any evidence of presence here before that time is
. evidence that our ancestor was a military refugee for acts in
favor of Charles I, in 1646, or Charles 1I, in 1651.

Our traditions have ¢¢There was a Heury about that time,
who went up country and was never heard from after;” also
a Charles, ‘*who went up north with a large party;” and of
- a Samuel, ¢ who left for parts unknown.”

The attention of members of our family has been directed

to advertisements in New York papers recurring at intervals
of twenty years, for the heirs of Archibald Stuart, as being
entitled to property left by Charles and Henry Stuart. Our
oldest sister, Sarah W., wrote to other relatives in 1873 that
her attention had been directed to a similar one some forty
years previously, and that she remembered talking with
Aunt Hobson about it at the time, not then knowing the date
of this Archibald’s immigration. A letter from a claim
agent, named Spear, to our brother Robert about the year
1855 set that at rest by giving the date of Archibald’s emi-
gration as 1797, and that the Caarles and Henry were Sur-
geons in the British Army during our Revolution, nearly a
century after our earliest record.
_ This earliest record of our grandmother’s time was seen
in grandmother’s desk at Newtown by my sister Ruth as late
as 1330. It was a fragment of a deed, dated 1700, giving
¢*to my beloved son, Eben-" (the rest of that name and
the name of the dounor eaten by mice.) As a family posses-
sion, dated the year before the birth, of our great-grandfa-
ther Robert, this was presumptive evidence that ¢‘Eben-”
was his father. Of Robert we knew that in youth he was
in the personal service of Gov. Dummer, of Massachusetts,
then residing at Newbury, near to Rowley, the birth- p‘ac;
of Robert, and a reclative of “hom this Robert married.

Of Robert’s brothers our traditions say little, while of lus
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sisters we knew that two married Websters; one married
Ezra Clough ; and another William Davis, they all settling
about him upon parts of his land in Kingston and Newtown.
“*Squire’ Isaac Webster, of Deep Brook came from one of
the sisters and «*Wildcat” Isaac Webster from the other ; but
I fail to learn to which each of these is to be credited. 1
think from the one marrying a Davis came Gilbertand Alfred
Davis, the last still a resident of Newtown in 1892, when I
visited my birthplace for records in preparing this work.

Of Robert’s father’s family we knew scarcely anything
beyond the traditions of the Charles, Henry and Samuel, and
another that at a family gathering at Rowley, Mass., in our
great-grandfather’s youth, when two aunts, named Carter,
started for home afoot with their husbands, the remark was
made in explanation that ¢ They were Carters, but had no
horses.” ’

Starting with this traditional evidence I have found in my
search for confirmation by records the following in Savage’s
Genealogical Dictionary of First Setilers of New England,
under :—¢‘Stewart or Stuart, sometimes Steward ; Duncan,
Newbury, shipwright, had at Newbury, Martha, April 4,
1659 ; Charles, June 5, 1661 ; James, Oct. 8, 1664 ; Henry,
May 1, 1669 ; then removed to Rowley and had three more,
and died there at the age of 100 years.” In the first Row-
ley tax list éxtant, 1691,-Duncan is taxed £2. In addition,
I learn from Charles H. Preston, Asylum Station, Danvers,
Mass., a fellow descendant, that he was an owner of land at
Ipswich. Mass., in 1658, and with his wife Ann had Kath-
erine, June 8, 1658, one year earlier than Savage had any
account of him; also that at Newbury he had Elizabeth, on
Nov. 2, 1662. I obtained the names of the three ‘‘Rowley
children” from David G. Haskins, Jr.. Esq., of Boston, a
descendant of Jane, youngest sister of Robert, who married
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William Darvis, beforementioned as settling oa her: brothar’s
land in Newtown. Under date of Dec. 10, 1892, he says:
¢« I discovered it about a year ago at Salem in a deed dated
April 16, 1718, recorded vol. 37, fol. 230,- iu which James-
;Stuax't, of Boxford, Jolhn Stuart, of Rowley, Samuel Stewart,
of Wells, Ebenezer Stuart, of Rowley, the ouly curviving
brothers of Charies Stuart, of Newbury, deceased, convey
to Stephen Greenleaf certain land ; which had been conveyed
by our honored father, ¢¢¢Dunkin Stewart.’” This deed
could not have been more satisfactory if it had been drawn
on purpose to convey geneilogical information to later gen-
erations.” . :
On December 11, 1893, just as I came to this pointin re-
setting these first pages for the ninth time, extracts from the:
Essex Instilute Historicnl Collections arrived from my son
Sidney E. that in vol. XIV, the records of deaths of First
Church, Rowley had ¢*John Stewart, aged 90 years and 3
or 9 mecn'Ls,” which would give him a birth date of February
or March 1666, and make his birth in N ewbury, three years
earlier than Henry’s. This verbatim record is also from the
same source :—**1717. Dunkin Stewart, a® (it’s thot) an
100 years old, Augs 30;” and ¢+ 1729. Old widow Stewart,.
relict of Dunecan, July 9.” |
Mr. Preston seuds me a list of deeds by Duncan in the

Salem Registry :—

Dec. 12, 165. Duncan Steward. Rowley. land to son John, of same town.

Feb. 28, 1693. Duncan Steward and wife Anne sold land.
== 16948. Duncan Steward and wife Anne sell land.

Mar. 18,1693, Duucan Steward of Rowley, late of Newbuary, sells land in Newbury.
F-h. 20, 1679, “Dunckin Steward of Rowley, sells land in Newbhury laid out for son
- Charles. '
Jan. 6. 17)7. Dunean Steward of Rowley, husbandman, and wife Ann, sell land in
' Meéwbary, laid out at t2wn meeting 2) Oct. 1636 according to minister's rate.
June 20,'1703. Dumncan Stewart, of Rowley. and wife Ann, sell land.

In Gage’s History of Rowley I find that ¢ Shipbuilding:
was first carried on jn Rowley at Rowley landing by Dunean:
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Stewart and sons, who came from Newbury as early as 1680,
and perhaps earlier. Previous to his death he sold his ship-
vard to Edward Saunders.”

I find queries from various sources as to the birthplace
and parentage of Duncan. In answer to my query Mr. W,
MacLeod, 112 Thirlestane Road, Edinburgh, Scotland, under
date of 21st of April, 1893, writes :—¢¢ The Registrar Gen-
eral hes harded me your letter of 20th March, in reference
to the birth of Duncan Stuart. You do not say in what part
of Scotland he was born. There are over 800 parishes, and
it wiil take a long time to search these registers. You send
£1. 'We will do as much as possible under that sum, and
will report the result some weeks bhence.” He reported :—
“ 6th Sept., 1893. We searched all the registers extant of
the parishes for the years from 1615 to 1625, taking those
having seaport towns, and then the inland parishes. The
registers examined included those of Inverness, Elgin, Banff,
Aberdeen, Inverurie, Kineff, Katterline, Brechin, Montrose,
Monikie, Monifieth, Dunbarney, Errol, Perth, St. Madocs,
Anstruther, Dysart, Kirkaldy, Pittenweem, Falkirk, Stir-
ling. The parishes south of the Forth are not places where
we should expect to find the name of Dunean Stuart; and
besides, the registers begin too late for his period, as do
those of the West Coast. The name was neot found. The
search was carefully and thoroughly made, and was not re-
stricted to the sum named. I regret the result, for there
seems no doubt that your printed account of the matter is
correct. I am yours truly, WaLter MacLeopn.”

As regards the sons of Duncan I find in the History of
Newbury that Charles was one of the company drafted by
(1ov. Andros to go north against the Maine Indians. This
may be a part of the foundation to Aunt Hobson’s tradition
mentioned on the first page. Since receiving the report of
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Mr. MacLeod and finding a small seaport town on the map
named Stuarttown, near Inverness, where he apparently first
sought, 1 have wondered if that might not be the place our
ancestor came from instead of went to. Savage says that
Sewall iu his diiry mentions the death of a Captain Stuart
early in August, 1693. As Sewall is a Newbury name this
is very likely our Charles. |

James Stuart, son of Dancan, as he styles himszlf in the
deed of 1718, was born in Newbury Oct. 8, 1664, and with
his wife Elizabeth had James, July 19, 1688 ; Charles, Jan.’
16, 1690; then moved t» Rowley and had Edward, Sept.
20,1693 ; Abigail, Nov. 26,1695 ; Solomon, July 24,1698 ;
Benjamin, Mar. 3,1700-buried Mar. 20, 1702 ; David, Jan.
9, 1702—choked to death by a copper coin, Jan. 10,- 1706 ;
and at Boxford, Moses, July 9, 1712. In the deed of 1718
he is recorded as of Boxford, and in one of Mar. 17, 1724,
as of Bradford, buying back land in Rowley. His wife
probably died 29th Dec., 1747, as in the book of deaths in
Rowley there is the record of ¢‘the wife of James Stewart’”
dying then. James is recorded, ¢“ied, James Stewart in his
86th year, 17th Sept., 1750.”

- Presumably of his son James I find a marriage record of
‘“‘James Stewart and Sarah Prime. both of Row ley, 25 June,
1733.” AlbO the marriage record of *¢James Stewart and
Mary Boynton both of Rowley, 11th Jan. or June, 1742.”,
She was a daughter of Jonathan Boynton and born 21st of
Aug., 1720; the marriage dates are from different volumes,
vols. VI and XX, of Essex Institute Historical Collections,.
as given to me. This marriage could hardly refer to James,
son of Duncan or to his son, on account of disparity in age,
but rather to a great-grandson of Duncan. Mary’s mother
married David Gage, of Bradford, May 12, of the same year.
A marriage is recorded of James Stewart and Sarah Prime,
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both of Rowley, 25 June, 1733, probably James’ son, then
45 years old. James daughter Abigail seems to have mar-
ried John Yell, of Ipswich, 29 Nov., 1736, she then being
42 years old. His son Solomon, born 1698, and wife Mar-
tha have a record of Benjamin, Jan. 26, 1729; Solomon,
Jan. 14, 1730 ; Phineas, Mar. 27, 1732. A Daniel, son of
Solomon, was baptised at Salem, middle precinct, now South
Danvers, Nov. 24, 1734 ; also William, in March, 1737.—
A Solomon kept a store in Boxford about 1730, where he
sold stationery, and later a William was a stationer there.
In Boxford is the record of ¢ William Stuwart married Abi-
gaell Standly, Mar. 3, 1736 ; also ‘‘George and Sarah Stu-
art had :—Sarah, July 4, 1745; William, March 24, 1746 ;
(eorge, Dec. 16, 1748.” Whether these belong to James’
record I could not decide.

I find no record of Henry, so accept our family tradition.
ITe was either known to be dead, or given up as dead by the
‘¢ surviving brothers of Charles” in their deed of 1718.

The first name mentioned in that deed after James is John
Stuart, of Rowley. 1 find he was born in Newbury in Feb-
ruary or March, 1666, three years before Henry. His first
wife was named Elizabeth, and died Dec. 20, 1689, nine
days after their daughter Elizabeth was born. Both he and
James appear at Rowley soon after, and in the first tax list
extant in Rowley (1691) John is taxed £1 9s. 4d. In 1695
John is deeded land by Duncan, bis father. He appears to
have had an Elizabeth for a second wife, as there is record
of the Lirth in Rowley of ¢ Mary Stewart, daughter of John
and Elizabeth, 3 Oct., 1699.—[ Essex Inst. Hist. Colls. vols.
I'V and V, where it seems the name is spelt with ew always,
thongh if unwilling to concede the privilege of changing the
spelling of a family name they should have retained the final
d, as found in Duncan’s first deeds. This Mary may have
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been the Mary of Rowley, that married Jeremiah Hunt, of
Billerica, 12 Aug., 1731, she being then 32 years old. A
second daughter by this Elizabeth was Sarah, born 25 Apr.,
1712. Sarah seems to have married Ephraim Boynton. also
of Rowley, 2 May, 1732. Ephraim was a soa of Deacon
Joseph and Bridget (Harris) Boynton, born 16 July, 1707.
He was dismissed from Rowley Churel to Seccond Church in
Lancaster, 19 Feb., 1764. John’s oldest daughter, Eliza-
beth probably married Ebenezer Gove, 28 March, 1723.—
John’s second wife appears to have died without record in
Rowley; but I find a death record of ¢ Mary, wife of Joha
Stewart, died 29 Sept., 1726,” that probably was a third wife
of this John, as his nephew, Ebenezer’s John was but 17 at
that time. He appears to have married on 8 March, 1727,
Sarah (Clark, of Ipswich) Bailey, the widow of Nathaniel
Bailey, who had diedin 1722. By the spelling of one report,
John Stewart was a blacksmith in Boxford about 1730,
while the Town Clerk says ¢¢Sarah, daughter of John Stuart,
baptised April, 1729.” He probably returned to Rowley
before 1736, as his nephew in a deed of that year is styled
John Stuart, jr., son of Ebenezer. In Rowley is the death
record of ¢¢the wife of John Stewart, 7 Feb., 1749,” and of
the marriage of ¢*Mr. John Stewart and widow Margaret
Gage, 5 Sept. 1749,” that may refer to him, as from his age
and probable retirement from active life he may have been
given the title, as also to distinguish him from his nephew of
the same name, who would for the same reason be styled
John jr. The widow Gage would have been his fourth wife.
Another theory of the marriage of tLe widow (rage to some
person of this name with a preiix of <“Mr.” is given on page
144, but this would seem the more plausible. John died on
‘the 23rd cf Decemder, 1756, aged 90 yrs. and 8 or 9 mos.

I get no birth record of Samuel or Ebenezer; (specs they
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growed, like Topsy,) nor can I find any data of Samuel, but
from records of deeds at Salem (See Appendlx C) L learned
that I*,benezer accumulated property at Rowley, these deeds
placing him as an Innholder at Rowley Byfield, in the cor-
ner of Rowley south of Newbury Byfield, and owning land
near his inn, one purchase extendmg to the Bladfmd line.

. In the deed of 1718 the dauohters names are missing, but
arnond my notes. 1is a marriage of bllvanus Wentworth and
Elizabeth Stewcut of Rowle;, Nov. 3, 1685, when Duncan s

llzabeth Would be 23 years old I‘lns, with our story oﬁ
the dauomers that were Cartexs, pxewouslv mentloned and
ihat thexe was a Nancy Carter in. the household of Captam
[’obext Stuart during the Revolutlon, supposed to have beenx

descendant of one of these sisters, is all I learn of . them. ;
. Ebenezer married Lhzabeth Johnson May 23, 1698 anq
from a deed. by ong of his chxltlren 1 learn that he dled before
I’ eb. 23, 1746, makmu him seventy or more years old at hls
death. HIS estate was pot settled till 1149 (See Appendug
L bottom of page 146.) Below is as full a ‘tabular recmd
as 1 can obtain of the bnths marriages and deachs of the

- CHILPREN CF EBENEZEB. AND ELIZABETH JOBNSON STUART. 3

NAME BORN MARRIED TO OF DIED ° AGE
1 SARAH . May 10,1699:.- - . - -~ —— Webster Kingston

2. ROBERT Nov. 26, 1701 Dee. 11, 1727 Anne Adams Newbury 1782 80
3. RicEarD  Oct. 15, 1704 ‘ Judith Poor ~ Boxford '
&£ JomN.  Oct. 20,1707 Nov. —, 1732 Hannah Bailey Rowley

4. Erizagetp " " 7. . Feb, 17,1726 Benj. Webster Kingston before 1746
6 ANN Mar. 27, 1712 No record Samuel Lowell Rowley '

7. MERCY '~ Norecord - = Dec. 26; 1734 Ezra Clough Kingston

& Mary .. Cet.- 26, 1715 . Mar.. 8, 1737 Nathl.Boynton Rowley.

9. CHARLES  May 51,1718 No record Sarah Fisk  Boxford

10. JANE - Aug. 17,1720 Dec. 24, 1751 William Davis Newtown

Treatirg of these children of Ebenezer in detail, we have:
‘1. Sarasn, born May 10, 1699, is in the Probate record of
Lbenczer's will, as ‘*Sarzh Stewart, alias Webster.” - From
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her or her sister Elizabeth came ¢Squire Isaac” Webster,
of Deep Brook. He was a second cousin to our father, and
his estimable family frequently exchanged visits with ours.

‘2. - RoBERT, born Nov. 26, 1701, our immediate ances-
tor, will receive extended mention later. |

3. Ricaarp, born Oct. 15, 1704, is described in deeds
as a husbandman and cordwainer. He married Judith, the
dauglLter of Joseph Poor, previous to 1729. In 1737 and
in 1744 he bought land of his brother John, and in 1746 he
bought his sister Ann’s share of their late father’s estate.—
By the Rowley records Richard bad :—Ebenezer, Jan. 3,
1729 ; Joseph, Aug. 5, 1731. Mr. Haskins found a deed
by Richard Stewart, of Leominster, in 1775, conveving to
Richard Foster, of Boxford, land in Boxford coming to said
Richard’s wife, Mary, from the estate of her father, Samuel
Fisk, of Boxford. An Ebenezer Stewart witnessed the deed.
Mr. Haskins thought this was Ebenezer’s Richard, and that
he was twice married, but there seems to be no such marriage
record in either Boxford or Rowley, nor any death record
of ‘his first wife. I think the Richard, of Leominster may
have been his son, born later than Joseph. (See Appendix
C, page 147.) A

4. JonN, was born with ELizaBers,; October 20, 1407
according to my notes, but by the Essex Institute Historical:
Collections he was born in 1709, with no record of Elizabeth,
until her marriage. The marriage intentions of Jolm Stew-
art and Hannah Bailey were published Nov. 10, 1732. She
was born June 30, 1709, the daughter of Capt. Jonathan:
Bailey and his second wife, Sarah (Jewett.) On Feb. 16,
1735 John buys land in Rowley of his father, Ebenezer Stu-
art. In 1737 he makes a deed to his brother Richard, in
which both their names are spelt with u, he styling himself
John Stuart, jr. He is then of Rowley and mentions his
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father, Ebenezer. In a deed in 1744 he is a husbandman,
of Newbury, selling land in Rowley to his brother Richard,
again mentioning his father Ebenezer. A death record in
Rowley of ¢ the wife of John Stewart, 16 Oct., 1752,” is
very likely of his wife, as in Newbury is a marriage record
of ¢“John Steward and Mary Somerby, of Rowley, Dec. 12,
1753.” John would then be 44 or 46 years old. I get no
record of his death. In the Newbury marriages after his
removal to that place are these, that may or may not be of
his children :—Richard Stewart and Mary Stickney, July 14,
1748, that are probably the parties making the deed in 1753,
_Supposed by Mr. Ilaskins to be Iibenezer’s Richard and
Mary Fisk ; Moses Lull and Judith Steward, of Newbury,
April 11, 1754 ; Samuel Burrell and Sarah Steward, Deec.
23, 1754 ; James Smith and Elizabeth Stewart, Dec. 15,
1757. |

The birth of Ebenezer’s EL1zaBrTH is not recorded in the
Institute Collections, although her marriage with Benjamin
Webster is. In some of my notes I had her as a twin with
John, both born Gect. 20, 1707. She may have been born
in 1707 and John in 1709, and both being recorded at one
time, one date may bave been accidentally omitted. She
married Benjamin Webster, of Kingston, Feb. 17,1726, and
died before her father. From one of the sisters came Esq.
[saac Webster, of Deep Brook, and from the other came
‘¢ Wildeat” Isaac Webster, the latter of whom had two sons
and four or five daughters, but I fail to learn from which
sister they respectively came. '

6. Ann, born March 27, 1712, married Samuel Lowell,
of Rowley. On Feb. 27, 1746, they convey her share of
the estate of ‘‘our late father, Ebenezer Stuwart” to Richard
Stewart, as Mr. Haskins spells it in bis letter. It would
seem that some of their descendants were in Amesbury in
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1823, as a descendant of one of Ebenezer’s daughters gave
to a son the name of Lowell, for connéctions in that town.”
7. Mzrcy. This name does not appear in the record of
births at Rowley, or in the Institute Collections. but it does
appear in the latter as married to Ezra Clough, of Kingston,
Dec. 24, 1734, and in Ebenezer’s will as ¢¢ Metey' Stewart,
alias Clough.” They settled on part of her brother Robert’s
land in Kingston or Newtown. I think my sisters know of
descendants to the present day. I

8. MaRry, of the Rowley birth record, was born Oct. 26,
1715. The Institute Collections have the same record,
with a marriage of Nathaniel Boynton and Mary Stewart;
both of Rowley, March 8,1737, taken from Rowley’s first
book of marriages. -She must have died withoat any heirs
before her father, as her name is not mentioned in his will.

9. CHARLES, born May 31, 1718, was of Rowleyin 1749,
and according to Mr. Haskins ¢ had married Sarah, daugh-
ter of Samuel Fisk, of Boxford, previous to 17427 By— the
Boxford Town Clerk’s letter ‘¢ Sarah, daughter: of Samuel
and Judith (Noyes) Fisk, was born Dec. 13, 1738.”* A
discrepancy somewhere, as this gives her a husband twenty-
four years old when she was but four. There may have
been an earlier Samuel Fisk with a daughter Sarah. Mr.
Parkhurst found no record of any Charles or Richard Stuart
or Stewart in Boxford. '

10. JaxE, born Aug. 27, 1720, by my notes, or August
7th by the Institute Collections, married ‘William Davis, of
Kingston, Dee. 24, 1751, and settled at Newtown. One
of her sons was Capt. Ebenezer Davis, of Portland, Me., a
Continental Veteran. A granddaughter of his married the
father of David G. Haskins, jr. Esq., a lawyer, of Boston,
who has freely given me much valuable information. I
ghink that Gilbert and Atfred Davis; the latter stilF a resident

> Brotpor and nicee of Stuart's wife, says Mr. 1. Shown by deed of Sept. 15, 1742,
from 4'.'atn.-n't and wife Sarah, dau. of <am’l ¢isk, of Boxford, deceased, to Sam'l Fisk,
of B_xfurd, sou of 3amuel, dec:us2d ; deed witnessed by Ebenczer and Jane Stuart.
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of Newton as before stated, with a daughter married near
bim, and the family of the former now residents of Merri-
* mac, formerly a part of Amesbury, are descendants of Jane.

RoBERT STUART, our immediate ancestor, second child and
eldest son of EBENEZER, of DUXCAN STUART, was born at .
Rowley, Nov. 26, 1701. In his youth he was in the per-
sonal service of GGov. William Dummer, at Newbury, Mass.
On Dec. 11, 1727, he married Anne Adams, a relative and
co-descendant with the Govercor from John Dnmmer, of
Bishopstoke, Eng., he being of the 4th and she of the 6th
generation from John through the two brothers Richard and
Stephen that came to Newbury in 1638. (See Ancestral
Chart, page 108, and Apperdix D for Dummer, Sewall,
Lougfellow and Adams 1ecords.) Anne Adams was lorn
April 29, 1705, and was of the 4th generation from Robert
Adams, who came to Ipswich in 1635. Robert Stuart took
his bride upon the pillion behind bim to spend their winter’s
honeymoon in a log cabin on hisland in the Kingston Woods.
From deeds on record I find that he owned land in Rowley
in 1723, he selling land then; and in 1729 he sold land with
buildings in Rowley. (See Appendix E.)

Not being fully satisfied with his location in Kingston .
Robert Stuart removed to the Newtown Woods between the
years 1741, he then being ¢‘of Kingston,” and 1745, when he
. is on record in a deed as of Amesbury. (See Appendix E.)
He probably desired to get back into Massachusetts, the
King having decreed in 1740 that Kingston should ke a part
of New Hampshire. If that was his object his effort was
futile, for the State line was at length established a few rods
south of his house. (See Appendix F.)

Our family traditions say that Anne’s two brothers, Joseph
and Samuel used to visit her frequently, but her father, who
was greatly opposed to her goirg into the wilderness, came
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but once, when, finding the cabin uncomfortably cool he set
to work stopping the chinks between the logs. They were
in the habit of salting down a beef and a hog each fall for
poorer neighbors. A relative not naturally so generous as
themselves reported to him seeing his wife give a whole strip
of pork away, and got for answer that it was put into the
barrel for his wife to give to whoever needed it and that he
had nothing farther to do with it. He was an early riser,
and while making acall upon a neighbor oue evening, being
told that his turn would come next, as a certain wildcat
that had been ravaging the roosts of the vicinity had eaten
the last.of his (Heuth’s) bens, hec answered that if they got
up as early.as he did they wouldn’t-have lost many hens.—
On going out at earliest dawn to feed his stock the next day
he saw the wildcat jump and seize a hen, and located the cat
by the squawking of the hen in an unoccupied cattle man-
ger. - By grasping the stanchion beam overhead with his
hands he succeeded in bringing his whole weight of over two
hundred pounds upon the wildcat at once; but not till the
creature had been able to turn and claw his buskins off and
bite and scratch bis legs badly did he succeed in stamping
. the life out of it. Carrying the carcass to the house he threw
it npon the kitchen hearth, telling his wife to get up and do
up his wounds. He was unable to go out of the house again
that winter,—but no more hens were lost.

Like bis fathers,—and I might add his descendants,—he
was always a little in advance of those about him in religion
as well as in poltics and became a Baptist, or what was then
called a ¢¢ Schemer.” In New Hampshire As It Is 1 find
that the first Baptist Church in New Hampshire was organ-
ized in 1755 at Newtown. Our great-grandfather Robert
Stuart built the first log charch, bired and paid Elder Walter
Powers, and with Deacon Francis Chase invited all to come
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and hear THE TRUTH rrek or ExPENsE. This was called
¢¢ Stuart’s Church,” and claiming to have thus already paid
for support of the Gospel he refused to pay his “minister’s
tax.” While he was attending a town meeting, and by the
law not subject to arrest for the tax, he learned from his son
that the constables, intended to arrest him on the way home.
He had his son take both their saddle horses and go home
early, saying he would walk home later. On the way home
the officers overtook him and arrested him in proper form.
He at once sat down by the side of the road at the foot of
the hill near where the Newton depol now is and told them
he was at their service. Being told to mount one of their
horses he answered that he should not resist, but if they
wanted him on a korse they would have to put him there.—
His weight, that served him against the wildcat, came into
play again. Being short of stature and quite limp withal ag
they would try to lift him, they found it a larger job than
they were equal to; and as he would not walk, nor could
they carry him or demand assistance of the jocular bystand-
ers as he offered no resistance, they left him and took his
cattle. This double arrest, after fourteen years litigation,
cost the town heavily and practically abolished the minister’s
tax in that section.

Besides his farming he sometimes chartered small vessels,
loading them with products of the farm to sell in the West
Indies. His ventures were not invariably successful; for
‘at one time he sent his eldest son, Samuel, with a load of
hay for some cattle previously sent to a small island passed
on the way by vessels in that trade, intending to supply
them with fresh meat. By a delay in the arrival of this hay
his stock starved and that scheme proved a failure, to the
disgust ‘of the father.and probable discomfort of the son.

At the time of Paul Revere’s ride to arouse the country



16 THE STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA.

one of the riders drew up at the house- and -shouted—¢¢Are
there any men here?” On receiving ‘‘only an invalid” for
answer he addeéd, then you are all dead men before morning,
tor the British are out from Boston.in great force!” Rob-
ert rejoined—¢* Let them come! There’s no one here but a
sick old man and some women !” - He was then past seven-
ty-three and from asthma was unable to recline for sleep.
We had no record of the date of his death or that of his wife.
In answer to my enquiry Newton’s Town Clerk responds :—
““ I have carefully searched the records and cannot find the
items you wish. The name of Stuart occurs quite frequently
in our earliest records, but among the births and deaths at
the time you mention, anl for tex years bzfore and after,
there is no record.” (Mr. Myroa Kelly says they were burnt
in the firc that destroyed the town hall, church and village.)
I find that his will was made Aug. 31, 1781, and proved on
May 27, 1782. He probably died in the spring of 1782,
aged 80. His wife’s last sickness was in the summer of
1787, at 82 years. She was deemed a good accountant for
that day, an adept at lacework and embroidery, a rare house-
wife, and one on whom neighbors relied for advice or for
assistance in sickness or trouble of any kind. All of her
descendants seem to be proud of descent from her.

Robert and Anue Adams Stuart had ten children, the rec-
ord of whose births has come down to me in the handwriting
of the parents upon paper stamped with a crown and G. R.
within a simple wreath and outer ring. Of these children the

1st, SamveL, born Nov. 23, 1728, settled at Kingston,
N. H. He was part owner of a sawmill there and had some
land, though seems to have been not so successful as the
others In business; he died at an earlier age. He married
(xrace, daughter of Richard Hubbard, and had two children :
Abigail, who was brought up in the family of her grandpar-
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ents. She had married Enoch Brown, of Deerfield, N. H.,
previous to Ang. 31, 1781. They had two sons and threc
daughters, one of the sons heing Judge Stuart Brown, of
Vermont. Samuel’s son Samuel, born about 1762, (Kings-
ton’s dates are missing,) settled in Kingston and remained
there till January, 1812, when he sold his farm and moved
to Newport, Me., where most of his children had. preceded
bim. The record.of his children will be given later. Sam-
uel, senior, died probably in the autumn of 1767, 2s admin-
.istration on his estate was granted to his father on Dee. 2,
1767. Robert’s youngest son, Stephen, of Kingston, being
sppointed guardian to Samuel jr. The widow, Grace, mar-
ried John Scribner, of Poplin, N. H. (now Fremont.)

The second line in tke written record I have is a long dash,
suggesting an unnsmecd birth acd death at an interval of two
_years. - .
~ 8rd, Saral, born Oct. 16, 1732. She married Samucl
Chase, of Newbury, Mass. From her came Samuel Stuart
Chase, of Haverhill, Mass. She was a wiaow at the time of
making of her father’s will in August, 1781. _

The 4th line has another dash running scross the page as
if recording another ucnamed birth.

. 5th, AXXE, sorn Oct. 31, 1736, married Barnard Hoit or
Bernard Hoyt, living ‘‘up country.” -A spirited woman,
who at ninety used to ride to meeting on horseback.

6th, MARry, born March 11, 1739, married Samuel Chase,
of Litchfield ; another woman of spirit, who. would not tarn a
finger over to break her father’s will, althongh the girls had
‘little besides their wedding outfits, while the two living sons
had a farm each. (See will, Appendix E.) :

7th, ErizaerH, born March 10, 1741, married Stephen
Currier, of Southampton, and from her came Weare Clifford,
of Lowell, Mass. Weare had a son, Warren, who succeeded
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his father as a silk and woolen dyer in Lowell. Weare also
had a daughter who is the wife of Frank J. Ladd, a son of
Maj. Jonathan Ladd, of Lowell.

8th, RoserT, born Sept. 30, 1743, married on March 1,
1770, Ruth Currier, born Nov. 2, 1749, daughter of Richard
Currier, of Amesbury, Mass., whose father’s older brother,
David, was ancestor to Jacob Bagley Currier, living in the
next house to my sister, Mrs. Ruth E. Varney, in Lowell.
Robert’s record will be given in full later.

9th, STEPHEN, born Dec. 25, 1745, married Sally Peaslee
and settled on the ‘¢ Kingston Place.” His children were :
Moses and James, who settled in Maine and became pros-
perous farmers, Stephen, Eben, Anne, Abigail, who married
a Durant, Sarah, who married an Estney, and Elizabeth, a
noted preacher of Methodism.

Stephen probably died in the spring of 1817, aged 71,
as administration was granted on his estate Aug. 10, 1817
to Moses Stuart. The inventory was $4255. His widow,
Sally was mentioned in the settlement of the estate, and by
the town Clerk to me as a tax payer at a later date.

10th, Ab. or Eben, with its broad; black dash—so loved
and mourned, born some month ending in er 1748.

A written record of their children represented here, being
a photograph, shows the uncertainty on the part of the aged
writers as to spelling the names of themselves and children.
The name of their son Robert T find running through the
town records for a long series of years signed by him as a
selectman invariably Robert Stuart. << Spelling Reform”
was making appreciable progress—within the family, surely.
The photograhs are by a new process by Robert E. Wescott,
of Lowell, Mass. The photographic illustrations in this and
my second book, contaning extracts from my diary daring
wanderings over parts of cach of the grand divisions of the
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globe except Australia are taken from my own sketches in
my diary, or from photographs procured at the places rep-
resented, and are the first work dore under this new Rem-.
brant photographic process.
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The writing is quite evidently by two different hands, that
for Robert and Steplken by the father, the mother returning
to the task of recording the short life of Ab , or Eben-
ezer; the apple of her eye; the heavy line after the letter
testifying to the deep feeling of the parent at the loss of her
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baby pet. As a sequence Ebenezer, the first child of her
son Robert, must not be chastised in her presence.

Samuel’s son Samuel, born about 1762, married Hannah
Brown born Sept. 5, 1763, daughter of Daniel Brown and
Ruth Whittier, a 3rd cousin to John G. Whittier. Their
children were all born in Kingston. They were ;—

1. Robert, married twice, had children, moved to Maine.

2. Rath, born March 17, 1783, married March 14, 1804,
Moses Hook, son of Elisha and Sarah (Clark) Hook, born
Apr. 19, 1777, died Apr. 2, 1872, aged 95. Ruth died four
days later. They had five children :—Moses, Daniel Clark,
Horace Hubbard, Ruth Stuart and Sarah Hubbard. Sarah
married Charles P. Preston, and was the mother of Charles
H. Preston, who contributes this account of his braach.

3. Nathaniel, married a Collins, had a family in Maine.

4. Daniel, had several children, and moved to Maine.

5. Polly, married William Kimball, of Poplin, moved to
Vienna, Maine, and had a large family.

6. Grace, married Asa Wood, Brentwood, had six children.

7. Samuel, married Mary Shaw in Maine, had no children.

8. Abigail, married John Wood, of Poplin, had one son.

9. John, born Feb. 18, 1802, marricd Pheebe Ordway in
Maine, Dec. 2, 1824, had several children. 'Was a captain,
and says :—¢¢ ¢ My father’s name was Samuel Stuart. His
father died when he was quite young, and grandmother then
married John Scribner. Father enlisted in the Revolution-
ary Ariny at the age of sixteen, and was in three battles.—
My brother Robert was a shoemaker and went to Augusta
to work. Hearing of cheap farming and timber lands up
the Kennebec at East Pond he went there and bought 200
acres of what is now the most productive land in Newport.
Robert built a log house, married and moved into it. Our
brother Nathaniel subsequently bought half the land, which
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is:now (1874) owned by his son, John Stuart 2nd. ‘Robert
finally sold his half and moved to Etna, where he died.

In 1810 Nathaniel was on the old homestead at Kingston,
Daniel was away at work. They coneluded to follow their
brother to Maine. = They sold their farm in January, 1812,
and with father, mother and myself, then 10, went over the
road. with oxen and horses. Nathaniel had two children at
the time—Frederick, and Dolly, who married Hiram Ordway..
Our brother Samuel afterward followed to Newport, so-all
the boys were finally in Maine. We had five sons and two
daughters. Ore -ccn is in California, two in Eoston, one:in
Lewiston and one in Orono. Both daughters are dead.’”
;.;*¢ His son in Oronu was Hollis Stuart. Two others werk,
Charles and Frank. One daughter married Edwin Moore
and left two children.”, |
.- ROBERT STUART’S wife, Ance Adams, was from Robeért:
Adams, who was born in Devoushire,- Ezg. in 1€02.  He
was at Ipswich in 1685 with his wife Eleanor and perhaps
two children ; in Salem, 1639'; in Newbury 1640. His son
Sergt. Abraham, on Nov. 16, 1670, married Mary, daughter:
of Richard Pettingill. " She died ‘Sept. 19, 170i; he died
Dec. 12, 1714. Their son, Capt. Abraham, born May 6,
1676, married Anne Longfellow, born Qct. 3, 1683, daugh-
ter of William Longfellow, who came from Yorkshire, Eng.-
to Newbury in 1651, was a merchant at Byfield ; was Ensign
in ‘the Newbury company in the expedition against Quebec!
in 1690, was wrecked and drowned at Anti Costi; married-
Nov. 10, 1678, Anne Sewall, daUghter of Henry Sewall and:
Jane, born in England, 1628, daughter of Stephen Dummer,’
born.1602, third son-of John Dummer, of Bishopstoke, Eng:
Henry Sewall came in 1634 at the age of twenty in the Eliz-
abeth and Dorcas ;- was first at Ipswich; at Newbury, 1635
mairied:Jane Dummer Mar. 25, 1646. Jare died Jan. 16,
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1699; Henry, May 16, 1700. Stephen Dummer came.in
the Bevis from Southampton with his elder brother, Richard
in 1638 with his wife Alice (Archer) and four children:—
Jane, 10; Dorothy, 6 ; Richard, 4; Thomas, 2 years. He
was a freeman at Newbury in 1639, had Mehitabel, Jan. 1,.
1640.

- ROBERT StraArT, eighth child and second son of Robert
and Anne (Adams) Stuart is ancestor to our branch of the
family. He lived on the home, or ¢ Newtown Place,” and
was the boy that went to town meeting with his father to hear
what was said and see what was to be seen, and boy-like he
heard, unnoticed, rather more than some of the men wished
him to hear, and his father used the information ga,med to
outwit the officers intending to arrest him. -

When the Colonies became aroased to indignation and a
determination to resist the tyrany of the King he was made
a member of the ¢‘‘Committee of Safety” and Captain of the
Minutemen of his town. As his widow, our grandmother,
used to relate it to my sister Ruth, he was at work in his
field with a horse on the 19th of April, 1775, with his little
son, Eben, playing on the ground near by, when the boy.
exclaimed, ¢ Father, I hear thunder!” He stopped work
to listen, and hearing a second discharge, proving it to be the
alarm signal, mounted his horse and galloped to the house,
stripped off the harness, saddled and mounted again, while
his wife brought his equipments, also their five-weeks-old
babe for a farewell kiss, rode off to gather his men, shouting
to his wife’s cousin who was then in his employ—¢¢ Life!
You’'ll have to take care of the farm; for I may never come
back!” They hastened to their rendevous near Boston, but
were not in season to take part in driving the British into.
the city, though they helped to hold them there. He held
commissions in New IIampshire regiments of troops in the
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Continertsl” Aviny curirg the Revoluticn; was with Gen.
Sullivan at Long [sland ; was frequently detailed for recruit-
ing the ranks of his regiment, be having great natural pow-
er of persuasion as well as personal local influence. After
the war was over he represented his town twelve consecutive
years and I found his name running through the town rec-
ords as selectman for a long series of years. Enquiry at
the State Department of New Hampshire as to his service
record on the books of the State brought the following :—
" «‘On the Revolutionary rolls at this office it appears that :.

1. Robert Stewart was retwned as a 1st Lieut. in Capt.
John Calel’s company on Great Island, Nov, 5, 1775.

2. Robert Stewart, Ensign on Pay Roll of Capt. Benja-
min Whittier's company in Col. Jacob Gale’s Regiment of
Volunteers which marched from the State of New Hampshire
¢.d joined the Continental Army in Rhode Island, August,
1778. A

. 3. Robert Stuart.—This name appears among Revolu-
tionary papers as Selectman of the town of Newtou, 1781.”
In ashort history of Newton, N. H., I find that ¢¢ Captain
Pobert Stuart was chosen one of a committee of two to hire
soldiers in 1780. They were to pay what was necessary to
get them. Also that he represented Southampton and New -

ton, 1780-1.” He died June 27, 1819. The writer placed a

Memorial Standard upon his grave similar to *Pw

the Grand Army of the Republic standaid, g‘i,‘;mmg"g

except that the shield was of the form giveﬁ 17

here, trusting that the resting places of those }

heroes who made us a Nation will be at some

time honored as are those of "O_UI‘ comrades of

the later struggle who preserved and made us a Free Nation.
During the revolutionary war, while the men-folks were

all away, grandmother Ruth Currier Stuart heard a great
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commotion at the barn  She took the lantern, the tin sides
of which, as was the way in those times, were punctured
thickly with small holes to throw some light upon surround-
ing objects while protecting the tallow candle within from
the wind, and telling her handmaid, Nancy Carter, to go
with her went out to see what was the matter. On looking
into the calf pen they saw the glaring eyes of a catamount
that was just ready to spring. Quietly telling Nancy to
step to one side and doing likewise herself, the catamount
leaped between them without touching either and escaped
out by the big doors, left open that night in the absence of
the men because of their unwieldliness. She died June 21,
1833, at 84 years of age. Her grandson John Stuart, the
son of John, was then living in one half of the house and
taking care of her, her son Joseph having removed to Low-
ell, Mass., two years before. Lowell had but just begun to
attract the people of the surrounding country as a place for
present profitable employment and for future homes. The
farm had been sold to a Peasles at the time of this removal,
but it seems full possession was not given till the widow’s
death.

Robert and Ruth Currier Stuart had ten children. They
were :—

NAME BORN MARRIED TO LIVED AT DIED AGE
1 EBENEZER Nov. 9, 1770 —— — 1795 HannahRowell Danbury, N. H. Dee. 6, 1847 77
2 RicEARD Deec. 4, 1772 ———1797 Sarah Rowell Haverhill Mass. Aug. 4, 1340 68
3 SARAH Mar. 13, 1775 —— — 1797 Richard White Southa.mpton
———1815 PhilllipsWhite ” N. H.

; About 1836 Sam’l Barnard » Sept.13, 1848 73

Roperr —— — 1772 —_—
5 SaMUEL  Apr, 4,1730 Nov 25,18)2 Mary Sawyer Haverhill, Mass. Aug. 6, 1857 77
6 JAMES 178? 2 dys
7 JOHN Oct. 29,1783 —— — —— Nabby Dow  Newtown, N.H. — — 1853 70
8 JosgFE  Jun. 12, 1785 ——— 1809 Rebecca Bell Newt'ngLowell Mar. 2.1836 51

9 Mary Oct. 22,1787 My. 18, 1310 Joseph French Cone’rdN.H.&0. Oct. 23, 1876 89
1o RuTH QOct. 28, 179) About 1822 Dauicl Hobson Bradford, Mass. Feb. "6 1870 8)

Of these children and their families I give as tull a record
as I bave been able to obtain; thanking those who have
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assisted me by sendirg records of their cwn branches. It
will be observed that we find the same list of names for the
children as those given by Duncan and repeated by Ebene-
zer with the added name of his wife Elizabeth; again re-
peated by Xbenezer’s son Robert, with still others added,
taken from Anne Adams’ brothers, Samuel and Stephen;
cgain renewed by Robert’s son Robert with another Adams:
name for Joseph, a brother ¢f Anne, and by their children
to the present generation; presumptive evidence of direct
descent, were there none recorded. '

CapT. RoBERT STUARTs oldest son, EBENEZER, was born
Nov. 9, 1770. He was the lad that said <¢ Father! I hear
thander !” thus drawicg his father’s attention to the signal
euns for the assembly of kis company of minutemen. Ib-
(nezer was too young to be of assistance on the farm, until
the war was nearly ¢vir.. He mariied Hapnah Rowell in
736 ; settled in Danbury, N. H., and had seven children,
three of whom married and had families. Game of all kinds
frequented the wooded valleys and mountain slopes about
him ¢nd he became roted as a hunter. He died on Dee. 6,
1847, aged 77. Hannah, his wife, died five years after, at
79 years of age. Their children were :—

1
X

NAME LORN MARRIED TO LIVED AT LIEZD AGE
1 SaLLy 1767 : 1800 3
2 FBExEZER) N 1808 8
5 HANNAR 159J 1328 98
4 Wi. RoweLrt, 1832 1831 Rliza J. Marsh Danbury, N. H. 1877 75
5 RiceaArRD W. 184 1533 Eleanor Currier . » 1848 42
¢ EB:XNEZZR 1803 ” 1862 54
7 ROBERT 1813 1846 Manry A. Marsm ” 1851 38

The oldest of thcse chillren to marry was the fourth child,
William Rowell, who married Eliza Jane Marsh, a daughter
of Deacon Thomsas iarsh of Hampstead. They Lad two
children :—1, Charles, bornin 1833 ; married Mary Atwood
in 18538, a sister to Mr. Atwood living in Billerica, Mass.,
close to the Lowell line. They live in Danbury, but have
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no children. 2, Mary Ann, born in 1838; died in 1864.

EBEXEZER’s third son and fifth child, Richard W., married
Eleanor Currier, in 1833. He was also a Danbury farmer.
He di2d in 1846, aged 42. They had six chil lren :—

NAME BORN MARRIED TO LIVED AT DIED AGE
1 GEORFE W. 1835 1860 Sarah J. Currier Danbury, N. H.
2 Hanxam Infant
3 RicHARD W. 1839 1866
4 HANNaH FRANCES 1841 July. 41866 Stillman Clark,Fsq "
5 ELEANCR L 1844 ’ 1846 2
6 MarRT Jaxz: 1846 1866 Alonzo Messer " v

His son, George W., born in 1835, married in 1860, his
cousin, Sarah J. Currier. They have eight children :-Lilla,
Addie, Eleanor, Lucretia, Georgianna, Grace Frances and
the twin boys, Herbert and Herman, now about twelve or
fourteen years old, upon whom seems to rest the responsi-
bility of continuing the Danbury branch of the family zame.

Richard’s fourth child, Hannah Frances, born in 1841,
married on the Fourth of Ju'y, 1866 Stillman Clark, Esq.,
a veteran of the Grand Army of the Republic who established
himself in the legal profession at Danbury and became Post-
master of his town. Their children are :—Eva J., Iza May
and Annie Garfield. |

Richard’s fifth child, Mary Jane, born in 1846, married
Alonzo Messer in 1866. They have one son, Charles.

ERexEzER’s fifth son and seventh child, Robert, born in
1813, in 1845 married Mary Ann Marsh, a sister to Iliza
Jane. He died in 1851; she died in 1878. Their only
child, Alvin, born in 1847, married Delilah Smith and left
Danbury some years ago to keep a hotel at Kennebunk
Beach, Me. They have no children.

Carr. RoBERT's second son, Ricuarp, born Dec. 4, 1772,
married Sally Rowell, a sister to Hannah. They settled on
a fertile farm in the eastern part of Haverhill, Mass., and
were quite successful in accumulating property. He died
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A ug. 1840. darah, his wife, born Jan. 22, 1769, died Nov.
3, 1845. Their only child, Robert, born Oct. 15, 1797, by
Lis fatker’s will as recorded at Salem received this after
provision had been made for the widow. Robert married
Mary Pillsbury, born Oct. 10, 1799. He died Nov. 7, 1858 ;
his wife died June 11, 1882. They lived but a short dis-
tance from his father’s, and their only child, Richard, or
«« Little Dick,” born Dec. 1, 1825, made either house his
feeding ground. Though of one generation later he was
the nearest to my age of the several families, he being but
six days the elder. He married Adaline Bartlett, who was
born in 1827 and died Dec. 6, 1870, leaving two daughters.
¢¢ Little Dick” died Aug. 4, 1880, just forty years after his
grandfather, for whom he was named. Their oldest daugh-
ter, Mary Anna, boru Oct. 22, 1848, married Sept. 16, 1874
Stephen F. Chase, of Haverhill, born Feb. 5, 1848. They
have one son, Flavius S., born Aug. 23, 1876, The second
daughter, Ada B., born Oct. 23, 1852, married Jan. 28, 1886
Richard Sargent, born Aug. 11, 1850. Tkey live at Merri-
mac, Mass. My informant failed to report any children.
Capt. RoBERT StraRrT’s third child, Saram, born March-
15, 1775, was the five weeks old babe held up for her fath-
er’s farewell kiss as he mounted his horse to gather his men
at the opening scene of the Revolution. In 1797 she married
Richard White, 13th child of Hon. Phillips White, a great-
greatgrandson of one of the first settlers of Ipswich, New-
bury and of Haverhill, Mass., who came from London in the
““ Mary and John” in 1634 ; he being a grantee, the writer
of and witness to the original Indian deed of Haverbill, in
1640. They lived at Southampton and kept a tavern in the
old ¢« Graves House.” Her husband died in October, 1814.
In 1815 or 16 she married Phillips White, son of Nathaniel,
and a nephew of Ler first busband. IIe was a sea capatin,



28 THE STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA.

_but left the sea upon his marriage and opened a store at the
old tavern stand. Her second husband died and she married
Samuel Barnard about 1836. She had six children—

BY RICHARD WHITE :(—

NAME BORN  MARRIED TV LIVED AT ~ DIED AGE
1 Rata 612
6 SARAH 1798 Rufus Hills 1822 24
3 REBECCA 3 mos
¢ RuTH My. 1804 Dr Ezra Gale July, 1841 37
5 RICHARD Jun_ 1807 Sarah Gale 1863 358

BY PHILLIPS WHITE :—
1 PAILLIPS Feb.1817 My. 1838 Hannah Brown

Of Sarah Stuart’s children by her first husband, the sec-
ond, Sarah, born October, 1798, married Rufus Hills; had
two daughters, one of them named Louise, and died March,
1823. The fourth child, Ruth, horn in May 1804, married
Dr. Ezra Gale and had seven children, one of whom, Rebec-
ca, the youngest, born in 1841, married in 1863 her second
cousin, John Hobson, of Bradford, Mass., and died Aug. 19,
1871, leaving two of her three children. Ruth died inJuly
1841. Sarah’s fifth child, Richard, born in June 1807,
married Sarah Gale and had three children; he died at 58.

By her second marriage, (to Pbillips White, ) she had but
one child, Phillips White, born Feb. 21, 1817. He married
May 17, 1838, Hannah Moody Brown, born Aug. 12, 1320.
They live at Exeter Depot and have :—1. Hannah M., born
Jan. 175 1840, marvied Mr. Merrill. 2. Phillips, Jr. born
July 18, 1842, married April 16, 1873 Mary, daughter of
John and Catherine Palmer, of Exeter, N. H.; they have
one child, Kate Palmer, born Feb. 21, 1874. 3. Charles
Stuart, born March 27, 1848. 4. William Kirke, bom
March 27, 1859.

SaraH (StrarT WHITE BARNARD) died Sept. 13, 184%,
aged 73 years. The following extract from TVe Trumpet.
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the organ of Universalism in New England in noticing her
death expresses sentiments in regard to her character that
met with general endorsment :—

‘¢ The elder preachers of Universalism will Well remember
Mrs. Sally Barpard, of South Hampton, N. H., formerly
the Widow White. She was for many years a devout and
zealous Universalist; and we were quite sure to see her at
the session of the Rockingham Association if it met any-
where in the vicinity of her residence. We remember welj
that in the year 1828, at one of the public meetings of that
Association, she was the only female preseni. She was a
woman of very exemplary life; pure in spirit; actively be-
nevolent; forbearing toward the infirmities of others; faith-
ful and industrious in her sphere of life ; always doing good
and making others happy. The predominant passion of her
nature was kindness; her countenance itself was a benedic-
tion.”

The clergyman officiating at her funeral said in the same
paper: ‘¢ She was the very first and only woman who dared
attend a Universalist meeting in South Hampton when Fa-
ther Ballou preached there nearly half a century before her
death. Richard White, her first husband, took Father
Streeter home to dinper with him one sabbath noon, at some
distance from the place of meeting, while the hotel keeper
near by refused to even sell him anything to eat,—public
prejudice being almost omnipotent against harboring a Uni-
versalist preacher.” The old Covenanter blood filled her
veins as it did her Baptist grandfather’s.

Capr. RosErT’s fifth child, SamceL, born April 4, 1730,
on Nov. 25, 1802, married Mary Sawyer and lived at Ha-
verhill, Mass. During a portion of his life I believe he was
engaged in some business at Danbury, N. H. but returned
to Haverhill, before 1845 as at that time he was residing in
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a house he had recently built there. He died Aug. 6, 1857,
aged 77; Mary, his wife, died Feb. 24, 1871. They had
six children :—

NAME EORN MARRIED TO LIVED AT DIED AGE
1 AMOS Nov. 27, 1503 May 21, 1816 12
2 MARY Aug. 3, 1805 ” 11
3 ROBERT Jan. 23, 1810 March 1833 Ma:y Kimball Haverhill Oct. 8,1845 &5
4 MarizLa  Now. 15,1811 Feb. 22, 1832 Geo. W. Lee " Mass. Dec. 7,1837 26
5 AMos Julv 29, 1822 4
6 SAMUEL} July 10, 1818 py, 31, 1840 Alice Wheeler ” May 4,1890 72

The oldest of these to grow up, Robert, married Mary
Kimball, who died, leaving one son, Charles Henry. This
Charles died unmarried. Robert died Oct. 8, 1845. Like .
most of the people in the vicinity of Haverhill he was a shoe-
maker. |

Samuel’s next, Marilla, born Nov. 15, 1811, died on the
ceventh of December, 1837. She married George W. Lee.
They bad Marilla, born Nov. 26, 1834, died July 22, 1865 ;
Caroline M., born March 351, 1835. These both married
and had families. Marilla married Justin Turner Cook on
Sept. 18, 1849, and had Harry Lee Cook, born Aug. 13,1850,
who on Nov. 11, 1873 married Inez Janette Noyes and had -
George Howard Cook, born Oct. 31, 1874. Marilla Lee
Cook’s other children were Marilla Stuart Cook, born Jan.
17, 1856, (27) died Feb. 22, 1868 ; Elizabeth Jane Cook,
born March 23, 1854; Agnes Aubun Cook, born August
7, 1859. The other married daughter, Caroline Matilda
Lee, married John Hamilton Chase on March 13, 1853, and
had Florence Melissa Chase, born Feb 18, 1838.

Of Samuel’s twins, Amos aed Samuel, born July 10,
1818, Amos died July 29, 1822, at four yvea s old. Samuel
married Alice Webster Wheeler on Dec. 31, 1840. They
had Willis, born April 18, 1842, and died Nov. 12, 1875,
unmarried. He served in the 62nd Reg. 3Mass. Vol. in the
war in support of the Union; Miriam Frances, born March
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8, 1843,—unmarried ; Walter, born Jan 24, 1845 ; served
in Co. F, 50th Reg. Mass. Volunteers during the Rebellion,
and died unmarried Dec. 29, 1878; Allison Wheeler Stuart,
born March 25, 1851. Allison is a teacher of music, loving
his profession and practicing it to the exclusion of other in-
terests ; is unmarried, and living in Haverhill with his sister
and their widowed mother. Samuel was also in the ¢ shoe
business,” being engaged during the first years of his mar-
ried, life in the store of his urcle, Daniel Hobson, preparing
work for distribution among farmers and others of the sur-
rounding country to be finished into shoes. Later in life
he appeared to be conducting business on his own account.
He spent the whole of his active business life in this hive of
shoemakers, gave two promising boys to his country for the
preservation of its existeace, and died May 4, 1890, aged
72. The widow is still iving, with her daughter Frances
and son Allison at her side to render her remaining years
happy by their loving care.

Capr. ROBERT STUART's seventh child, Jonx, born Oct.
29, 1733, married Nabby Dow and lived at Newtown in the
house upon the opposite side of the road from his father.—
He afterward removed to Lawrence,—was there in 1848,—
thence to Lowell for a short time; was at Boston in April,
’49,at the time of the exodus to California; afterward, went
to Aroostook County, Maire, to clear up a farm left in his
possession while speculating in wild lands. Feeling that he
was coming down with fever ke took refuce with his Maine
cousins, the sors c¢f Stephcn, ard died with them in 1853,
aged 70. I think the widow died while with her daughter,
Louisa Davis, at Byfield, where the latter kept a boarding
house for students of Dummer Academy. It was at the
house of the principal of that Academy that Gov. Dummer
lived while Louisa’s greatgrandfather was in his service, and
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near to the estates bought by Ebenezer mentioned in earlier
pages of this work. The loss of the proper Town Record
by the fire prevents my giving the date of even the year of
John’s marriage, as it doss the time of the year for others of
the family, and also dates concerning his children. John
had nine children. They were :—

NAME BORN MARRIED TO LIVED AT DIED AGE

1 BETSEY 1806 Oct. 11, 1819 13
2 JonN about 1808 NancyTilton 2*

3 GEORGE Emeline » .+ Dec 21,1873

4 NEWELL

5 LOUISA . . :

6 CHARLES 1819 Apr. 28,1838 19
7 HirAM '

8 HAZEN

9 FRANK July, — 1331 . ‘ Apr. 8, 1833 2

The first of these, Betsey, died of lockjaw Oct. 11, 1819,
from the bite of a bat. She was thirteen years old. John,
the second, born at Newtown about 1808, married Nancy
Tilton; lived for a time at Southampton in the old White
house, where his two oldest children, Anne Elizabeth and
Jobhn Franklin were born, both of whom died young. He
lived at Newtown in the widow’s half of the old homestead
house at the time of his grandmother, Ruth Currier Stuart’s”
death, in 1833. His third child, Josephine A., was born
here soon after the grandmother’s death. He was a harness
maker and removed to Amesbury, a place that had already
become noted for its carriage manufacturing ; was there In
1845. They removed to Worcester, Mass. from here, and-
after the marriage of their only remaining child, Josephine
to Dr. Brennan, about 1852, removed to Philadelphia, Pa.
George, the third of Joux’s children, married Emeline, a
sister to Nancy Tilton. He was a carriage hlacxsmith, and
with his brother John had a two-story shop on the third side
of the triangular common fronting the two houses an] juss
at the edge of ¢¢ The Thicket.” Her2th2 anvil’s merry rinz
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sourded loudly through the open doors of the lower story,
while the more quiet stitch of the saddler went on above.—
The thicket of three score years ago is gone; the old site
of the shop also is naked ; the beauty of the level common
in front of the houses is marred by deep grade-cuts of the
highways ; and the houses are aged and empty. George’s two
children were born at Newtown. The elder, George Edwin,
born in 1837, died April 7. 1381, aged 44 years. He was
a veteran of the war for the Union. Elizabeth, born Juue
12, 1841, married Chandler Perham and lived at Bradford,
Mass. Theyhad:—1, George Stuart, born August 1, 1871,
died 6 days old; 2, Grace Emma, born July 14, 1876, died
Dec. 4, 1878; 3, Frank Stuart, born Feb. 4, 1881, now
living with his widowed mother, whose husband died June
4, 1890. George, Ler father, died Dec. 21, 1873, at Lynn,
Mass., having been in charge of the Almshouse and House
of Correction at that place for several years. HEHe Lad been
in charge of almshouses at several places previous to 1860.
During and after the war he had charge at Tyngsboro, Gro-
ton and North Andover, at each of which there were insane
persons requiring restraint ; at Groton there were several,
some of whom needed the additional security of iron bars.
His wife died a few years after, while living with her daugh-
ter Lizzie at Bradford. Thefourthchild of John, Newell,
was cof a genial disposition and won the geood will of all with
whom he came in contact. He took employment with the
North West Fur Trading Company, and died out west just
Lefore he was to have married. John’s fifth, Louisa, mar-
ried Gilbert Davis and lived at or near Dummer Academy
at one time, and boarded students attendingit. It was at the
house of the Principal of that academy that Gev. Dummer
lived when Louisa’s greatgrandfather was in his service, and
near {o the estates bought by Ebenezer. I learn that they

~
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lived more recently at Merrimac (old West Amesbury.)—
John’s sixth, Charles, died April 28, 1838, aged 19. The
next, Hiram, born about 1825, died young; Hazen, the
eighth, married and died, leaving one child; Frank, the last,
died April 3, 1833, at 21 months.

Capr. RoBert Strart’s eighth child, Josepn, was born
June 12, 1785. When a youth he attended Atkinson Acad-
emy and fitted himself for teaching. In this he took rank
as very successful. He taught in New Chester, (now Hill,)
Hampstead, Amesbury, Haverhill and other towns. While
at New Chester he boarded in the family of Col. Kimball,
father of Dr. Gilman Kimball, well known as an eminent
physician and surgeon, the frieudship then formed lasting
through life, extending and continuing to ¢ Master” Stuart’s
family after his death. At Haverhill he boarded at the poet
J. G. Whittier’s father’s. In the autumn of 1809 he married
Rebecca Bell, daughter of Rev. Benjamin Bell, of Amesbury,
and granddaughter of Hon. Phillips White, through whom
her children can claim descent from Wiiliam White, Thomas
Emerson, Hon. Samuel Appleton, and Edward Gilman, first
settlers of Ipswich; Rev George Phillips, a first settler of
Watertown and ancestor of the founders of the Phillips An-
dover and Exeter Academies; and Lieut. Gov. Samuel Sy-
monds. The record from which I obtained this information
gave also ‘‘a daughter of Gov. Winthrop.” In my inves-
tigations to ascertain what daughter of which Gov. Win-
throp was the mother of Ruth Symonds I learned from one
of Gov. Winthrop, Sr.’s letters to his son, Gov. Winthrop,
Jr. of Connecticut, that he had no daughter that married
Samuel Symonds. Further search brought out the fact of
his marriage with Mary Read, (the widow Eppes at the time
of her marriage to Lt. Gov. Symonds,)—a sister-in-la:w to
Gov. Winthrop, Jr.,—hardly a daughter toa brother-in-law’s
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father; tktough close intimacy between thz families might
lead to such an inference. JosEpH STUART took charge of
the homestead farm after his marriage, but taught at Ames-
bury one or two winters after at the earnest request of the
»itizens of that town. He lived at the Newtown homestead
five years, and in the winter of 1814 moved to South Hamp-
ton to take charge of his elder sister Sarah’s public house at
the death of her first husband, Richard White. Richard
was a son of Hon. Phillips White, and therefore an uncle to
Joseph Stuart’s wife Rebecea, making Richard’s wife, Sarah
Rebecea’s aunt, while at the same time she was her sister-in-
law. Other connections occurred amoung the White and
Phillips families with the children of Joseph Stuart by ties
of blood through their mother, Rebecca Bell. Rebecca’s
greatgrandfather, William White, married Sarah Phillips,
and his brother Samuel married Ruth Phillips. This latter
marriage had no especial bearing upon us; but William’s
older sister Hannah married Sarah’s brother, Rev. Samuel
Phillips, of Andover, and became the mother of the found-
ers of the Andover and Exeter Phillips Academies; so that
Sarah was aunt to the founders, and her son Phillips a cous-
in to them on hoth sides of the house, his daughter Rebecca
a second, her daughter Rebecca Bell a third, and %er children
those distant relatives called fourth cousics. Hannah White
kad good grounds for pride in her progeny. DBesides these
academy foundcrs, Samuel and John Phillips, through her
scn William she was grazdmother to Lt. Gov. William Phil-
lips, and through ker daughter Abigail, wife of Josiah Quin-
cy, Jr., the greatgranGmotkber of President Quicey, of Har-
vard.

Regarding the Hon. Phillips White, the grandfather of
Rebecca Bell Stuart, my mother, I find in a sketch of his life
in her handwrittng in my possession that he was born on the -
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8th of November, 1729, at Haverhill, Mass. In anothar
sketch, printed in the Exeter News Letter of June 10, 1844,
the date of his birth is recorded as Oct. 28, 1729 ; the later
date is probably the earlier, corrected to New Style. From
the two records I learn that the parents of Phillips died
when he was quite young, his father when he was but eight
years old. He was the ninth child of William and Sarah
Phillips White. He was principally self-taught. On May
11, 1749 he married Ruth Brown, of Newbury, born March
15, 1729. At his marriage he moved upon a farm owned
by his wife, her sister and her brother. After some years
he 1iemoved to Newburyport, where he commenced trade.—
He used to take New Hampshire bills in his trade, they not
.being current in Massachusetts at the time, and would go to
Portsmouth at night and exchange with parties there for
current money of his own state. By this means he monopo-
lized the trade from New Hampshire pzople. He once said
that he and his wife rarely dined together for years hy reason
of that practice. In 1755 he was an officer in the French
War at Lake George. In 1765 he bought a farm in South
Hampton, which he made his place of residence till his death,
which occurred June 24, by my mother’s account, and Aug.
11, 1811, by that of the News Letter. Hannah, his wife,
died July 9, 1797, and he married Sarah, widow of Dr. Levi
Dearborn, of North 'Hampton. Sarah died Aug. 8, 18)3.

At the commencement of the Revolution Phillips White at
once took sides with his countrymen and was zealous in his
patriotism. He was a member of the Provincial Congress
that adopted the first Constitution in this country after the
commencement of the Revolution. This congress was held
at Exeter, in and for the colony of New Hampshire, Dec. 21,
1775, and the Constitution was adopted Jan. 7, 1776, six
months before the Declaration of Independence, and before
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any of the sister colonies had ventured on such an assump-

tion of Independence. He was one of the Committee of

Safety ; was many years a member of the Legislature; was

Speaker of the House ; was appointed Judge of Probate for

Rockingham County in February, 1776, and continued in

that office till 1790. Omn April 27, 1778, he was chosen to

meet others in Convention at Concord, June 10, 1778, for
the purpose of forming a plan of Government for the State ;
was elected a Representative in the Congress of the United

States in 1780; and in 1781 was chosen to meet in another

Convention in Concord, on the first Tuesday in June, for .

the purpose of forming a plan of Government for the future

well being of the people of this State. (New Hampshire.)
When asked how he liked his son Richard’s choice for a

wife, it is said that he answered ‘¢ We got the best dinner on

the route at Madam Stuart’s, of Newtown, when we were

running the State Line; and her daughter will make him a

gcod wife.” I may therefore add to the record of the News

Letter, that he was probably one of the Commission on the

part of Massachusetts, to smivey the originsl line according

to the decree of the King.
From my mother’s sketch I copy the following :—
The eleventh of May, 1749, at night,
Ruth Brown was married to Phillips White.
They had thirteea children, only three of whom survived
their parents. 'These, and tkeir children were :—

1. Joux, born May 16, 1750, died in Amesbury in 1775,
leaving two sons, the younger of whom died in infancy;
the other in October, 1806, the day he was 36 years old,

leaving five children :—Ruth, Elizabeth, Sarah, William
and John Langdon.

2. WiLLiay, torn Jan. 12, 1752, died July 2, 1806, at 56
years of age, at South Hampton, N. H.
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8. PrrLrips, born Sept. 17, 1753, graduated at Harvard in
1772 ; lost overboard at sea on his return from London,
Oct. 8, 1774, aged 21 years.

4. RurH, born July 8, 1755, married Robert Long, of New-
buryport, died April 28,1801. She had eleven children:

1. Mary, married Samuel Brown, died May 8, 1801,
leaving two daughters.

2. Rebecca, married James Wood, died at about22 yrs.,
leaving one son.

3. Robert, married Elizabeth Carr, died in May, 1806,
leaving two sons.

4. Ruth, married Samuel Brown, died May 8, 1809,
leaving three children.

5. William, who went to sea and died at the age of 19.

6. Lydia, married S. Dodge, and 2nd, Mr. Piper; she

had four children.
. Eunice, married Samuel Brown, (Ruth’s widower?)
had one son.
8. Charles, married Elizabeth Knapp. She died and
left two children. | |
9. Frances, married Henry Pardee. She died, and
left one daughter.
10.-11. Thomas and Harriett, who died in infancy.

5. NATHANIEL, who died in infancy.

6. MoLLy, born Jan. 20, 1759, married Stephen Gorham,
of Boston; she died in 1827, at the age of 63, having
had seventeen children; only three survived her.

. NATHANIEL, born March 8, 1761, married Tabitha Morrill,
resided many years in Portsmouth, and died in Deerfield,

N. H., Sept. 27, 1806. He had seven children :—
1. Phillips, who followed the sea in his youth, married
his uncle Richard’s widow Sarah (Stuart,) and died,
leaving one son, Phillips. (See p. 28.)

~1
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Sarah, died of yellow fever at the age of fourteen
. Lydia, who married Charles Hodge.

. Nathaniel, who married Ehzabeth Jenness They
had two children. ' '

. Mary, who married Mr. Houghton.
. Theophilus Morrill, who married Miss Wells.
. John Thomas, who married Cynthia. '

8. GILMAN, who died in infancy. .
9. REBECCA, born Nov. 15, 1764, married Rev. Benjamin
Bell Oct. 16,1784, died Feb. 25, 1803 ; bad six children :

1.

3.

Rebecca, born Dec. 4, 1785, died aged ten days.
Rebecca, born Dec. 9, 1786, married JOSEPH STUART
in 1809 ; their children’s record will be given hereafter.
Benjamin, born Nov. 25, 1738, married Mary Cald-
well. He was a chemist, and was the first in this
country to discover an economical process for making
sulphuric acid ; losing all the hair from his head dur-
ing his experiments, and killing all vegetation about
what was called ‘<Ben. Bell’s Brimstone Mill” in a
lonely field in the suburbs of Newburyport. After-
ward he turned his attention to devising a method for
the manufacture of tartaric acid ; was engaged in that
manufacture in 1841 at Charlestoxn, Mass. He re-
tired from business and removed to Philadelphia, Pa.
after the death of his wife. They had six children;
of whom were Mary J., who married Mr. Fifield,
of Charlestown, Mass.; Charles, who died from
over-study at Harvard; and William Wilberforce.

. William, born June 14, 1791, married Elizabeth

Dow; was a Universalist minister; atone time went
to North Carolina, but could not preach Slavery.—
Three of his nine children lived to marry ; ‘Charles;
Rebecca, who married a Mr. Sargent, of Boston;
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and Mary Jane, who married in Illinois, I think.
5. Thomas, born April 19,1793, died May 23, 1794.
6. Phillips White, born Sept. 14, 1795; went to sea;
- not heard from since October, 1823.

10. GiLmaN, born Aug. 9, 1766, married Elizabeth Brown;
resided in Newburyport many years; was a resident of
New Bedford, Mass., in 1844. They bhad ten children :—

. Elizabeth, married Dr. Joknson.

. Thomas, born October, 1795.

Gilman, married —Soule ; died, leaving no children.

. Phillips, who died at sea.

. Gorham, who died at sea.

. Mary Ann, married

. Adeline, married Mr. Mullikin ; had three children.

. Edward Little, married
. Lydia, died aged 15 years.

10 William, born in June, 1814 ; died.

11. TrOMAS, born Sept 4, 1768 ; died Aug. 22, 1792 or 93.

12. Lyp1a, born June 10, 1770; died Sept. 2, 1779.

13. RicuarDp, born July 10, 1772, married Sarah Stuart.—
In addition to the children of Richard and Sarah White,
given on page 28, my mother notes a sixth, Phillips, born
Sept. 1, 1812; died aged 20 months. Richard died on
October 12, 1814.

Of the five first settlers of Ipswich spoken of as ancestors
of Hon. Phillips White, tradition says William White came
from Norfolk Co., England, and was of Anglo Saxon origin.
He landed at Ipswich in 1635. The bounds of Ipswich and
Quascacunquen (Newbury,) were laid out that year, and of
those who moved to Newbury were Rev. Thomas Parker,
Nicholas Noyes, (a young man whose descendants claim 1o
have been the first to step ashore at Parker River Landing,)
Henry Sewall, William White, William Moody and Richard

NTGUP.OONJH
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Kent. In 1640 he removed to Haverhill, beirg one of the
grantees of the original Indian deed, which is in his hand-
writing and witnessed by him. He was born in 1610, and
died Sept. 28, 1690. His first wife, Mary, died Sept. 22, -

1681, and on Sept 21, 1682 he married the widow, Sarah

Foster, who removed to Ipswich after his death, and died in

1693. The records and history of Haverhill show him to

have been a man of consequence among the early settlers.
JOHN, the only son of William White, was born in 1639

or 40. He married Hannah French at Salem, on Nov. 23,

1662 ; died at Haverhill, Jan. 1, 1668-9, leaving an oaly son,
JOHN, born March 8, 1663-4, who married Lydia, the

daughter of Hon. John Gilman, of Exeter, Oct. 24, 1687.

John and Lydia Gilman White had fourteen: children :—

I. Jonn, born Sept. 21, 1688, died Aug. 19, 1705. -

II. Mary, born June 24, 1690, married James Ayer, of
‘Haverhill, May 10, 1711, and died in 1777.

III. Hax~NaH, born in 1691, and died in 1775 ; she married
Rev.: Samuel Phillips, of Andover, Jan. 17, 1711-12;
was mother to the academy founders spoken of on page

85, which gives her record. '

1V. Wirirax, born Jan. 13, 1693-4, married June 12, 1716

- Sarah Phillips, daughter of Samuel Phillips, goldsmith, of
Salem, sister of Rev. Samuel, who married William’s sis-
ter Hannah. William died Dec. 11, 1737. They had
eleven children :— ‘ .

1. William, born April 12, 1717, was a merchant in
Boston, and died in 1773.
2. Samuel, born Sept. 16, 1718, married Sarah Brown.
He died in Haverhill, Aug. 21, 1801. They had :—
-1. Mary, married Moses Brown, of Newburyport.
'2. Anna, married Dr. Salstonstall in 1780; had
Hon. L. Salstonstall, of Salem. She died in1841.



42 THE STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA.

3. Rebecca, married James Duncan, of Haverhill, had
Col. J. H. Duncan. She died in 1836 or 37.

4. Sarah, married David How, of Haverhill, died in
1833. Left no children.

5. Samuel, died Dec. 12, 1808.

6. Susannah, born Dec. 2, 1761, married John White,
grandson of Samuel White, who married Ruth Phil-
lips ; died in Haverhill April 16, 1786. She had

Col. Charles White, of Haverhill.
3. John, born Feb. 7, 1719-20, died at Methuen, 1800 ;
had Hon. Daniel A. White, of Salem, Mass., who had
Hon. John H. White, of Lancaster, N. H.
4. Nathaniel, born Nov. 24, 1721, died young.
5. Sarah, born Sept. 17, 1723, died at 2 days old.
6. Timothy, born Sept. 28, 1724, died in Plaistow,
N. H.

. Mary, born April 30, 1726, married Mr. Chandler;
left no children.

8. Sarah, born March 9, 1727, married Mr. Thompson,
of Billerica ; left no children.
9. Phillips, whose record I have given.
10. Ebenezer, born Aug. 2, 1731, died five days old.
11. Anna, born Oct. 24, 1732, died June 26, 1737.
V. SamreL, born Dee. 23, 1695, married Ruth Phillips,
sister of Rev. Samuel Phillips, died February, 1777 ; had
John, who married Elizaheth Gilman, and their son
John married Susannah White, who was the mother of
Col. Charles White, of Haver hill, mentioned above.
V1. NicroLrAs, born Dec. 4, 1698, died in Plaistow, N.
H., in September, 1772. .
VII. TimorHY, born Nov. 13, 1700. He was a minister
of the Gospel in Nantucket, where he was married. He
died in Haverhill in February, 1765.

~1
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VIII. ELizaBeTH, born Nov. 16, 1702, married a minister of
the Gospel at Rochester, N. H. She died at that place
in January, 1776.

IX. JamEes, born on April 16, 1705, resided in Atkinson,
N. H., and died at that town in May, 1783. He had a

daughter who married Maj. Sprague, formerly of Sa-
lem, Mass.

X. Jonx, born Sept. 8, 1707, died at Haverhill May 10,
1714, |

XI. JosErH, ‘ S Joseph died Apr. 4,

XII. Asrear, § PormOct.21,1709. { 1718. Abigail mar-
ried Moses Hazen March 5, 1727-8, died at Haverhill in
December, 1792.

XIII. Lypia, born Sept. 11, 1711, and died young.

XIV. Joaxxa, born March 81, 1714, died Nov. 2, 1714.

I have mentioned previously that among the ancestors of
Hon. Phillips White were five first settlers of Ipswich. Of
these, I have given a somewhat full family record of William
White, with members of which the older members of our
own family were quite intimate. Amnother of the five first
settlers, EDwarD GiLman, (father of Hon. John Gilman,
grandfather of Lydia Gilman, who married John White,)
came from Norfolk, England to Hingham, Mass.—thence
to Ipswich—and from there to Exeter before 1652. Of his
children, (besides Counsellor John,) were Edward, Moses,
and two daughters, one of the daughters marrying an an-
“cestor of Judge Cushing of the Supreme Court of the United
States. Gov. Gilman was a grandson of Daniel Gilman; a
grandson of the Counsellor.

REev. ‘GEORGE PmiLLIps, the ancestor of Sarah Phillips,
the mother of Hon. Phillips White, was born in Raymond,
Norfolk Co., England. He came to this country in 1630,
in company Wlth Gov. Wmthrop, and lived for a time at
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Charlestown, Mass., ‘‘many of them in tents and wigwams,
their meeting place being abroad, under a tree,” says Roger
Clap. Mr. Phillips and several others, with Sir Richard
Salstonstall, afterward settled Watertown and organized a
church July 30, 1630, under Mr. Phillips as pastor. He re-
mained with them till his death, July 1, 1644. His eldest
son, Rev. Samuel Phillips, was born in Boxford, England,
in 1625 ; graduated at Harvard in 1650, and was settled in
Rowley in 1651. He married Sarah Appleton, daughter of
Hon. Samuel Appleton, another of the first settlers of Ips-
wich. Samuel continued in the ministry at Rowley forty-six
years and died greatly loved and lamented, April 22, 1696,
aged 70. Of his two sons, George, the younger, graduated
at Cambridge in 1636, and settled in the ministry at Brook-
haven, L. I. Samuel, the elder, learned the goldsmith’s
trade and settled ia business at Salem, Mass. Samuel was
born March 23, 1658, and died Oct. 13,1722. He married
Mary Emerson, granddaughter of Thomas Emerson, another
of the first settlers of Ipswich, and daughter of Rev. John
Emerson, of Gloucester, a graduate of Harvaid in 1656.—
Rev. John married Ruth Symonds; a daughter of Lt. Gov.
Samuel Symonds, whose wife was Mary Read,—the widow
Eopes.—(See p. 34.) Samuel and Mary Emerson Phillips
had two sons and four daughters :—Samuel, John, Sarah,
Ruth and two that died young. All but John'married chil-
dren of John White, of Haverhill.—(See p. 35.) Samuel,
the eldest, was born Feb. 28, N. S. 1690 ; took his first de-
gree at Harvard in July, 1708, at 18 years of age; taught
school at Chebaco for a: year after, and then returned to his
father’s in Salem, in order to study for the ministry. Afir
preaching transiently in various towns bz was invited to tha
South Parish in Andover, and began to preach there in April,
1710, in the 21st year of his age. He married Jan. 17,
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O. S. 1712, Hannah White. They had five children—three
sons and 1wo daughters. Their eldest son, Hon. Samuel
Phillips, of Andover, was born Feb. 13, 1715, and was lib-
erally educated at Cambridge. The second son, Hon. John
Phillips, of Exeter, N. H., was bern Dee. 27, O. S. 1719.
These two were the founders of the Andever Academy that
bears their name. By their gift in 1778 of several valuable
tracts of land; and of £1614 to a Board of Trustees they laid
the foundation of an Institution, ¢ the first and principal ob-
ject of which” they declare ¢¢is the prometien of true piety
and virtue.” Hon. Samuel, of Andever, married Elizabeth
Barnard, of Andover, July 11, 17838. Of their seven chil-
dren only one lived to mature age—Lt: Gov. Samuel Phil-
lips, born Feb. 5, 1752. He married Phebe Foxcroft, of
Portsmouth in June, 1773. Their ehildren were John and
Samuel. The latter died a youth ; Jehn settled in the North
Parish in Andover. Lt. Gov. Phillips died Feh. 10, 1802,
aged 50. He had represented his town many years; was
President of the Massachusetts Sénate from 1785 till he was
chosen Lt. Governor in 1801: By an instrument signed and
sealed May 3, 1808 by Samuel Abbot and Phabe Phillips,
relict, and John Phillips, son of Lt. Gov. Samuel Phillips,
the two latter ‘‘in pursuance of the benevolent and pious
object”” of the founders and benefactors of Phillips Academy
in Andover, obligated themselves to erect two buildings : one
to furnish eonvenient lodging reoms for fifty theological stu-
dentd, the other to contain & kitchen and rooms for a stew-
ard’s family ; and three public rooms: for a dining room, a
chapel and a lecture hall suflicient to accommodate sixty stu-
dents. In the same instrument Samuel Abbot, Esq. donates
$20,000. to maintain a Professor of Christian Theology.
John, the second son of Rev. Samuel Phillips, of Ande-
ver, was born Dec. 27, O. 8. 1719 ; graduated at Harvard
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in 1735. After teaching for a time in Andover and other
towns he went to Exeter, N. H., where he married Saral,
a daughter of Rev. Mr. Emery, of Wells, de., the widow
of Nathaniel Gilman, Esq. He was a merchant, and also
kept a private Latin School. As before stated, he assisted
his brother Samuel in founding Andover Academy; he sub-
sequently donated $20,000. to that ipstitution. Besides the
establishment of a professorship of Divinity at Dartmouth, .
he founded and liberally. endowed the Phillips Exeter Acad-
emy. At his death he bequeathed one-third of his estate to
the Andover Academy and two-thirds to that at Exeter.—
His second wife was the widow of Dr. Hale.

William, the third son and youngest child of Rev. Samuel
Phillips of Andover, was born June 25, O. S. 1722; was a
merchant in Boston ; was a Representative and a Senator in
the Massachusetts Legislature atdifferent times; wasa mem-
ber of the Convention which drafted the State Constitution ;
also of that which adopted the Constitution of the United
States. At his death he bequeathed $5,000 to Andover
Academy. Only four of his eight children survived child-
hood :—Abhigail, born April 14, 1745, who married Josiah
Quincy, Jr., and died Mar. 24, 1798 ; William, born Mar.
30, 1750, was extremely feeble in his youth; visited Eng-
land and the Continent in 1773, and returned in one of the
‘Tea Ships in 1774. Soon after, hc married a daughter of
Hon. Jonathan Mason; was chosen a Deacon of the Qld
South Church Mar. 24, 1794 ; was repeatedly chosen as a
Presidentia] Elector at Large, and as Lieut. Governor for
several years. 'The last benefaction to public charities that
he made amounted to $62,000. . In addition to this he b=l
given annually $500 to the Massachusetts Bible Society, anl
3100 for several other religious objects annually until his
death, May 26, 1827. They had seven chillren; of wuo.n
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wcr2 Hon. Jonathan Phillips, of Boston, who was living in
1844 according to the Euweter News Letter; Abigail, who
married Ebenezer Burgess, of Dedham, also alive in 1844 ;
Miriam, born June 9, 1779, married Samuel H. Walley, and
died March 26, 1827 ; Edward, born June 27, 1782, was a
merchant, died Nov. 3, 1826. Three died in childhood.

As before said, Sarah Phillips married William, and Ruth
married John White. John Phillips, the youngest child ot
Samuel Phillips, goldsmith, born June 22, O. S. 1701, was a
stationer ; married Mary, eldest daughter of N. Buttulpt,
of the same occupation; settled in Boston, at first in that
trade, but afterward as a merchant— was greatly prospered.
He held many important offices, was greatly respected by
all, and died April 19, 1763. The youngest son, William,
was also a merchant in Boston ; died Jan. 4, 1772, aged 34,
leaving two sons and two daughters. One son died early;
the other, Hon. John Phillips, for some years President of
the Massachusetts Senate, and the first mayor of the city of
Boston, died May 29, 1823.

JOsEPH STUART returned to the Newtown homestead after
the death of his father. He was offered an election as Rep-
resentative if he would change his Federal polities to democ-
racy, hut he met the proposal with scorn. In the spring of
1831 he sold out at Newtown and removed to the village of
Belvidere, in Tewksbury, now a part of Lowell, Mass., and
occupied a part of Judge Livermore’s ¢¢ Old Yellow House”
tavern while building a house for himself on Ash Street, at
that time just laid out Ly the Nesmith brothers, purchasing
a portion of the old, rambling, historical building at its dis-
memberment, to serve as a kitchen. It still serves my sis-
ter Ruth, Mrs. Varney, in its original duty better than ever,
after over three score years use and changes in its interior
arrangements by her. The huge chimney, with its wide,open
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~ fire-place ; its crane and pendant pot-hooks for hanging pots
and kettles over the fire for boiling ; its great brick oven,
built into the chimney at the left, with the ash-hole beneath,
the handy tin baker to place upon the hearth before the fire,
that gave us those delicious biscuit, the equally bulky tin
roaster, with its trough to catch the gravy, and gave us such
satisfactory results when the spit was properly tended—but
otherwise quite the reverse to the turnspit,—all these olden
time kitchen outfits have been replaced by the handier little
cookstove. JoseErH built several streets for the Nesmiths
in Belvidere. While he was at work upon the road in front
of the mansion afterwards built by Samuel Lawrence, and
more recently the residence of the late Gen. Benj. F. Butler,
the writer remembers getting more than he could hold of
especially nice huckleberries from bushes close to a large,
wide-spreading black birch in the grounds now the front
lawn ; and he has a very distinct remembrance when sent
to the store for a fig of tobacco, of how he felt after eating
a fragment of leaf hanging loose, thinking it must be good
because father ate it, how he wondered that his father could
detect the purloining, his thought that he never wanted to,
when told never to meddle with his father’s tobacco again,
of his wonder if it would ever get through tryicg to come up
again as he dizzily lay prone upon the ground on the Rogers
side of the wall at the end of Water Street, out of sight—
but not out of hearing—of his father, how gladly he took
the usual chalk-marked shingle errand with the injunction
‘* Lell your mother to give you that!”’—how innocently the
errand was performed, and the luke-warm water. A stroay
distaste for any form of its use or use of the weed for smok-
ing in his presence brings on the same desire to get a wall
between himself and the smoker, although for many years
in constant companioaship with inveterate smokers. Joseeu
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died March 2 1836. RksEkcca, his widow died November
80, 1858, in the old ‘¢ Judge Livermore Mansion,” then the
property and residence or her son-in-law, Alderman Samuel
J. Varney. Their children were : —

NAME BOBN MARRIED TO LIVED AT DIED AGE

1 SARAR WaITE Jul. 29, 1810 Lowell. Mass. Mar.26.1880 70
2 ReBECEA Aug. 4,1812 May, 1834 Chas.S.French “Out West"

3 ROBERT Jun. 19,1814 1850 Harr’t Blodget Vt. & JTowa June 1884 70
4 Rute EMELINE Mar.16,1816 May 27,1851 Baml J. Vamey Lowell, Mass.

5 MARY JANE  Apr.18,1818 An infang

6 RicHARD Mar. 30.1821 June9, 1838 17
7TMaryY JARE  May 24,1823 ‘Feb. 184218
8 JoSEPHALONZO Dec, 6. 1825 June 3, 1856 Anu J:Fland'rs Dracut, Mass. ‘

9 Epwakp AucusTUsJul.1828 Oct.26. 1832 4

SaraH, the oldest of these, was born July 29, 1810, at
Newtown, N. H. She had a full share of the Covenanter
blood in her veins, Lieing interested actively in her sphere of
influence in the earliest anti-slavery agitation, and one of
the earliest to accept the possibillity of intercourse with the
spirit world. She lived to see the odium and even mob vi-
olence accorded to advocates of Freedom chang=d to Lonor,
and become the law of the land after a most expensive and
sanguinary war : while her faith dispelled all fear of death,
and took away its sting. She remained unmarried, and died
March 26, 1880, at the Ash Street home, which, with her
sister Ruth she had saved from forced sale at the time their
father died, and through the kind assistance and advice of
John Nesmith, holder of the mortgage, succeeded eventual-
ly in rédeeming the property, while at the sameé time they
supported the family containing three younger members, one
of whom, the sister, was a confirmed invalid, and the mother
the constant anxiety of Dr. Gilman Kimball, who brought
her safely through a long and extremely severe attack of
lung hemorrhage after others had despaired of saving her
life. Her name upon his slate;-she being one of, if not his
very first patient in Lowell, brought him to her side at once,
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and if not in sight as he entered, ¢ Where’s your mother ??
came in his quick, incisive tones. Besides these untoward
circumstances and reverses that brought the family funds
quite low just when most needed, and against which they so
bravely. fought and. won, unaided save by kind advice and
extensmn of time when needful, they also determined to keep
the two younger brothers. in school, and even assisted their
older brother to such_emtent as they were able, to fit hlmself
for expounding an opposing creed. The- two sisters had all
things in common to each.other. Sarah was seventy years
old at her. death, and had been an invalid for several years.
ReBECCA, the 'second child of Joseph and Rebecea Stuart,
was born at Newtown, N. H., Aug. 4, 1812. She married
her cousin, Charles Stuart French in May, 1834, and com-
menced her married life with him at Codeord, N. H. They
had two children here :—1st, Mary Rebecca, died in 1837,
at two years old; 2nd, Mary Elizabeth. They removed to
Erie Co:, Pa. about the year 1840,.and settled down upori
a farm in MeKean, about nine miles from the city of Erie.
Charles improved a mill privilege in a small creek running
through his land and ground grain and sawed lumber and
veneering as occasion offered; but the frequent destruction
of his mill dam by freshets made this not a very profitable
business. At that time the only mode of conveyance from
“ The East,” (that then being called ‘* Out West,”) was
by Erie. Canal and Lake Erie. The arrival of his brother
Joseph Andrew with some additional funds and muscle was
of benefit to both parties, and after a time they sold out to
Joseph and opened a store at Erie. Tbe scheming of their
partner caused them the loss of their all; proving to them
that trusting a grasping family connection was unwise ; but
this undéserved adversity was probably the cause of a sym-
pathetic influence that gave the lease of the dining room at
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the depot in 1851 or 52, when conneetions were first made
between Buffalo and Cleveland. Good food, well cooked
and in plenty on the table within easy reach of hurrying
passengers, with an evident desire that they be filled to con-
tent, made it a favorite eating station with western mer-
chants on their way to and from New York. A telegram
from the conductor at Ashtabula or Dunkirk of ¢ Two hours
late, twenty cars full, bungry, cross as bears,” on the night
train would rouse the neighboring butcher to go over a mile
to.his stall in the market for a sufficient supply of steak to
satisfy a regiment of ¢ the bears” and send them on their
way rejoicing. Théy found this a profitable business—sat-
isfactory to passengers, to the Railroad Companies and their
employees, as well as to themselves—their tables, with a
seating capacity of over two-hundred being at such times
insufficient to accommodate all at once ; waiting passengers
standing ready to occupy seats as soon as vacated ; and on
some occasions very late night trains were held back to the
next train’s time to avoid collisions on their yet single track
system, as well as to give time to satisfy the hunger of ¢‘the
bears.” At that time there were two legalized widths for
tracks in Pennsylvania—if pot three—trains from Buffalo
ran to Dunkirk on the New York Central’s gaage of 4 feet
8 1-2 inches, then transshipped everything to the New York
and Erie’s 6 feet gauge, and at Erie changed to the Ohio
gauge of 4 feet 10 inches. The railway companies sought
to remove this vexatious delay and unnecessary expense in
both freight and passenger traffic by changing the 6 ft. track
between Dunkirk and Erie to the 4 feet 8 1-2 inches gauge
in the early winter of 1853. There was no opposition till at
the New York state line they came to the track of the small
Pennsylvania company, the Erie and North East R. R.—
The attempt to change was then met with resistance by the
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authorities of Erie and Erie County. The section of artil-
lery at Erie planted their guns in front of the depot while a
hook and ladder company tore down a bridge that crossed a
street near by as obstructing travel. In order to prove ob-
struction and to give a color of reason for their proceedings,
they had prepared an exeeedingly high load of hay to be ob-
structed, and had added tall shocks of corn standing erect,
when they found the hay would fail them. Their real griev-
ance lay in the fact that they had subscribed to the stock of
the E. & N. E. R. R., with a charter for terminating at the
dock at the harbor of Erie, expecting thereby to develop a
successful rival to both Buffalo and Dunkirk, trusting to the
acknowledged superiority of their harbor to draw shipping
to that port. The railway company failed to even build a
track to the dock, but instead of this made close connection
with a road from Cleveland, Ohio, at passenger aund freight
depots one-and-a-half miles from the lake. Ownin gonly a
minority of shares they had no remedy within the company,
so took this course to compel the company to transfer freight
from car to car if not from ship to car. The track crossing
the highway at Harbor Creek, nine miles from Erie, was al-
so torn up, so that the railway company had to pay farmers
for hauling passengers and freight—giving those worthies
the impression that they were making a big thicg out of it,
till their Supreme Court decided that having danced, they
must pay the fiddler. One of the saddest occurrences during
this obstruction to railway travel was the severe frosting of
the feet and lower limnbs of a young German emigrant orphan
girl by exposure during this ride, her limbs being protected
by open-work stockings only. This coming to the knowl-
edge of my sister Rebecca, the girl was at once carried to the
kitchen and the proper remedies applied, while the calls of
simply hungry passengers had to wait any attention from
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her. The girl was about fifteen yeais of age, unable to con-
verse in English, and with a younger brother was on her way
to relatives at the west. They were also sent on their way
rejoicing in more appropriate clothing for the season, with a
full lunch bzsket and addition to their exhausted finances.

" Charles’ brother, Joseph Andrew, soon after came in from
McKean to take charge, and Rebecea and the family moved
to a tenemerit near by for a time. They eventually sold and
moved to Painesville, Ohio, where he bought a flouring mill
and run it a while; afterward sold and moved to a farm in
Dixon, Illinois, that he had bought. After the death of her
Lhusband Rebec¢ea sold- and bought a large farm in Missouri
where, with her son Charles she resided for several years.
She is still living, now neurly eighty-one. A letter from a
relative at Dixon, dated Sept. 18, 1892, says—¢¢ Our sister
Rebecea came in to spend the day. She is now eighty, and
well and happy; scarcely looks s1xty, does most of the
work for the family of five or six of her daughter Mary,
who is quite sick:”  Rebecca sends me the following record
of her children:— AR

* 1. Mary REBECCA, born Oct. 20, 1800 at Concord, N.
H ., died Aug, 2, 1838. '
2. Maxry LLIZABETH, born Mar. 5, 1839, at Concord, N.
H., married Josiah Buffett in January, 1876 ; they have two
(Iauoph"ter's, Harriett, J., born Nov. 24, 1816 Edith May,
bom May 4, 1881. They reside at Dixon, Illinois.

. SaraH JaxE, born Nov 6, 1840 at MacKean, Pa.;
dled Feb. 20, 1877.

4. Cuarris 'W., born Dec. 23, 1853, married Elva S.
Foster Jan. 24, 1882; they have three children: Ollie Re-
hecea, born June 24, 1883; Charles Lesis, ‘born Mar. 31,
1887; Addie Louisa, born Nov. 2, 1889. At the time of
writing this record Rebecca was on a visit at her daughter’s
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in Dixon. Charles was temporarily engaged upon one of
the St. Louis papers, while his wife was pursuing her stud-
ies in the art of painting.

RosErT, the third child and eldest son of JoserH and
ReBEccA StuarTt, born at Newtown, June 19, 1814, was a
baby when his parents moved to South Hampton. He went
to Haverhill to learn shoemaking when the family moved to
Lowell in 1831, and in 1838 came home to attend the Low- -
ell High School to fit for college and become an Qrthodox
minister.. He entered Dartmouth in 1840, and graduated at
Bangor Theological Seminary in 1847,—that at Andover
being already considered too liberal to suit his views. He
then went to Illinois as a home missionary. 1In 1850 he
married Harriett Blodgett, a Vermont girl out west to teach
school. Her system having become saturated with malaria
they returned to New England. He preached in Vermont
till ill health compelled him to desist, when he bought a farm
in Norwich, Vt. and cultivated it till health returned. He
rented his farm in 1858 to his younger brother and returned
to preaching. He afterward sold his farm and removed to
Towa, settling first at Marshalltown, where his only son was
run over by the cars in sight of their house. The sight of
~ passing irains excited such feelings that they changed their
residence to Green Mountain, Iowa. He died inJune, 1884,
while with his daughter Sarah at Grundy Center, aged 70,
having been an invalid several years. Harriett returned to
Vermont after ber husband’s death to take care of her aged
father, and died there before him in February, 1890. Their
children were :—Ewya WHITE, born 1851, married Leonard
Woods Parish, a school superintendent living at Cedar Falls,
Iowa. They have three boys and one girl :—Leonard W.,
Jr.; John Carl; Mabel; Ariel. RoOBERT STUART'S second
child, SAraH JANE, born 1852, married Thomas J. Noll, a"
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REV. ROBERT STUART’s third daughter and youngest child,
Magry OriLr, born Feb. 4, 1867, I believe, was educated to
become a teacher. Her record was inady ertently omitted.
She is at the present time, March, 1894, residing with her
sister Emma W., Mrs. Par ish, Cedar Falls, Iowa.

did the housework for the family of nine besides the gang
of carpenters and hired men, with her nother dangerously
ill up stairs, and only the old-fashioned conveniences of an
open fire-place to cook by. She also had the care of three
younger ones of seven, five and three years—requiring rare
executive ability as well as strength. After the annexation
of Belvidere to Lowell she went to school for a time, and in
May, 1835 was elected teacher of the primary school in Bel-
videre, serving in the same school continuously till she re-
signed to marry Alderman Samuel J. Varney, publisher and
proprietor of the Lowell Journal and Courier, the marriage
occurring May 27, 1851. At the time of her resignation she
had held the longest continuous term of service of the city’s
corps of teachers except it might he Joshua Merrill,—MTr.
Russell having had an ¢¢ interim” at Dartmouth. She then
received a valuable gold watch from parents whose children
had been under her care. Her husband died in 1859. The
two sisters then took up the threads of their old life again,
at the Ash Street home, missing the mother’s presence, but
having Ruth’s two boys, Edward Stuart, born Jan. 2, 1853,
and Samuel Jameson, who died April 22, 1872, at the age
of seventeen. ¢ Sammy” seemed to have won the love of
every one with whom he came in contact. His young mates
exhausted Sheppard’s stock for floral offerings at his funeral,
and his employer afterward showed me an entry in his day-
book, expressing his loss of the best salesman and most
trustworthy accountant he ever had. ‘¢ He would hold and
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attend to a greater number of customers at one time without
their becoming impatient, than any person I ever saw, and
I was hoping to secure him as a partner,” was his tearful
expression as he closed the book. Edward 8., Ruth’s other
son, is living with her, and is unmarried. Ruth is now 77
years old, but still manages to do the housework in spite of
rheumatic pains and trouble with her eyes.. She has found
it impossible to continue in her active participation in the
affairs of the Old Ladies’ Home and other kmdled pIEASIII'QS
that would call her away from her home.

The fifth child, MaryY JANE, born April 18, 1818 dled in

infancy at South Hampton, where she was born.
. RicuARD, the sixth child of JoseErH and REBLCCA STUART,
was born March 30, 1821. He was drowned in the Merri-
mac, June 9, 1838, while bathing. Everyone loved him for
his sweet disposition and his sturdy moral courage—this be-
ing expressed by his schoolmates of the Lowell High School
in a marble stone at the head of his grave. Ta no one was
his death a more serious loss than to the writer, his youndel
brother, to whom he was playmate, companion and 1est1a1n-
ing Mentor. He had just decided to accept the ploﬁexed
assistance of Rev. Thomas B. Thayer and Deacon Mead, of
the First Universalist Church in Lowell to become a minister.
He had already been to Haverhill and leained shoemaking,
and his last piece of work was a pair for the writer, finished
that day.

MarY JaxE, the seventh child and second of that’ name,
born May 24, 1823, died in February, 1842, having been an
invalid several years from the total loss of the right lung,
resulting from a fever. |

JOSEPH ALONzO, was the eighth child of the e10*ath caild
of the eighth child of RoBerT, son of EBEXEZER, the elghta
child of DUNCAN STUART, whose first child Katherine.

723~ Epwarp StrarT VARNEY is a printer; proof-reading being his specialty. He
is also afrequent writer for the local papers, and 4 promineut Good Templar.
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was born at Ipswich, June 8, 1658, Joseph A. was born at
Newtown, (now Newton,) on Deec, 6, 1825; was taken to
Lowell with the family in the spring of 1831, he being then
five years old. He attended the public schools till fifteen,
having been assured by his teacher that with three months
previous good study he could have passed a creditable ex-
amination for enfering college with his brother a few months
hefore he was fifteen; but he preferred a more adventurous
life, such as he read of in Marryat’s novels and in Cooper’s
History of the United States Navy. For an occupation he
desired exceedingly to become a carpenter and an architect,
but was considered not large or strong enough by his friend,
Mr. James H. Rand, who promised to take him after a year
or two of growth and muthematical study, He had a great
longing for open air employment, but nothing offered better
than carding waste in a woollen mill. His empty stomach
rebelled against two hours of this work before breakfast,
and he rebelled also,—deserting his card one morning after
leaving his breakfast on the road, and let himself (as he
supposed) to the Rogers brothers at their own terms. Af-
ter working him as long in the evening as he could tell the
weeds from onions, he found that, being the family milk-
man, Ben knew all about him, and that they had been trying
- to give him all he wanted of farming in one day, advising
him to go home and behave himself. A short time before
this the dispute with England had occurred about the Maine
boundary ; the prospect of a brush with that power setting
every adventurous spirit into a fever of military excite-
ment. Several youngsters, too small to be admitted to the
ranks of the new company of cadets called the National
Highlanders, determined to have a company of their ovn.—
Joseph A. took an active part in raising the ¢¢ Washington
Lancers,” and was elected ecaptain, At his ¢¢ rebellion” his
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mother and sisters were at their wits end to know what to do.
with him; the brother, however, coming home on his vaca-.
- tion, looked up chances and gave him his choice of an ap--
. prenticeship with a very severe Orthodox deacon of his aec-
qudintance, or to enter the navy as an apprentice, with the
possibillity-of ‘becomig: an-officer. He chose to enter the
navy as being more in accord with his longing for a stirring
open air life, and hesitating about accepting the confinement
of a shoeshop all-winter. " He entered.the U. S. Navy as an
apprentice ‘Aug.:20, 1841, under the impression that the
hest behaved and most intelligent of these apprentices were
in the line .of promotion to hold commissions, and, confident
that lack of intelligence would not shut him out, determined
by good conduct to win his spurs. He found to his chagrin
that the ci’nly offices to which he might aspire were petty de-
tails by commanding officers of ships, subject to their will,
and not extending beyond that ship or captain ; and further,
‘to learn from ‘his brother’s chum, Passed Midshipman G. V.
Fox, after whom he had tagged as a younger brother, that .
he might-have had his midshipman’s vacancy by waiting a
few weeks. After three years service and cruise in the Pa-
cific he went to Haverhill to learn the carpenter’s trade.—
He returned to Lowell in 1845 and worked at that trade a
while, but failed to get his pay and accepted a chance job
i a lock shop while waiting an opening in the cotton mills ;
rose to be a'¢¢ second hand” in a lower weaving room of the
Massachusetts Mills, receiving therefor the then munificent
compensation of FIVE DOLLARS A WEEK. Meantime
hie had been ‘obliged to quit on account of ill health, and he
took that time to review his English branches at the High
School, then taught a district school in Billerica one winter,.
-eturned to the Massachusetts Mills employ, and was told in.
the autumn of 1848 that he positively must quit the mill on
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seeking the advice of Dr. Kimball after a spell of overwork
while the first hand was out sick. After a spell of sickness
he taught the winter term in the old academy building, then
occupied by the town of Dracut for grammar and primary
schools, commencing with 31 scholars in the grammar de-
partment and closing with 88; brought the school, that had
carried out two ‘‘masters” the winter before, into complete
and willing subjection, although at the expense of answering
a lawyer’s threatening letter with ¢¢ be would die in jail be-
fore paying one cent.” His roll of scholars is represented
on Lowel’s list of teachers by the names of Howe, Hovey,
Dradley and others, from whom he received active support,
in unison with all the older scholars, in defending his meth-
ods of discipline, and the justice of his punishments, so that
the lawyer, a resident of the district, was glad to advise his
client to hush up and send his boy to school again and make
him behave. Joseph A. took the gold fever and crossed the -
Plains to California in ’49 ; returned in the autumn of 1851
by the Vanderbilt, or Nicaragua route, being sick with re-
mittent fever during the trip, to find on reaching home that
the girl he came 1o marry had married another man the day
he starled from San Francisco. After recovering from the
intermittent fever that followed the remittent, he started by
the Nicaragua route back to California oa Christmas day of
1851, seven weeks after his arrival home; returned in the
a tumn of 1853, taking Panama fever home with him, hav-
ing been delaved at Aspinwall by the wreck of the Georgia,
this leaving hiin pretty tboroughly wrecked in health as well
as in pocket. He had returned home this time to take em-
plovinent of his sister Rebecca, but having a relapse of his
fever was unable to command even nominal wages till the
following spring. He returned to Lowell in the summer of
1854, and worked on the Lowdl Daily Courier at setting
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type, working on that paper a year, but, not yet recovered
in health, made slow work at laying by anything ; returned
to Erie at the request of his cousin Joseph Andrew to take
charge of a new lunch room at the depot; and when by the
through time tables adopted in May 1856 the cars left Erie
three minutes before they got there, thus closing both dining
and lunch rooms, he went to Lowell for Anne J. Flanders,
with whom he had become acquainted the year before at the
debating society they both attended. They were married by
his brother at Norwich, Vt., June 3, 1856, they going to
Lrie by the way of the St Lawrence, Lake'Ontario and Ni-
agara Falls. Here he went to work in a printing office, and
when the foreman struck work, took hold of the press and
worked off the paper so satisfactorily that he was kept at it
till, finding his pay uncertain, gave notice and quit. He
then walked down to the Fair Grounds, where preparations
" were being made for the County Fair, and was given a shovel
to work with others at making a race track. Finding that
he knew what he was about, the committee man gave him
charge of the gany while he was looking after other things,
returning after a time to ask if any one knew where he could
find a sailor that could sew on canvas. He did not have to
go farther, as Joseph A. had done that for ¢ Uncle Sam,”
and mended their canvas exhibition tent roofs, then as a
carpenter, with his pickof the race track gang, set the posts,
put up the frames, stretched the roofs, and helped to get
things ready generally. When the exhibition opened they
wanted a gate tender at one of the side gates, and found to
their surprise that he was posted in wildecat and counterfeit
money ; and while tending gate gave an exhibition not on
the bills by lassoing a frantic bull that had gotten loose and
was terrorizing the ladies and some of the men. ¢¢What
can’t you do!” was the ejaculation of the committeeman, as



OUR BRANCH AXD ITS CONNECTIONS. 61

he came hurrying to the scene of the uproar. ¢ Can not get
my pay of Publisher ——!” was the rejoinder, as he threw
another noose over the bull’s horns that the animal might be
safely led to his pen. This versatility of talent, although
‘giving constant employment whenever able to work, he had
not found very remunerative ; but in this case it appeared’
to be appreciated, as he was intrusted with the work of see-
ing the grounds, that were a part of the United States fort
reservation, put into its former condition, and the canvas
and other material of the Society stored. While at work
upon the Fair grounds his old employer had been paying up
till, when he was ready to go to work upon the paper again,
he had been paid, and returned to that work in season to
set up his own name as taker of first and second premiums,
on his crayon drawings, and concluded he had made quite a
paying strike. The birth of his first child, Sidney Edwin,
born June 4, 1857, was thus recorded by the editor:—¢‘“An
auspicious event in the family of our foreman as we went to
press has delayed our issue this week.” Inability to get
“his pay compelled him to leave again, and he taught school
the next winter. In the spring of 1858 he rented his broth-
er’s farm at Norwich, Vt., and moved upon it to test his ca-
pability for farming before buying. At the end of the year
he bought the farm now owned by him in Dracut, Mass., the
entrance to which may be seen in the frontispiece as it is
now, after thirty-four years of improvements. His second
child, Josephine Bell, was born April 1, 1859, at Norwich,
Vt. the day their lease expired. They moved into their new
home when she was five weeks old. Their third child, Fred
Augustus, was born Sept. 24, 1860, at Dracut, Mass.—a
60th birthday present to his mother’s mother. Joseph A.
taught school at Pelham Center, N. H. the following winter;
his reeord of ’48-9 for bringing order out of former disorder
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inducing the committee to engage him in preference to other
applicants. Some of the ¢ big boys”. were the ‘ones to be
trained in the duty of obedience as well as taught the mys-..
teries of the ¢¢ three R’s.” Thinking that their play at.box-
ing during noon recess was intended for his especial benefit,,
he proposed that they each bring a goadstick and a piece of
sole leather the size of a shoe tap, and he would make foi’s.
and teach them the art of fencing, which might come useful
to them in case. the impending war actually occurred.. This
served his purpose admlrably ; thoseifrom whom he expected,
the trouble, if any came, received such wrist-wrenches when.
their. foils went flying out of their hands, that they soon got:
weary. of ,jche exercise—and. of boxing ‘115_0 probably from:
an impression that' the m‘tster might be. able to. use,his—ﬁs,t;sf

B AL
The breaklno out of host1ht1es m 1661 ‘md thg eonse-

quent closing of the cotton mills had a.depressing mﬁuencq
upon farmers as well as others, and only & senée of duty te:
bis family prevented his going to the front at the ﬁrst éall
to arms. The depression continuing to grow morg, serious:
he could not see his way clear to leave.his family mthout-
means of support or home, for:leaying meant a- loss of the,
home. also, till the State passed. laws: providing for seldiers’.

families, and the need for sailors became so great. thatﬁ,_;no,t,;
only the Government. offe;;réd ‘the same bounty to sailors-as,
to soldiers, but the State permitted statements to be, made;
and remain uncontradicted, that the same bounties would be,
paid to sailors on the quota of Massachusetts as to goldiers.’
The fact that the maritime State of DMassachusetts: shouid
discriminate against her seafaring sons in any bargain for
which she:received the same credit fromn the Government, is
a blot on her good name that the writer would not have be-
lieved possible bad he not been obliged to accopt “(after he
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had signed United States enlistment papers) only $100 in-
stead of the $325 that soldiers received for a term of three
years service on her quota. At that time the town bad but
ten days to fill a quota of forty-one before drafting, and at
a special town meeting to devise means to avoid a draft he
volunteered to be the first of the number needed. He.en-
tered the service August 27, 1864, for three years, and was
sent to the West Gulf Squadron in a draft of 300 men from
the Receiving Ship Ohio to repair losses in the battle of
Mobile Bay; was assigued to the Port Royal, then in com=
mand of Lt. Commander Bancroft Gherardi, now Rear Ad-
miral at the head of the U. 8. Navy, and in command at the
recent International Columbian Naval Parade in New York
Harbor. The Port Royal was lving at Mobile Bay with the
fleet under Commodore Farragut, and as the tug that had
brought them from the Recciving Ship Potcmac, stationed
at Pensacola, passed Farragut’s ship, the Hart{ford, they had
the pleasure of cheering him and his ship. The Port Royai
had station at Dog River Bar, ten miles below the city of
Mobile to prevent blockade runners coming out, lying out of
range of the rebel batteries by day, and anchoring at night
close in to a passage left at the obstructions, sending picket
boats up the passage (o give warning of any movement. A
celay in getting up anchor one morning left us just under a
battery after daylight, and while under the bow hooking the
fish-hook and the ship gathering way, the seaman saug out
¢ Shtop her! shtop her! I losht mine cap!” creating quite
a smile on board, and a very audible one shore-ward. This
ship went to New Orleans for repairs in December, and at
Christmas most of the crew were transferred to the Metia-
comet, undergoing repairs at New Orleans since the battle.
Under Commander Jouett we were stationed on the outer
blockade till the time drew near for Gen. Canby’s advance
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on Mobile. Two blockade runners, the Sea Witch and the
Lily were captured in the month of January, 1865, netting
to an ordinary seaman of her crew the sum of 71 cents, two
years afterward, although at the time of sale the Paymaster
averred there was enough to give each one a full month’s
pay. Throughout the war the ‘‘drinks” seemed to shrink
amazingly betweer the cup and lip of both soldier and sailor,
officer and man. While lying off Galveston, and as near to
the coal ship as was safe, the attempt to coal ship during a
gale resulted in little more than enough to keep steam up in
the boilers for sudden emergencies. One night at the height
of the gale, the launch was drawn alongside the collier at
midnight to take the detail, on board her, back to the ship
after relieving the watch. The rollers would lift the boat
¢ven with the main chains or deck of the ship, then, with a
sudden lunge it would be jerked forward as it fell with the
sea and tautened the rope holding it. T'o enter a boat un-
der such circumstances one must drop into the bow when at
its highest, facing aft, expecting nothing short of being un-
ceremoniously landed in the stern sheets. Coxswain Jack
Lee and the writer had hardly reached the haven in safety
when the black form of an enlisted contraband came sailing:
through the air in an approved diving attitude and ¢‘landed”
between the boat and ship. He had scarcely touched the
water before he was grasped by the two pair of hands that
had been receiving together for the past four hours the shock
of empty coal tubs swaying from the mastheads of the two
ships 1n erratic circles, and had more than once visited the
men in the hold in company with the tub. How he came
into the boat from between the fast closing boat and skip
the poor fellow had no idea, it was done s0 quickly—though
not a moment too soon. The ship finished coaling at New
Orleans and then towed a monitor to Mobile Bay. At the
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advante of Gen. Canby’s army the fleet covered the landing
at the mouth of Fish River, and shelled the woods in front
of the troops till shoal water checked their farther advance.
After this the army had to fight its way unaided till April
9th, when Spanish Fort was evacuated by the rebels. In
the meantime the boats of the fleet spent their nights at the
front in torpedo dragging and picket boat duty. In June,
after the fighting was over, Joseph A. was given charge of
the hold, with an increase of $9 a month in his wages; this
enabling him to work out of debt to the Government for his
uniform and outfit at time of enlistment and have enough to
pay his fare home from Philadelphia when furloughs were
granted on the arrival of the ship in August, 1865, after
ten days less than one year of war service. On his return
from furlough he was assigned to the Ticonderoga, bound
for the Meditterranean. While on board the Ohio he had
received an injury to his right ear that had caused him great
annoyance and pain, becoming so serious with time that he
was sent home from the Ticonderoga in November, 1866, he
being transferred to the Ino for passage home, and on his
arrival at Boston, to the Ohio and discharged for deafness,
April 2, 1867, after a Surgeon’s examination that started
the old wound to bleeding afresh. This discharge, and the
personal exertions of officers and Congressmen, procured a
pension of one dollor a month after his application had been
pending seventeen years. This, by three increases in rating,
eventually became $10. A full and illustrated account of
his roving life as boy and man in the Navy, his journal of
crossing the Plains in ’49, and life in the mines, he reserves
for another and wholly personal record of adventures.

On his return frcm the war Joseph A. paid considerable
attention each year to making improvements that, while not-
expensive, would increase in value with time. When he
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bought in 1859, the house was hidden from the road by a
dense growth of alders, and the entrance seen as now in the
frontispiece, was through a gap in a rough stone wall, with
a pole laid across for a gate. The wall and alders were re-
moved and a picket fence enclosing his wife’s flowers set in
stead, and the larches set before going to the war;. the elm
at the right, in 1868 ; that at the left by his son Sidney on
April 18, 1876, the day before reporting at West Point as
a cadet. The steel wire picket fence was set in 1889, when
ten feet in width was taken from his wife’s flower garden to
widen the Nashua Road at the establishment of the electrie
railway that runs across the south:side of his farm. At that
time he gave land for a.street one-third mile long to enable
them to reach a woodland bought of him for a pleasure park.
. In the winter of 1873-4 he taught school in his own.dis-
trict. - At that time the prominent temperance men of.the
district had been giving lectures to draw the mill hands from
a beer shop near by. One of his upon insects, illustrated
by greatly enlarged colored .drawings, with the fame of his
school brought him nete, so that he was requested to treat
on insects before his Agricultural Society’s Institute, and in:
1875 received the votes of his townsmen for selectman till
on his reaching the hall they found him averse to taking the
office. He was elected on the school committee in 1876, and
after the adoption of his proposition to increase the number
to one for each district and one at large, requiring them to
appoint a superintendent, he was elected the one at large by
unanimous votes till he positively declined to serve longer,
on account of increasing ill health. His resignation in 188!
was accepted by his fellow members with a ¢ rising vote of
thanks for his unselfish efforts to promote the welfare of
all the schools.” During the nine years they had worked
together they had succeeded in inducing the Town to build
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three new schoolbouses and to appropriate annually a sum
of money to put the others in good repair. He made the
first item report of school expenses that was pﬁuted in the
School Commitiee Reports, .and he afterward procured the
adoption of a by-law requiring such a report. Being an
aggressive temperance man he did not succeed so. well as a
selectman, the liquor men defeating him by 23 votes at the
end of the year. Ile had been elected in 1877, and had
succeeded through private subseription in closing the one
nuisance in his own district aad in procuring a vote in town
meeting makirg as a special sppropriation of money, the
license money of the previous year, to be a permanent fund
for enforcing the laws of the Commonwezalth against illegal
liquor selling and the keeping of houses of ill fame; at the
same time ¢nstructing the selectmen to prosecute upon any
:omplaint of townsmen, zccomrpanied by evidence presum-
ably suflicient to conrvict.

On March 6, 1879, the Wecet Dracut Farmers’ Club was
organized with Asa Clement gs President, Joseph A. Stuart
as Secretary, and Isasac Hill, Treasurer. The club became
very popular and a power in the vicirity from the secretary’s
reports of their discussions ss printed in the Lowcll I)a.z'l_-y
Courier and Weekly Journcl. They took up the questionable
practice of feeding the city’s garbage, called swiil, to cows
giving milk for consumption in the city; and the scathing
remarks of the secretary undoubtedly had great effect upon
the citizens in creating a public feeling thst resulted in ike
first action of the Board of Health to gather and dispose of
it themselves. It was in a paper that he rcad before the
club, also in eommunications to the Lowcll Journcl, and to
the New England Homestéad, of Springfield, Mass., at the.
request of the editor of that paper, that the milk-producers
for those cities got the suggestions inducing them to adopt
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a-co-operative system of collecting and-disposing’ of their
milk; the Springfield Assocxauon bemg succescml fl om tbe
start. ’ '

There had been coxplainis for several years from {'arious
sources among his townsmen concerning the faulty meéthod
of making Selectmen’s financial reports ; they giving no clue
to the disposition of unexpended balances of approprlatlons
of previous years, farther than oceasional mention of a pay-
ment of the debts of the town out of unexpended surplus.
Joseph A. proposed a set of amendments to the by-laws of
the town, requiring an itemized report of condition of each
appropriation, with the carrying of balances tothe next year,
and 1inal disposition of each; also the compulsory election
of an Auditor. [iis amendments were adopted at the town
meeting, against the desire of some as implying a lack of
confidence in the integrity of officials that had served thein
faithfully for years,—an integrity that no one questloned
A short time before the next annual town meeting, he was
told by the town clerk, (who had been instructed to forw ald
the amendments to the Superior Court for approval,) that
no answer had been received from that Court. He st once
wrote to the Clerk of the Superior Court, stated the case and
sent one of the printed copies of the amendments used when
voting upon their adoption, and asked immediate action, in
order that the Court’s decision might be reported at the next:
town meeting. The Town Clerk received an approval of
the by-laws, and so reported on being questioned in ‘o‘pen"
town meeting. He was ever ready to help cthers out’of a
difficulty to the extent of bis ability. At ore time he had
taken his family to the neighboring towa of Tyngsboro to
give them and himself the treat of hearing a lec ‘ure by Rev.
Selah Merrill, on Jerusalem, to be illustrated Ly stereoptic
views; Lut the lectarer failed- to keep: his ‘appointment, to
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the great disappointment of an audience filling the church.
They were bringing in an organ to sing, but learning of tte
difficulty Joseph A. offered to occupy a few minutes upon
what he saw at Jerusalem while on a visit to that place.—
The organ was not used, for the speaker’s few minutes
extended to forty-five, measurably relieving the audience of
disappointment. Such were a few of the ¢ recreations” of
his spare moments. '
His wife, Anne Janette, was a true helpmate to him;
. both help and mate. She carried on the farm in his absence
during the war, her oldest son being but seven at the time
his father entered the service. By raising strawberries for
market she was able to make her three little ones very help-
ful, even the youngest, of four years, showing good power‘
of discrimination s well as dexterity in pickirg the berries;
and their experience during those three years of helpfulness
and feeling of responsibility has tended to develop in them
characters of which any parent may be proud. Her sales
of strawberries alone amounted to more than her husband’s
whole compensation while in the service; one day’s sale in
particular, amounting to more than his three months’ wages
for night duty, wet to the waist, while dragging the channel
in front of Spanish Fort, at Mobile, where as high as thirty-
three live torpedoes were caught and ¢‘drowned” in a night.
Anne was a true lover of flowers, and her garden was the
wonder of passers upon the road, ladies frequently grasping
the driver’s arm, and with exclamations of surprise and
delight check the speed in order to take in as much as pos-
sihle. Being quite a botanist and a ranger of the woods,
she was able to show others where plants that were rare at
other localities were to be found in her vicinity, and more
than once has her husband waded into an overflowed swamp
for specimens of:Andromeda and Cassandra, or even of
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that earliest blooming plant of unpopular name 4and scent,
whese blossoms greet the "'eyé in March; an 1 several plants
of her gathering, with river or brown birches by her hus-
band, ought still to be flourishing in the grounds at Harv“ rd,
though to the credit of a teacher "of” botanyin the Lowell
High School. During the later yeals of her hfe she ‘was m
correspondence with other lovers of flowers in varlous palts
of the country, from Maine to Texas, and from Florida to
~ Oregon and Washing ton. She was oné of the best of nurses
in cases of sickness, and from quite an extensive course of
reading in her brother’s books, left with her while an' army
surgeon during the war, she had the counfideuce of not only
the people of Ler neighborhcod, but physicians felt satisfied
that when a call from her vicinity was made upon them it
was for no frivolous cause; and when the services of an
undertaker were needed he knew that everything would go
smoothly in the house if she had charge. Neither was she
without power as a comforter to the bereaved, and a help to
those leaving us.

Anne Janette was also desceaded from a Revolutlonaxv
veteran,—Levi Flanders, of Danbury, N. H., whé marued
Mary Sargent, of Sandown, N. H. Hedied a revolutionary
pensioner in 1837, and was buried in a family lot upon the
old homestead. Anne’s father, Enos, was tlie ‘third child
of Levi, oldest son of Levi Flanders. Enos married Almira
Cole, who was born Sept. 24, 1800. He died a few months
after marriage, and before Anne’s birth, which was on Dee.
30, 1830.  Almira very soon after married Josiah Norris, a
widower, whose former wife was aunt to Enos, and Anne
orew up in sisterly affection with the daughter, Mary Ann,
but four years older than herself. The family lot ceased to
be cared for after the farm was sold, except by a fence that
the two step-sisters caused to be built around it before they
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were married, and in after years they bought a lot in the new
cemetery in Danbury and had the family remains removed to
it and a bandsome monument erected. Levi Flanders lived
first at Newbury, Mass. He had a sister Almro, who mar-
ried a Tuksbury, of Amesbury, and a brother David, of
Kingston. (See Appendix H, p. 167) The wife died at 98
years, in 1848, at Monson, Me. Below is a tabular record of
DESCFNDANTS OF LEVI, 5TH GENERATION FROM STEPHEN FLANDERS.

6th G'n'ration. | 7th Generation. | 8th Generation. | 9th Generation. | l0thG’n'ration.

Levi Flanders. ]l Samuel, d. inf.

Married Dolly 2

. David.

two daughters.

Pillsbury, of | md in Maine.

3. Samuel. md. | 1. Naney, md. 1. Fidelia Jane. |1. Ada Grace.
Danbury. N.H. Lydia Kinsman. | Lowell Roby, md. John W San- 2. Norman W.
He wasthe first . Hebron born. 3. Kate Leona.
son of Levi, the 2, Margaret Ann, 1 George V.
tevolutionary | md. fo. Maderson R.
Veteran, who g Geo. E. Loring.
died at Danbu- | : 3. Willis Scott,

: ‘ md. A. Lizzie

ry in 1837.

i
1
i
|

‘4. Enos, md.

Almira Cole.

5. Levi Eastman,

md Saunebster, md.
6 —Record lost.

7. Maria Jane.
md John French, |
Jrange. |

md. Charles
Knowlton.

¢
'

8. Sarah Abbott,

1. Anne Janette,
;md. J. A. Stuart.,
l

Wright
4, Charles Nason

5. Lunette Kinn
6. Oscar Samuel.

7. Sarah Emma,

1. Sidney Edwin,
'md. Florence

Lowell 1 Livingston.

f
!
|
. 1. John Pegcock, .

| aria Bullock.
‘1 Sarah Maria.

2. Josephine Bell

S.Fred Au“ustus
‘ md
‘il\'lary E. McKay.
:1. Christopher.
{ '2, Ina or lnez.

!1 Abbie Maria.

‘m.ElishaBullock 2. Georgia Anna.

2, Clara Adell.
md Wm. S. Huse. |

1. Franeis, md.

2. Amarette E,
md.
Geo. A. Waldrou

] 1. Luella May.
2. Livie Adell.

4, Gertrude Jenn
FA family.

2. Charles Levi.
3. Sadie Lavinda.
4. Willie Harry.
45, George A.

md. Eugene C. D'

8. Geo. Douglass, |
md. Bertha Saun

eston.

raper.

ders.

1. Ruth.
2. LaRhett Livy-

ingston.
3. Sidney E. Jr.

1 Ray
. Archer Bell.

i
|
|
!
I
!
|

i

3. Victor Erench.

‘e,

|

1. Linda Jennie.

!

|
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DESCENDANTS OF LEV], 5TH GENERATION FROM STEPHEN FLANDERS.

6th G'n’ration. | Tth Geueration. | 8th Generation. | 9th Generation. | 10thG'n'ration

Levi Flanders.'9. James M., md. | 1.Julia,md.in Me.

South. Died be-'o Helen. md.
fore the war.

and
Dolly Pillsbury
Continued..

2. Enos, md. 2t
1st wife, Pheebe
Jadkins, of
Billerica.

2nd wf, Miriam
Clark,Danb’ry.

3. Caleb, md.
1st. Mehitable
Searle.

10. Betsey P.,md.
Harrison Cole.
Lived in Maine.

1. Phenuel. md.
Carasline ~——.

2. Almira, md. a
Woodward.

5. Betsey, md.
Thos. Saunders,
of Lowell.

6. Pheebe. md.
7. Ansell, md.
8. Laura, md.
Chris. Mayer.

3. Benjamin, md.
4. John Lovering

Dr. J. Daniels, of
Savannah, Ga.
3. Laura, dyoung

1. Arobine Melis-
sa, nd. Benjamin
Hunter.

2. Geo. Lincoln,
md. Alida —.

1. Frank Lester.
2. Anna Bell.
3. Lottie Ellen.

1. Inf. dau. died.
2. Winifred.
3. Theresia.

9. Enos d. unmd.
10. Charles, d. **
11. George.a mer-
chaat, Chicago.

1. William, md.
Mary Searle,
lived at Lowell.

2. Lorenzo. md.
Kath. Witham.
lived 11l both d.

3. John Milton.
md. Maty Brown
2d, Mary Brown.

4. Daniel, md.
Lovicie Beane.

3. Mahala, md —

6. Dorothy, md.:
1,Dr.ChasBarker!
2,Chris. Flanders

7. Hiram, Capt.
G. A. R. wounded,
md. and lives at

1. Adelaide, md.
Edward Saund'rs
2. Grace, md. d.
3. William, md.

2 sons, 1 dau.

3.ElizabethP.md. |1, Mabel L.
Reub’'nM.Stev'ns {2, Waldo B.
1. Ason. W'n.N.Y. | A family.
2. Harriet,d.unm
3. George, md. d. { A son.
Left ason.
No children.
1. Edward, md. |1. Addie.
Adelaidelland'rs | =
2 Fanny,md. Lt. {1 Grace.
John Howard,
G. A. . d. of wd
1. Addie.

3 sons, all dead.

No children.
1. Heury.

A dau. lives near
Franklin, N. L

e

Nashua, Florida. .
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DESCENDANTS OF LEVI, 5TH GENERATION FROM STEPHEN FLANDERS.

6th G'n'ration. | 7th Generation. | 8th Generation. | 9th Generation. | 10thG'n'ration.

Colby. died.
5. Betsey,md. a
Perkins in Me.

6. Hannah,md. | 1. Kinsman. md.| 2 children.

ﬁ%%*;e;inmlog;ﬁ_ 2. Mary Jane.md.| 6 children.

son. Me.. 1842 John Weeks.

3. Alvin, md. 1. Charles.
1st wife, Phaebe
2nd wife, Susan.| 4 children.

4. Hapnah, md. | 1. Alvah.
Joseph Dane. 2. Carrie.
5. Dolly, d. young

1. Polly, md. | j, Samuel, died.
Lussell Ray. |2 Malvina, md. |l Alma, md. 4. children.
a Philbrick. George Foote.

3. Caroline, md.| 3 children.
a Huse, of Boston
4. Arvilla, died.
5. Nancy, died.
6. Alfred, md. in
Manchester,N.H.

8. Nancy. md. jl. Mary Ann, md.! 1. A son, died.
Josiah Norris. | Sam’l Macember.! 2. Annie G., md. | 1. Victor.
d. July 17. 1893. | Chas. H. Cutter. 2 Edna.

3. Esther.

3. Caleb, md. | 1. Samuel. md. | A dau., teacher, €3 YELHZ
2d wife, Naney | Marcia —, Farmington. = = ? % = g
“Avery. , Zzode
3rd wife, Sarah | 1. Frank, md. —. s&z z8
Avery. - 1 2. Charles. ¢ 1°_ 8
3. Nancy, md. Mr.| I.RevCharles.md m o o=
Spear, Danbury.! 2. Sadie. Fog sl
4. George. 3. John Emmons fre g
5. Sarah Frances ZES
4. Jane. md.a | 1 daughter. = = 5
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‘Through her mother Anne Janette was descended from
Nathan Cole, born at Boxford, Masss., of the fifth geperation
from Thomas Cole, the first of the name in America. Her
mother was also descended from Capt. James Gregg, and
John Moor, son of the John Moor massacred at Glencoe,
Scotland, on Feb. 13, 1692. Both Moor and Gregg were of
the first settlers of Londonderry, N. H. (See Appendix H,
pages 170-4.) Nathan Cole married Molly Flint, of Read-
ing, Mass. They lived first at Amherst, N. H., from Am-
herst they movcd to Antrim, N. H., and afterward removed
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to Hill, N. H., then to Danbury, N. H., where he died at
80 years of age. They had nine children:—

1. PorLy, married John Smith, of Nottingham West, now
Hudson, N. H. They had four children :—Lydia, Mahala,
Polly, and John. By her second husband, James Barrett,
she had :-James, Jotham, Sheppard, Belinda and Harriet.—
She was born about the time of the Revolution, and died at
90, during the Rebellion. A granddaughter, Lucy, Mrs. Pe-
ter S. Coburn, of Dracut, now of Lowell, has three daugh-
ters :—Marzette, Mrs. Coburn; Floreuce, Mrs. Marshall;
and Jennie, Mrs. Richardson.

2. Joux, married Janette Gregg, of Antrim. They had ;
Almira, born Sept. 24, 1800 ; married Enos Flanders, and
“had Anne Janette, born Dec. 30, 1830, who married’J. A.
Stuart. Enos died before Anne’s birth, and Almira married
Josiah Norris, and had Alonzo S., Co. E. 16th Mass ; Nancy
M.; LouisE., M.D., Surg. 2nd Me. Cav. ; James F., 2nd 111,
Inf.,Rev.and Missionary to Burmah ; and Jennie A., teacher,
All married and have families but Jennie, the wife of William
Hughes, a lawyer and rancher of Auburn, Cal. Almira is
still living, (March, 1894) being with her eldestliving daugh-
ter, Nancy, Mrs. Frank Hart, of Willemantic, Me. She had
been living with her oldest daughter, Anne J. for the fifteen
years previous to that daughter’s death in 1890, and the
consequent breaking up of Lousekeeping at Dracut.

John Cole’s second child was named Samuel Gregg. He
was a carpeuter, an exact workman; went to Lowell at its
first starting, and was employed on theinterior finish of many
public Luildings. IIe married Mary Bannister, of Shrews-
bury, Mass., to which place they removed during the war,
His wife became a paralytic and died after years of lingering
helplessness. Meanwhile, their adopted daughter, Emma,
essisted greatly in housekeeping. After Mary’s death he
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removed to Worcester and entered the employ of the Wash-
burn Moen Cec. at their wire works, and remained in their
employ until his death at the age of £0. Emma mairied
first, (George Newton, of Shrewsbury ard had a son, Bertie ;
second, after both George and her father had been dead some
years, she mairied Joseph Stiles, a foreman ia the Houston
Electric Works at Lynn, Mass. They have no children.

JoHN CoLE married Surah Smith for second wife and had
cight children :—dJanette, Tirzah, Sally, Maria, John, Mary,
Betsey and Nathan. He died in Hill, aged 84.

3. Nataax, married Mary Ann Nizhols, of Antrim, N.
II. They moved to Chio, and had three children, named :—
Frederick, Alonzo and Thomas.

4. BeTsEY, married John Wadleigh, of Hil'. They had
five children :—John, Acszh, Mary, Lovey and Levi. Of
these Acsah married a man named Hersey, who placed their
son Joseph with the Shakers and left for parts unknown.
Joseph became the head of the Lebanon family, and then
left the order to perform a son’s duty to his aging mother.
He traced his father t> his hermitage in the wilds of Michi-
gan and then returned to his mother and made a home for
het and himself.- Acsah dizd in the winter of 1892,

Levi, the youngest of Betsey’s children, married twice.
The first wife had four children :—Elizabeth, Frances, Levi
and a son whose name my infoimant could not recall. He
settled in business at Haverhill, Mass., and became quite
prosperous. The:mother, Betsey, was 80 at her death.

5. Lgevi, married Polly Philbrick, of Andover, N. H.—
He lived for a time at Danbury, was withott children, and
died at Andover, N. H.

6. WiiLis, married Sarzh Bixby, of Hillsboro, N. H.
Lived in Andover, N. H., and had four children :~Maudana,
Harvey, Martha and Ransom. He moved to Illinois and
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died at an advanced age. We have no farther vecord of
him or of any of his family.

7. JepeEpian Ririerzusa, married Pamelia Chase, ot
Salsbury, N. H. He had four children :;Cfllarles, Cyrus,
Martha and Mary Aon. He died at Hillsboro, in 1860.

8. Susaxxa, married William Winter, Danbury, N. 1.
She was the one to bave ¢ ber mother’s number” of children,—
nine :—Frederick, Miles, William, Hannah, Ariel, Luey,
Nathan, Benjamin and Susanua. She died at 44 years.

9. Luoy Frixt, married, first, Capt. Samuel }"i!lsbury, of
Danbury. They removed to Monson, Me., in 1837. She
married, second, a Mr Roach, of Abbot, Me. She had no
children, and died in Parkman, Me., aged 88.

Returning to Apne Janette Flanders, the wife of Joseph
A. Stuart, we have to add that during the last eighteen
months of her life she bore up bravely under a painfal her-
editary disease that, first manifesting itself after exposure
and a fever when eight years old, ever afterward gave her
frequent nights and days of pain and lameress, causing her
2t one time to write these lines:

TO PAIN.

Ah, wherefore is thy ministry, O, Pain!

Stera Daughter of AfRliction, dost thou come

To teach us that this earth is not our homs,

And force us to forsake the trifles vain

Which seek the deathless spirit to enchain

To its dull earth, and midst its poison flowers

Forget its glorious and immoital powers, '

That unto joys celestial might attain?

©h, darkly sorrowful and stern, thou art!

Unbidden Guest! But if thy mission be

Thus holy :—wclcome, welcome unto me

Tay frequent visits and thy sharpest dart ;

So that thou 2aid my struggling soul to gain

That glorious clime whore all are free from pain.
August 29, [835.

"W
L

ped

w lines were fornion a stray page of a book of poeius

rede

written by her before ber marriage to beguile the long hours

%
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of night when-sleep was impossible. Among the few leaves
not destroyed by her, I find a leaf written while mourning
the disapperance of her first love, on his way north for their
marriage, under circumstasces indicating foul play ; the lines
being sugges‘ted by those of Mrs. Hemans on Love:—

« What hath it been to thee,—
That Power ; the dweller in thy secret hreast?”

A sourece of woe and sadness to my heart.

An ever flowing fount of bitter tears;

A swift awakener of darkening fears;

A troubled spirit that will ne’er depart;—

Thus hast thou been, O. Love, and thus thou art!
All unrequited t>ough thy gifts may be.

Not all of sorrow hast thou wrought for me :

For thou hast wakened in my troubled soul

High aspirations for that better life

That, free from pain and earthly strife,

Awaits the spirit that has wou its goal.

Thou bringest me yearnings for that home above,
Where He abides whose sweetest name is « Love.”

. The following lizes upon the other side were written two
weeks later.

MEMORY.

Of all the guests that wander to and fro
Within the silent chambers of the heart,
And in its feasts and vigils bear a part,

None goeth with so sad a step and slow

As Memory, ~Neither do any biring

Gifts like to hers; for in her silent train
Come youth's bright dreams and golden hopes agaiu,
And al' the joys that time with rapid wing *
Hath buried in the shadows of the past,

And all the tears that fell so thick and fast
As these bright visions faded one by one,

Till all the teautiful and glad are gone.

And ever in the heart her silent tread
Wakes mournful echioes of the lost and cead.

Most of her verses were written while editing a paper to
be read at the weekly meetings of a debating society, called
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the Washington Athenzum, at Lowell, Mass., and the writer
is not sure but that the writings attracted him to the person
of the editor, inasmuch as the general tone of even the light
ones given to the society touched an answering chord in his
own life-song.

-+A LITTLE WHILE.”

A little while amid life’s bowers
With happy fect we stray;
A little while we cull the flowers
That blossom on our way;
And then upon her flowery breast
Earth takes her children home to rest.

A littls while we list th2 notes
Of all the summer birds;
And sweeter music round us fioats
Of softly murmured words ;
Then from thos+ tones so sweet, so blest,
Earth takes her children to her breast.

A little while where soul with sonl
In sweet communion blends,
We travel onward to the goal
With dear. familiar friends ;
Then kindred heéarts in quiet rest
Earth takes to slumber on her breast.

A little while w2 weave brizht dreams,
Then weep to see them fade;
With troubled eyes we w.t:h the brams
That coming night must shade;

And then upon her changeless hreast

Earth takes her sorrowing ones to rast.

oA little while we wander on
With weary, faltering tread
Till all life's brightest jovs arc go :e,
And hope’s sweet Howerats dead;
And then upon her peaccful breast
Barth takes her weary ones to rast.

[ler children had always wanted to preserve her verses in

print, they being somewhat in the form of a diary of hor
reelings at the time each was written, with dates appemnded ;
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tut curirg tke lzst mcnibs before her Ceath she desiroyed
=il except a very few. Those remaining are so few that !
will give them bere as the most available metkod :

TO MY MOTHER.

Far from the love that blest my childhood’s day
I dwell with otherfriends in other hcines;

But ever to my secret soul there comes

The memory of the loving smile that lay
Around my childhood like a morning ray

Of the bright sunshine ; and my mother’s eye
Leams softly throvgh the shades and mists that lie
Dark lowering o’er my tcilsome way.

Blessings be «n thee, mother; may thy strenuth
Be as thy day; and may the cheering light

Of Gou’s own love be round thee, till at length
Thou go to cwe 1 with Him in mansions bright;
Ard may 1 Live ¢n earth as to_prepare

To swell with theec the song of victery there.

TO MY FATHER.

My father. 'i‘hough thine eyes were closed in sleep,
The long and dreamle-s, e’er my own could trage
The form or lineaments of thy face;

Or e’er my heart had known to yearn and weep
That the lost sun-hine of thy loving smile

Did uwe’er my childhood’s cares and woes beguile,—
Yet in my heart a fount whose waters leap

Forth at thy name doth ever flow and keep

The tendrils fresh and green that spring for thee.

1 know that from thy blissful home in heaven

Thou comest with loving eyes to watch 0 e me;
And many an carnest to my soul is given

Of that glad hour when my immoaital sight

Shall greet thee in th:: realms of cloudless light.

There is one other that I will give,—one that was always

3

1 {averite with Ler, cxd altbough ome of the first of ber
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writings in verse, the thought expressed of a far better and
brighter life in store for her was ever a consolation to her,
even to the end. -

EARTH AND HEAVEN.

A land of fading flowers,

Of sorrow and of gloom;
Where o'er the sunniest hours
Fall shadows of the tomb;
Where e’en th: brightest ray
Of hope is quickly fled;

And o’er the thorny way

With weary feet we .t,rea.d.“
Where dearest ones must part;
Where sighs of anguish swell
From many a breaking heart,
Is the land where now I dwell

A land of deathless flowers
That bright, unfading, bloom

In amaranthine bowers,

Where falls no shade of glvom;
Where rest the weary feet;
Where all are free from pain;
Where friends long parted meet
And never part again;

Where tear drops leave no sta'ns;
Where living waters flow

O'er all the verdant plains,

Is the land to which I go.

The prevailing epidemic, ¢¢the grip,” attacked her very
soon after her 59th birthday, causing increased suffering,
attended by frequent heart-spasms that, though relieved by
inbaling fumes of menthol spirits upon hot water, destroved
3il'kope of final recovery, and the last words written by hef
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in her diary on February 2nd, were :—¢¢ It is useless trying
to disguise the fact that the end draws nigh.” She died on
May 14, 1890. -

Of the children of Joseph A. and Anne J., the first, Sid-
ney Edwin was born June 4, 1857, at Erie, Pa., and was
taken When nine months old to Norwich, Vi. upon a farm,
and from thence the next vear to the new home in Dracut,
Mass. When he was but seven years old his father entered
the naval service to help suppress the rebellion, and Sidney
took care of the stock and at once learned to milk, attena-
ing school during the winter months, his services being in
demand during the summer to care for the strawberry and
other crops, upon which his mother dcperded for the sup-
port of the family, the father’s pay in the service but little
more than repaying the Government its charge for the shod-
dy uniform furnished. Sidney kept up with his classes, and
even distanced those of bis age by systematic study at home.
From his mother he :lso ‘slscrbed’ quite a knowledge of
botany, and on his own account took up the study of énte-
mology, enthusing his fatner so that they succeeded in col-
lecting specimens of some hundreds of species, mostly from
tke farm, making a study of their habits for practical use in
reducing the ravages of injurious ones, end protecting those
that preyed upon them. His collection twice took first pre-
mium at the New England Fairs. After leaving the district
- school he used to walk four-and-a-half miles to attend the
Lowell High School, paying tuition therefor. One morning
lie found his schcolrocm cccupicd by a crowd of young men
{aking a competitive examination as candidates for an ap-
pointment at ‘West Point by Hon. John K. Tarbox, M. C.
His teacher advised and insisted upon his going in to try
for it notwithstanding he Lhad not reviewed for the occasion.
The selection lay for some time between a Lowell boy and
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Sidney, till. his teacher, in turning over some papers iu. his
desk while Mr Tarbox was consulting records to  make’ his
decision, found the plan of a cabinet of cases presented by
Sidney to the attention of the school committee, offering. to
fill- them with specimens of our common and other insects,
with classified names and habits printed by himself gpon the
card on which each specimen was pinned, in payment for his
tuition for'a term of fourteen weeks.. The attention of Mr.
"Tarbox being cslled to this, he looked no more at the sehool
records, and thoagh he would have preferred to give the ap-
pointment to tae soa of on2 of his own politiéal faith, he
afterward said he thought a boy already so interested in
scientific study as to be competent and willing to make such
an offer to obtain an education, deserved assistance and that
he would undoubtedly be a credit to his appointor andhis
district. ~ Sidney taught school at the ‘Navy’ district in
his own town the winter before entering West Point. He
was ordered to report at West Point April 19, 1876, it being
the Centennial year and the Government, intending to have
the corps of cadets spend their encampment at the World’s
:Fair held that year at Philadelphia, wanted to drill them be-
fore sending them. At his studies ke gained standing grad-
ually at first, sooa advancing to be a member of the iirst
section and graduated third in his class, being first in chem-
istry. This gave him the right to have his name entered on
the Army Register for that year as a *‘distinguished cadet.”
'There being but two vacancies t> be filled in the Enxineer

sorps of the Army, he chose, by his customary rizht as the
next highest in class merit to enter the First Artillery, then
stationed at Fort Adams, in Newport Harbor. Iis regi-
ment was soon after transferred to the Pacific coast and his
battery stationed at the Presidio. While there he was se-
lected to take the advanced cours? of two years study at the
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Artillery. School at Ft. Monroe. At his graduation from the
Artillery School he was detailed to West Point as Assistant
to the Professor of Philosophy. While upon this duty a
vacancy occurred in the Ordnance Corps, and after a com-
petitive examination he was selected'to” fill the vacancy, his
{(‘ommigsion in the Ordnance being dated Aug. 6, 1885.—
At the end of his four years’ detail at West Point he was
ordered as Assistant Inspector of Steel at Midvale Steel
Works, Germantown, Pa. He was afterwards transferred
to the South Bethlehem Iron Works, at South Bethlehem, .
Pa., where that firm was making gun-forgings for the army.
In 1892, he wrote an essay on *‘The Army Orgamzation
Jest Adapted to a Republican Form of Government, that
will Ensure An Effective Force.” 'He captured the Life
Membership offered by the Journal of the Military Service
Institu'ion of the United States, together with their large
GOLD MEDAL

. SIDNEY E. STUART,
1st Lieut. Ord. Dept, U. S. A.
For Essay on

The Army Organization

the obverse side of which is represented here. He was soon ’
after requested by Senator Proctor, of Vermont, (late the
Secretary of War,) to embody his scheme in a bill for that



84 THE STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA. -

senator to introduce in the senate for discussion towards its
adoption in the proposed re-organization of the army. The
plan proposed an addition of two other elasses to the present
regular forces; the regulars, forming a ¢ nucleal” class of
continnous service men, to be distributed, with the present
regular officers of each regiment for brigade and iegimental
officers, as nuclei of trataing companies, which are then fillea
with a ¢ training ® class, enhsted, kept reeruited and trained
by and at the expense of the United States Governmeut,
without withdrawing them materially from their ordinary
occapations. From this elass, after two yearsof training, a
third, or ‘‘reserve” class to be enlisted, in spzcified districts
much as the State militia now i3, but with officers of its own
only as high as lieutenants, required to meet the others for
drill only enough to maintain efficiency and ‘‘to keep touch”
with the other classes, till a declaration of wur, —of itself
to be an arder for mobilization,—abolishes all distiaction of
classes, every man having his place, and each officer knowinz
his men, they would be ready for instant effective action.

In Mareh 1893 he was requested by the Chairman of the
Division of Military Engineering of the International Con-
gress of Engineers of World’s Fair Congress Auxiliary, to
submit a paper on *-The Manufactura of Steel for Ordnance
Purposes.” He complied, with result andetermined.

On Sept. 26, 1888, he married Frorexce Livivgsioy, a
descendant of JOHN LIVINGSTON, a Scotch-1rish Presby-
terian. Iie came over with his fanily from Ballybay, Ire-
land, in 1764, and settled on virgin land in West Hebron,
N. Y., where he lived till his death in 1788. His children
were :—John, I'rancis, Robert, Joseph, Benjamin, Willian,
Samuel and Mary.

Dr. WirLiaxm Livixestox, born Feb. 15, 1768, was a
physician. Was Surgeow’s Mate in the war of 1812 set- .
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‘tled in Lewis, Essex Co., N.Y.,in I817; died théré in 1860‘.
He married in 1790, Sarah Tracy, daughter of Theopliilus
Tracy, of Granville, Washingten Co., N. Y., who died in
1828. They had ten children :—an unnamed girl, Anna, an
unramed son, John J., William Tracy, Jamcs Gray, Jane
Agnes, Sarah Gifford, Wealthy Maria and Robert Wilsou.
- James Gray Livixestox, born in 1802, was a farmer ini
Lewis. He married in 1322, Rosetta Woodruff, daughter
of Roger Fooker and Sally Russell Woodruff, born in 1803,
died at Lewis in 1872. They bad :—William Tracy, Emily
Amenda, LaRle!t Lcralzo, a girl urnamed, and another
daughter unnamed. He was a zealous abolitionist, an active
member of the ¢* Underground Railroad to Canada,” and a
prominent Deacon of the Congregational Church. He died’
at Lewis in 1889, at the age of 87.

Con. LaRnErr LorarLzo LivixestoN, U. S. A., born in
Lewis in 1831, went to West Point in 1849, graduated in
1853, rose through all the grades in the artillery to colonel.
Servad through the Civil War, Was twice brevetted :—*¢ To
Major, July 1, 1862, for gallant and meritorious services in
tie batt'e of Malvern Hill, Virginia;” ¢to Lieut. Colonel,
Aug. 23, 1864, for gallant and meritorious services in the
battle of Smithfield, Virginia.” In 1856 he married Mary,
davgh'er of Dr. Joscph Fatcn, U. S. A. :nd Scrah Smith.
Their children are:—FrLorexcE, Mary Eaton, {(died in
1864,) Laura and Gertrude.

Mary Eaton is descended from Jonas and Grace Eaton,
who came over in 1635 or 6; was in Reading, Mass. 1644,
when incorporated, and was a Selectman. His son,—

tox. Josnua EaTon, was Representative to General Court.
Ife married Rebecea, daughter of Deacon Thomas Kendall,
of Reading. They had a son,—

CarT. Tucmas, who married Lydia Pierce, a daughter of
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Benjamin Pierce ,of Watertown, Mass., and their son,—

Lievr. JoNaTHAN, married Mary Damon, daugbter of
Joseph and Mary Damon, of Reading. A son,—

Epxunp, married Sarah Brown, daughter of Deacon Ben-
jamin and Sarah Brown, of Reading, and their son,—

Dr. Josepa Earox U. S. Army, was the father of Mary,
wife of Col. Livingston, and the mother of Florence, wife of
Lt. Sidney E. Stuart. Sidney E. and Florence at present
have three children :—Ruth, born at Germantown, Feb. 3,
1890 ; LaRhett Livingston, born at South Bethlehem, Jan.
17,1892 ; and Sidney Edwin, jr., born at South Bethlehem,
Ang. 18, 1893. - ,

JOSEPHINE BeLL STUART, the second child of Joseph A.
and Anne J. Stuart, was born April 1, 1859, at Norwich,
Vt. Her parents took possession of their new home in Dra
cut May 5, the day she was five weeks old. She attended
the graded schools of the district tiil fourteen years old, and
then continued her studies at home. During this period, by
raising strawberries, the three children earned the money to
purchase an organ at a cost of $150; her share of the work
being to help pick and to prepare them for market. They
placed in each box a card with the growers’ names and their
warrant to the date of picking printed therson. As a result
of the warrant and honest packing their barries founl cus-
tomers waiting for their arrival. This lesson in self depend-
ance, and the manifest benefit and satisfaction to all by this
square dealing in their youth has never been forgotten by
them ; a lesson that all parents might well teach. DBell, (as
we always called her,) entered the State Normal School at
Salem, graduating in 1878, and taught school in her own
town eight years, most of the time in her own district.—
In 1886 she accepted an offer to establish a training school
for teachers for Pawtucket, R. I. In 1887 she established
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one for Portsmouth, N. H. New Bedford, Mass. secured
her services to establish her training school in 1889 in her
new Harrington scheolhouse Here she had charge of eight
graded 1ooms for children, two being grammar grades, and
cne room for from twenty-five to thirty pupil teachers. As
she had but one assistant, overwork compelled her to accept
a two months’ leave of absence for medical treatment in
Florida in the winter of 1891-92, and a course of medical
treatment during ber vacation the next summer. In 1393
she was offered 1600 a year to establish a Training De-
partment in Rhode Island’s State Normal school at Provi-
dence, but having already sccepted an increase of salary at
New Bedford, wih ¢n inerease of assistants, she declined.
FrRED ActGustes, the third child of Joseph A. and Anne
J. Stuart, was born at Dracut, Mass., Scpt. 24, 1860. He
early exhibited more mechanical inclination than the others,
by making wagons, sleds and the many playthings coveted
by boys, later, by squirrel cages for himself and bird cages
for his mother’s many pets. Although standing well with
classmites somewhat older than himself, he did not have the
thirst of the student manifested by his brother and sister.—
His touch upon the organ made it speak in finer tones than
theirs from tke first, though giving far less time to practice.
At ten, he started with his brother as an amateur printer;
they to do the minister’s printing for the use of his press
and office ontfit. At twelve be was made happy by a new
self-inkirg press and stock of type, being known to run a-
mile-and-a-quarter home from school at noon to fill an order
for a pack of cards trought in by a schoolmate. After he
was sixteen he werked considerably for the neighbors; was
in gcod derrand and self-supperting. At twenty he engaged
to cssist in collecting ard distributing milk to customers in
Lowell. 1n ke sprirg of 1882 ke tought a milk route and
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econducted it for himself three years, when serious ill health
caused by excessive work and exposure to that hard winter’s
storms compelled him to seek a better climate. Work in a
printing office at Auburn, Cal. was secured for him there by
an aunt, and be speedily sent on his savings to settle unpaid
accounts incident to losses usunally resulting from a sudden
stoppage of business. On May 25, 1887 he married Mary
_ Elizabeth McKay, an Auburn teacher, born in San Francisco,
Cal., Aug. 2, 1861, daughter of Burton McKay, architect
and builder. Late in 1888 Fred A. built a small cottage in
Auburn, moving in just before Christmas. In April, 1890
he left California in order to reach home with his family to
see his mother before she died, and to care for his father,
then greatly debilitated by sole care of his wife in addition to
the house and farm work. They arrived four weeks before
the mother’s death, enabling her to see her first grandchild,
Ray, born at Auburn, Feb. 16, 1838. Their second child.
Archer Bell, was born at Dracut, Mass., Feb. 16, 1891.—
Two very unfavorable years for farmers ia that locality suc-
ceeded, and receiving assurances of employment at former
terms from Auburn, it was decided to return to California
in November, 1891, the father intending to follow- after he
settled certain business. The father arrived a year later, to
find them planning with contractors for a new house upon a
very desirable lot, from which could be seen the valley and
river Sacramento on the one side, and on the other the caps
of Nevada’s snowy ridges, with the overland railway track
in sight or its sinuous course marked by smoke-lines for
miles from the southwest to nearly north, while the city lay
nestled in the depths of Auburn Ravine or in full view upon
the slopes of the hills whose feet unite to form Auburn’s
bowl-like valley. The first of August, 1893, found them
gettled in their new home, with water at a turn of the wrist
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for bousehold or irrigating purposes, fruit trees growing,
1ejoicirg in vegetables from their own grounds, inhaling air
measGra bly ccoled by fresh breezes—not feltl by denizeus of
lower altitudes,—znd with an assurance that the valley fogs
of winter will rarely reach the ridge of College Heights.—
Yuch fogs sometimes fird their way partly up the ravines on
either side, and cause Saeramento Valley to sppear under
the sun’s rays from their point of view, as if it were a great
sea of muddy water, extendirg from opposite Colusa on the
north, rearly to Sacramento on the south, with the Coast
Range for its western skore, while its castern bank lies just
at their feet. B

Of the ancestors of Mary E. McKay, wife of Fred A..
Stuart, we have the following account contributed by her,
beginning with her mother’s, the Harris family, they being
the earlier immigrants to this country :—

¢“The Harrises were of the Scotch-Irish race, their ances-
tors, EDWARD HARRIS and FLORA DOUGLAS having
left Ayrshire in Scot'and in the reign of Charles II, losing
a fine estate for their attachment to Presbyterian worship.
‘They settled near Raphoe, in the county of Donegal, Ire-
lacd. Their children were :—Edward, Rolert and James.

Of Edward we know notling, but suppose him to be one
of the +* Harris brothers” who, according to family tradition,
came to America with Penn’s Company, and of whom we
know Robert to be one.

RoBerT married Dorothy Wiley and they bad :—1. John;
2. William ; 3. James; 4. Margaret; 5. Samuel; 6. Thom-
as; 7. Robert; 8. Charles.

James married Mary Simpson and bad:—1. William;
2, Ann; 3. James; 4. John. This Jchn married first,
Jean Poer; second, Jean Harris. He was a prominent
man during the American Revolution. He laid out the town
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of Mifflin, Pennsylvania, and is buried there. Ho2 always
called John Harris, the founder of Harrisburg, *‘my cousin.”*’

THOMAS, son of Robert, and grandson of EDWARD and
FLORA, was born in 1695. He married Mary McKinney,
but we know nothing of his early life except this fact and
that they certainly bad three sons. At the age of seventy
we find he was a resident of Baltimore county, Maryland.
The eldest son was Robert, who was described in 1765 as
““ Doctor of Medicine, Philadelphia.” Matthew was the
second, and John the youngest, and these are all of whom
we have any record. ' . :

Thomas and his son Robert were members of the ¢*Phila-
-delphia Company > to whom on Oct. 31, 1765, the British
Government gave a large tract of land in Nova Scotia.

Thomas and his son Robert, with five other members of
the company, on the 5th of May 1767, executed a power of
attorney to Dr. John Harris, of Baltimore county, Maryland,
making him their agent. ZThomas died at Elizabethtown,
Lancaster county, Penn. on Dec. 4, 1801, aged 106 years,
and having seen threc centuries. '

Of Robert we have no record exeept the foregoing men-
tion, and a letter written by him at Philadelphia, July 14.
1773, to his bretaer John who was then in Pictoa.

Matthew was born Jan. 12, 1735, and died Dec. 9, 1829,
at Pictou, whither he had removed in 1769. His wife’s
name was Sutia.(?) Of their sons, the eldest, Thomas,
was a surveyor, and was for twenty years Sheriff of Pictou;
he was the father of Sutia Harris Robinson, mother of the
late Thomas Robinson, artist, of Providence, R. I. A sec-
ond son died unmarried ; a third was lost at sea going from .
Halifax to Pictou; a fourth, Robert, studied medicine and
lived on his father’s place, but afterward removed to Phila-
delphia, where he died; a fifth, James, settled in Nova
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Scotia; the sixth moved to Pennsylvania, and we have no
further record of him.

The three daughters all married ; one married a Patterson,
and one, Jean or Jane, married Simon Newcomb and settled
in Wallsce, Cumberland Co., Nova Scotia. They had three
children :—Simon, Thomas and John. The last named mar-
ried in the United States. His son is now Simon Newcomb,
the noted astronomer, and we believe was sent to South Af-
rica on an astronomical expedition about two years ago.

JonN, the youngest son of Themas, was born July 16,
1739. He received a medical education at Princeton, New
Jersey, where he formned a fiiendship with Dr. John Wither-
spoon, at one time President of the College, and a signer of
the Declaration of Independence. This friendship contin-
ued through life, and we now have a letter written by Dr.
Witherspoon at Philadelphia, June 4, 1773, ¢¢to Dr. John
Harris, at Pictou, in Nova Scotia,” as the superscription
shows. Dr. Harris was graduated from Princeton in 1763,
and entertained such respect for the institution that he sent
his son William from Nova Scotia to take a collegiate course
there. - While Dr. Harris was a resideat of ¢‘Cross Roads,”
a small place in Maryland, about fourteen miles south of the
Pennsylvania line, and now called Churchville, he was mar-

ried to Elizabeth Scott, who died in July, 1815.
"~ Toward the end of May, 1767 tke Philadelphia Company
sent a small brig, the ¢ Hcpe,” to Picicu with six families
of settlers, among whom were Dr. Jobn Harris and family.
‘They arrived at Pictou Harbor on June 10th. The people
of Truro had heard of the expected arrival and several of the
~ voung men started through the woods to meet them and ren-
der any needed assistance. They reached the shore in the
afternoon and made fires to attract the attention of the new-
comers, “vho saw the lights and naturally supposed them to
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be made by savages, of whom they stood in terror:: After-
deliberating, the company kept off shore till morning and
then concluaed to advance, when to their great joy they
discovered white faces and heard friendly voices. During
the night a son, Thomas, was born to Mrs. Hafris. He
died in 1809 and on a monument which till recently stood to
his memory was the following :—¢¢ The first descendant of
an Englishman born in Pictou.” He was long known as
‘¢ Clerk Tommy,” having been clerk of the peaee for some
. years. During the July term of the Court of Sessions for
1797 the following was passed :—Also presented and ordered,.
that Thomas Harris, jr. be allowed the sum of three pounds
currency for his services as Clerk of the Peace for the year
one thousand seven hundred and ninety seven.”

The children of Dr. John Harris were :— ,_

1. Thomas;—and it may not be out of place to remark.
here that he had a son Edward, and a daughter, afterward
Mrs. Brown, each of whom named a son Edward for their
Scottish ancestor, thus continuing the family name. .

2. Mary, the eldest daughter, was born in June, 1769,
being the first female child born of English parents in Pic-
tou. She married Robert Cock. S

3. Williarn, the second son, born in 1771, was sent to
Princeton, where he was graduated as Doctor of Medicine.
He married Susan Hunt, visited Pictou, then returned to
make his home in New Jersey or Pennsylvania. A

4. Margaret, was born in Pictou in 1773 ; married a Mr.
Watson and lived in Truro. _

5. Elizabeth was born in 1775 ; married John Moore and
lived in Truro. ‘ |

6. Jonx WasHINGTON HARRIs, the third son, was born in
March, 1777. He was married in May, 1804 to his second
cousin, Mary Sutia IIadley, daughter of Capt. Hadley,
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orpbaned when an infant and brought up by her maternal
grandmother, Mrs. (Matt.?) Harris.

7. Robert, the fourth and youngest son, was born in
‘Truro, Nov. 21, 1783. He married in Truro and died one
or two years after, leaving an.infant davghter. His widow
married an-Archibald, lived in Truroand had a-large family.

8. A fourth daughter, of whose given name we tind no
mention, married a John McKean.

Dr. John Harris, being ore of the first settlers of Pictou,
wss interested in what was called the Philadelphia Grant.
This grant being escheated after the death of Di. Harris,
grants of 500 acres each were given to John W. and Robert
Harris and their four sisters. These 3000 acres were laid
out and granted abcut the year 1813 on each side of the road
leading from Truro to Talamagouche, and soon after the
gons of Robert Cock (husband of Mary Harris,) and John
McKean (husband of —— Harris) commenced to clear and
make themselves farms at the same places where some of
their descendants now reside on Talamagouche mountains.
These were the tirst settlers between Omnslow and Talama-
gouchee.

Dr. John, or ¢¢ Dr. Johnny ” as his brotkers called him,
was attorney for the Philadelphia Company ; he was the first
magistrate in the district of Pictou, having lbeen appointed
in 1769 ; he was the first registrar of deeds and held other
public offices there ; he was clerk of the peace at Onslow for
some years ; represented Truro in the House of Assembly
from 1779 to 1785 ; be celebrated marriages and was gen-
erally a *‘public man.”

We find that he is credited with owuing a fishing boat and
a small vessel in 1769, the nucleus for the Pictou marine.
After a life of varied fortune, and having attained the age
of sixty-three years, the death of Dr. Harmris was very sud-
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den. “On the 9th of April, 1802 he went from home on
horseback to ride to the village, and as he was coming into
Mr. Jonathan Blanchard’s yard from the street he fell from
his horse and was instantly killed.”

We have already mentioned the children of Dr. Harris,
and will now speak more especially of the son John W. and
his deseendants, many of whom are residents of the United
States.

In 1811 Jobn Washington Harris succeeded his cousin
Thomas Harris, sr., as Deputy Sheriff, which office he held
some years, then was made High Sheriff and continued in
office till 1857. At that time his eyesight had become so
impaired, presumably from exposure to winter snow and
dazzling surnlight, that he resigned in favor of his son Wil-
tiam H., who had been his Deputy. William held the office
till his death in 1883, at which time his son George S. was
formally appointed High Sheriff. As his father’s deputy
he had discharged the aective duties of the office, his father’s
failing eyesight making it impossible for him to do them.—
George S. Harris was Sheriff but a short time, for in 1885
he, too, passed away, and his only brother, J. Sim Harris,
was appointed to succeed him. A Pictou paper published
some years since sa2id ¢+ The Shrievalty in this County has
become hereditary and fixed in the family of Harris. and the
appointment of ary other than one of that name would be
passing strange.” The present incumbent is the fifth in
office, and fifth of that name to occupy an office which has
existed in that county one-hundred-and-two years.—since
the year 1791.

The family of John W. Harris and wife Mary was a large
one; eight sons grew to manhood, and four daughters to
womanhood, and of each we will make brief mention :—

1. William H. was born Feb. 4, 1805 ; married about
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1832 to Anne Arnison. They had a family of nine children,

three of whom still survive : —1st. Margaret . who married
J. D. McLeod and makes Pictou her home ; 2ud. Mary Ann,
widow of W. W. Glennie, also a resident of Pictou; 3rd.

J. Sim, married to Emma lves, and is the present Sheriff of
PlCtOl] which place is his home.

2. Elizabeth was born Feb. 6, 1806 «nd was marrled in
1829 to William Milne, borp in Aberdeen, Scotland, who in
the year 1827 began the publication of the. Columial Patriot,
the first paper in Pictou County, Nova Scotia.

This paper was for some years edited by Jotham Blanch-
ard, Esq., anonymously. The principles of the paper and
the free spirit with which it assailed Government abuses,
soon brought it into notice. The population willing to sup-.
port such a’paper, however, was small, and financially the:
venture was not a success till a few years. later. several ge'.'n-‘l'
tlemen combined and took control of the publication.

Mr. Milne and famlly removed to New England some
years later, where, by his kirdly, svuipathetic nature, ‘his
ability as a writer either in prose or in verse, his unbounded
interest and compassion for the natiow’s enslaved, a feeling
he daimtlessly expressed in writing &t a time when such a
course was very unpopular, he won and retained many friends
who gladly voiced the sentiments of man y others in loving
and grateful tributes to his memory. M. Milne was called
ﬁom his earthly home at Providence, R. 1., on Saturday,
Aucrust 20, 1877, in the 78th year of his age. .

Our own Chlldlsh recollections of him are kindly; to us
bhe was always the embodiment of gentleness and affection-
ateé kmdness ; ever interested in children and trying to con-
tubute 10 the happiness of those about him.

“From one tribute to his memor y we take the tollowmg —_—
L ’\Ir | Ml ne possessed natural abilities that might well be

(RS

Ve
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coveted by any one. = = » » He wds a writer of no mean
ability, and whatever he wrote, in verse or prose, was always
on the side of virtue, purity and humanity. * =% = = He
was a most eonsistent temperance man, and some of his pub-
lished songs on this subject are full of touches of the man-
liest sympathy for the victims of the curse, and seathing
rebuke for those who were aiding and abetting its continued
existence. * = * » = x = » He was ever the firm friend
of the poor. His life was more quiet than active, but it
was the quiet that always has strength in it. His was ever
a song of trust. Christ was in him the hope of glory, -and
this hope has ripzned into fruition.”

The children of Mr. and Mrs. Milne are:—

1st. Mary H., married to Henry W. Christian, who had
served in the war of the Rebellion, and who died Sept. 10,
1885, of pneumonia, the illness being very brief owing to
his constitution being broken by experiences during the war.
Mrs. Christian sp2nds her time in the homes of her sisters;
one in Providencz, R. I., and one in Afttleboro, Mass.
- 2nd. Isabella P. who married Elward H. Frink and is
living with her husband and adopted daughter, Bertha S.,
in Attleboro. :

One little child, Mary Caroline, was given them on Keb.
13, 1873 for a brief visit which came to an end March 22 of
the same year, when she was called to the Kingdom above.

3rd. Barbara L. who married Alexander Wilcox. They
and their two daughters, Mary Ella and Laura Viola Jeffer-
son, live in Fall River, Mass.

4th. Jeanette Duncan, who was married in Providence in
November, 1870, to William Wallace May, of Nova Secotia.
They make their home in that city and have two children
living :—George Edward and Annie Lowden.

‘The following verses are from a poem written in memory
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of their first child, Joseph William, who lived but a few
weeks.

¢N THE DEATH OF AN INFANT GRANDCHILD.
BY W. MILNE,

Cheerless and dull is the house to-day,
The joy of the family circle is spoiled;

The pet of the household is taken away,
A beautiful, blue-eyed, infant child.

Dear, dear to the tenderest chords of the hoart.
It was hard with our baby boy to part.

He came to our hearth like a bright sunbeam
For him there was welcome, cheer and room ;

But his stay was as brief as a fleeting dream,
And he left us to sadness, sorrow and gloom.

We could not but mourn, we had loved him so,

Till our hearts cried “How can we let thee 202"

Lord, pity our weakness, if we weep;

Our flower of the merning has turned to dust;
With its petals closed it has gone to sleep,

To wake in the morning we‘ can trust;
That glorious morning that shall bring

To the earth made new eternal spring.

5th. John W. H., who married Elizabeth Wood. They-
have no children and reside in Proviaence.
6th. Alexander O., marned to Emily Richards April 24,
1878. They have two children :—Frank Lawson, born oo’
March 17, 1879, and Ethel Elizabeth, born Oct. 21, 1883.
They live in San Francisco, California.
7th. Thomas F., who married Emma Henderson, and their
fome is in Providence.
_&th. William H., unmarried, makes Providence his home.
..Three other children of Mr. and Mrs. Milne :—Margaret
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Anne, James, and Abbie KelIy, died in lnfaney, the ]atter
named for the noted abolitionist preacher, then held to the
scorn of people by pro-slavery advocates, but now honored
for her brave earnestuess.

Mrs. Milne survives her husband and lives a ¢ shut-in”
existence, a helpless invalid, patient and uwcomplaining,
tenderly cared for in the home of her daughter, Mrs. May,
who is assisted in this faithfal and loving service by her
sisters. -

3. Margaret’S. born May 4, 1807, was married in 1833
to Thomas Roderick Fraser, a grandson of ¢ old Roderick
McKay.” She died March 7, 1888, at San Jose, California,

where she had removed two years previously to be with her
sister Jane.

4. Robert R. was born Aug. 9, 1809 ; was married in
1834 to Catherine Stout, who died in 1853, leaving a son,
George S. Robert married Anna E. Hollenbeck a year or
so later. He passed away in 1867, and his widow now lives
in Bennington, Michigan. '

5. George S., born Sept. 17, 1812, died in 1833.

6. Jobn F., born Feb. 8, 1814 ; was married in 1847 or
48 to Margaret G. Johnson, who died a few years later and
left three children. He married in 1854 Anne Harris, who
died in 1890, leaving one daughter. He still resideﬁé"’in
Pictou. e

7. Mary Ann, born July 7, 1815, died in 1844. |

9. Walter P., born Sept. 1, 1820, died in ]841 and is
buried on the 1sla,nd of Cuba. '

10. Thomas Hunter was born May 7, 1822 fnarried_ip
1871 to'Mrs. Jane Renton, who died in 1889 He resides
mNeW York. S

" Tsaac, born Sept. 18, 1823. In 1853 he married
Barbam ‘Dawson, who died in 1355, one year later than her
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husbzard, whese desth occurred in 1854, leaving an infant
daughter.

12. Jane Hatton, born Feb. 19, 1825, was married on
Dec. 21, 1854 to Burton McKay. They moved to New
York in the fall of 1857 ard in the spring of 1859 to Cali-
fornia, where the family has since resided.

Until his death on the 28th of Dec. 1863, Mr. Harris
continued to reside in Pictou; for many years in ¢¢ Hallibur-
ton Cottage” cn the harbor. From a Nova Scotia paper
published shortly after his death we take the following :—

<« Mr. Harris was an old and highly esteemed citizen, and
for mary years High Shkeriff of the county of Pictou. En-
gaged for nearly half a century in the duties of an active
business life, his name during that long period has been
closely associated with the progress and prosperity of the
county in which he resided. His unfaltering probhity, genial
temperament and warm, generous sympathies had endeared
him to a large circle of friends. Though most of those with
whom be had taken sweet counsel in life have gradually pre-
ceeded him to the narrow hourne, yet in many a housekold
will his memory be fondly cherished.

We’'ve mourned the friends of early youth
And wept o’er days gone by;

And now we meet the unwelcome truth,
That aged worth must die.

The tyrant falls, and few lament,
The frivolous pass away,

No tear we drop at their descent
To mix with kindred clay.

Thou creeping slave to sordid pelf,
With cold, contracted heart,

Look on that bier, contrast thyself,
And own the meaner part.

Departed friend, it was not thine
To hoard the worldly store,

Nor mark by look or act supine,
The suppliant at thy dvor.
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Through years of labored public life
It was thy lot to toil,

And find thy way 'mid dangers rife
O’er yet unbroken soil.

No carriage then, with cushioned back,
For thee inviting stood ;

No travel but the bridle track
Through wild and lonesome wood.

How oft we've seen thy wearied frame
Return, each duty done,

Benumbed and chilled from winter’s storn,
Or taint from scorching sun.

To serve the Crown, yet act the friend
To those the law distressed,

To make the pris’ner meekly bend,
Perchance his wrongs redressed.

And yet no sinecure befell,
Nor pension for thine age;

These go presumption’s pride to swell
On fashion's gilded page.

*Tis finished now, yet few like thee
Can man’s esteem retain

Through lengthened years, from censure free,
And die without a stain.”

- Early in July 1773 the Hector sailed from Scolland to
Pictou, carrying the first company of Scottish emigrants.—
After a voyage of eleven weeks she arrivea at her destina-
tion and the settlers, numbering nearly two hundred, were
landed amid circumstances titted to make the stoutest hearts
quail. They were without shelter, food was scarce, many
were sick, some dying and most were destitute, having sac-
rificed all to come to America where the prospect of land and
plenty held out to them was very templing.

In this company were four brothers, Roderick, Donald,
Alexander and McKay, all of whom were natives of
Beauly, Invernesshire, Scotland. ¢ Roderick was a black-’
smith by trade, and through the influence of some friends of
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his wife afterward secured a situation as head of the black-
smith work at the dockvard at Halifax. He and his wife
traveled thither through the woods on foot, each carrying a
child. Under his direction was made and placed the chain
which was stretched across the northwest arm of that harbor
during the war to prevent the entrance of hostile vessels.—
He was a man of middle height, thick-set and strongly built,
distinguished for his activity, determination and fertility in
resources. ”’

When the Hector reached Pictou the land along the shore
was already occupied, and their grants were one, two, and
even three miles from the water, thus cutticg them off from
fish, one very important factor in their szbsistence. When
they considered that and saw the unbroken forest which
must be cleared before they could hope to do anything, the
prospect was sufficient Lo entirely discourage men who bhad
hoped for so different an outlook, and who were totally un-
acquaiated with the manner of clearing American forests.
Tke resuit was they refused to settle on the grant. When
food arrived the agent refused to supply them as they were
not complying with the conditions. Some had means and
bought provisions, but soon the money was exhausted and
they were without food and unable to procure any. 1n their
extremity they insisted on having what had been sent by the
company, and finally resclved to obtain a supply by force.
““They seized both Squire Patterson and Dr. Harris, tied
them and took their guns, which they hid at some distance,
told them they must have food for their families, that they
were willing to pay for it when they were able. They then
proceeded to weigh and measure the various articles; they
took an account of what each man received and left it.—
Roderick McKay, a man of great ezergy and determination,
sed who in this and in all proceedings of the time was the

~
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recognised leader of the Highla-nders, was left to relé,ase the
prisoners. After a sufficient time had elapsed to enable the
rest to get to a safe distance, he undid the ropes by "which
they were bound, and having informed them where their
guns were to be found, got out of the way himself. * * We
may add here that Squire Patterson used, afterward, to say
that the Highlanders who had arrived in poverty had paid
him every farthing that he had trusted them.” [ History of
Pictou County.

After some years’ residence at Halifax Roderick returned
to his farm in Pictou where he resided till his death at the
age of one-hundred-and-one years, and it is said, ‘“having
never spoken one word of English,” grestly preferring his
native Gaelic. g . D
- He had six children, the oldest of whom became the wife
of Dr. McGregor. Another daughter, Catherine, was mar-
ried to J. D. B. Fraser, and was the mother of Thomas R.
Fraser. The youngest daughter, Isabella, became Mrs.
Patterson. '

‘There were three sons :—John, Robert and

John was married three times ; first to a Miss Logan, who
ied, leaving a daughter Christian, and two sons, Roderick
and Robert. The last named followed the sea; at one time
was captain of a merchantman called the ¢¢ Hibdoo.” He"
afterward had command of a ship called the ¢ Betsey,” in
which he left New York about 1848 and was never heard of
after.

John McKay was married the second time to Jane David-
son, who died, leaving one son, David. The third marriage
was to Elizabetlh McGeorge Burton, widow of Dr. Williaum
Burton, a surgeon in the English service who, on a trip to
Nova Scotia, met Elizabeth McGeorge at her father’s home.
e became.interested, then deeply in love with her and left
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his position finally to marry her and settle in Nova Scotia.
This third marriage took place about 1822, and four sons
were born to them ; Thomas, George, Burton and William.
Thomas was a seafarer, went to England as mate of a vessel
when quite young and died there. George, a druggist, was
twice married. His first wife was Amelia Bridgman, whose
only child, Lottie, died before she did. Elizabeth Wilkie
was his second wife, and with her he removed.to California
in 1870, and they settled in Humbolt County, where he died
July 21, 1880, and his widow survived him only nine years.
till Dee. 25, 1889. '

William went to Australia when young, marr 1ed and set-
tled there.

Burton, born June 24, 1830, was an architect and builder.
On the 21st of Dec. 1854 he was married to Jane Hatton
Harris, youngest child of John Washington Harris, High
Sheriff of Pictou Co., and granddaughter of ¢¢ Dr. John,”
of the Philadelphia Company, before mentioned. They had
seven children, one of whom died in infancy.

As we have almost nothing in the way of written legacies
from him 1 wish to insert the following written by him in his
wife’s antograph album early in their married life.

«“« HOME.”

«« How the heart Lounds at the mention of that familiar
naire! How many bright recollections of days long since
passed away rush into the mird at the sound of its familiar
zccent! Fond memory recalls scenes of loveliness and of
beauty long since smothered in the busy scenes of zctive life
W 1th which we are surrounded.

I'he Cottage by the stream, with its vine covered treliis,
its walls hanging with the creeper and honeysuckle, its little
cgarden in front, brilliant with the rich tints of many colored
flowers, speak of joys not only scen butfelt. Its Sabbatks
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or Holy rest! The family altar around which we were wont
to gather and offer up the incense of grateful hearts to the
Giver of all good ! |

And the old arm chair, where has sat for so many years
our aged parent!

Oh, how those scenes come rushing to the mind, starting
the tear adown the cheek which has grown furrowed and
brown with the struggles of life’s tempestuous pathway and
causing one to sigh for the Home which is appointed for the
weary and heavyladen. Oh, may we have a home in Heaven
where there is no parting, where there is no care; where
there is no night; but where there shall be a joyful recogni-
ton of all those friends who have died in the faith of Jesus
Christ, where we shall know even as we are known, and
where we shall all be brothers and sisters; where God shall
be our Father, and where the L.amb shall dwell in the midst
of us; where we shall drink of the pure water of life for ever
and for ever. God grant it. Amen.” |

«TO MY WIFE.”

« Dear friend of my bosom, ard light of my home,
Thou peace speaking angel, frem Heaven sent down,

Thou’rt my helper in trouble, my physician in pain,
Thy watchword in working is ‘onward again.’

With thee by my side no danger I'll fear

While passing through life, or to death drawing near.
For Jehovah is nigh thee, I know He's thy friend,

And mine if His commandments thereto I attend.

Oh let us draw near, and before Him we'll bow,
With our hearts we will pay Him the homage we owe;
For vur God He is gracious, long-suffering and kind,

Let us then to the altar our sacrifice bind.
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We know He will hear us, only ask Him in faith;

The blessings we're in want of are all simple, still great.
¢*h grant us Thy favor till life on earth end,

And after, to glory, may we both then ascend.”

Robert, youngest son of Roderick, married Jessie Patter-
son, of Pictou, and had a large family, some of whom still
live in that county. |

The third son married and lived away up in the mountain:
above New (lasgow; he died many years ago and left threc
children; Roderick, ———, and Christabel. The second
son was on board the ¢¢ Betsey” when she sailed from New
York. Christabel lived in Pictou, with the family of her
uncle, Robert McKay; was a schoolmate of Jane Harris,
about whose age she was. Her mother afterward married a
Fraser and their son was for many years in charge of affairs
at Mount Hamilton, Cal., where the Lick Observatory is
placed.

We are informed that the death of John McKay occurred
in the fall of 1353, and that his wife Elizabeth died in the
summer of 1868, each being abont seventy-five years of age
at the time of decease.

The children of Burton McKay and Jane Harris are :—

1. Arthur John, born in Pictou, N. S., Nov. 26, 1855.
He came to California when a child, and shortly after his
father’s death obtained a position as fireman on the railroad ;
became an engineer some years later and is still in the em-
ploy of the same Company, making Sacramento his home.
Oct. 10, 1888, he married Lillian Gertrude Miller, of Sac-
ramento.

2.  Barbara Daicson, born at Traro, April 10, 1857 and
married in February, 1877 to Charles Cassidy who met his
death in a railroad =zccident in May of the following year,
leaving her a widow with an infant son Arthar Benjamin
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who was born in December, 1877. On June 19, 1890, she
married Melville B. Everham, of Chicago, then a resident of
Nevada, and in the spring of 1892 they and Arthur removed
to Chicago, where on July.31, 1893 a daughter, Edith, was
born.

3. Mary Evrizasers, born in San Francisco, August 2,
1861, became a school teacher; taught eight years, the last
five in Auburn, California. On May 25, 1387 was married
to FrRep A. Stoart at the home of her mother in San Jose.

“key returned to Auburn and have since resided there ex-
cept from April, 1890 to December, of the next year, which
lime was spent at Mr. Stuart’s home in Dracut, Mass.—
They have two children; Ray, born Feb. 16, 1888, at Au-
burn, and Archer Bell, born Feb. 16, 1891 at Dracut in the
house in which his father was born.

3. Effie Reed, born July 10, 1863 at San Francisco. She
was graduated from the Oakland High School in 1880 and
afterward taught school in Nevada a few months, and then
was married on Aug. 11, 1881 to Robert Borland, of that
State. They had two children; Evelyn May, born Apr. 24,
1883 who died June 23, of the same year, and Roy Everett,
born Sept 9, 1886. On Dec. 3, 1890 she was married a
gecond time, to George H. Thompson, Deputy Storekeeper
&t the U. S. Arsenal at Benicia, and since then they have
lived at Benicia Avsenal.

5. Adlbion Harris, born Oct. 21, 1865 at San Jose, who
died five days later.

6. Amelia Georgina, born at San Jose, Dec. 30, 1866,
was graduated at the State Normal School at San Jose in
May 1887, and taught school until the time of her marriagz
to Anderson Clark Moorhead. formerly of Pennsylvania, now
of Los Angeles, Mar. 6, 1892. Since their marriage they
have resided in the city of Los Angeles, California. Their
first child, Gladys Evelyn, was born Aug. 28, 1893,
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7. Maybelle Neitie, born July 9, 1868, at Stockton, Cal,
Was graduated from the State Normal School at San Jose
in December, 1886, and has since taught school.

After a painful illness of eight months duration, BurroN
McKaAy passed away June 23, 1873, at San Francisco, to
which place he and his wife had gone hoping to obtain med-
ical aid which might render recoveiy possible. The remains
were interred in the family lot at Laurel Hill Cemetery, San
Jose. His widow settled in San Francisco and lived there
six years, keeping the family together and maintaining a
home for ker children till some of them were able to aid Ler.
Since then she has made her Lome part cf the time with her
children in their homes, tLkcugh cwning a house and lots at
Pacific Grove, where she prefers to spend part of the sum-
mer each year.”

= While waiting for correction of an evident error in a
date on page 98, (Feb. 29, 1319,) the printer inadvertently
struck off that page before correction and insertion of :—

¢“8. Abram Scott Harris, born Nov. 29, 1819 ; never
married, and his present residence is San Francisco, Cal.”

Havirg traced the ancestry of my own immediate family
connections frcm the frst settlers down to the present time,
iccluding my grandchildren, 1 give upon the next pages an
ancestral chart showicg those connections. By starting at
parents’ nsmes each one can trace lineage back to his or her
own ancestors. Starting from my own name the various
vnious resulting in that individual can be traced back to the
first settlers, Duncan Stuart and Stephen Dummer on one
side, and to William White and Lt. Gov. Symonds on the
cther. Tke other children of Mr. (Master) Joseph Stuart
¢.d Rebecca Rell, also descendants of Sarah Stuart White,
weuld have the same liceege, while tbose starting at Capt.
Robert Stuart could trace descent from the two former.



1600. ANCESTRAL CHART CF JCSEFH A. STUART, WITH CHILDREN AND GRANDCHILDREN. 1893,
DUNCAN ST ARRN, b IGIT, Korerr Apayms, b, 1692, Richard Peteingill STiPHEN DuMmenr, & Alice Archer
Shipwright. Early setuler Tpswich, New- Devonshirve, Kng, 1pswich, & Joanna Ingersol : b. 16V3, Bishopstoke, Eng,
bury, Rowley. With wile, Aun, Covenanters. 1085, Newbury, 1640 Newbury 1638 _

| ITENRY SEWALLDL 1614 & Jane Dummer
Ebenezer Sraart, & Elzabeth Johinson  Sergt. Abrabam Adanis & Muary Pettingill Ist sct. Ipswich, M ewbury.
Rowley, .
' I Ensign Wm Longfeliow & Anne Scwall
, |
- Capt. Abreham Admms & Anne Long,cllow ~Richard Currier, b, 1617,& wife Aun
~Dea. Thomas Currier, b, 1646, & wite Mary
IRonert Steeart. Rowley & Anne Adams ~Richard Currier & wite: Durotiy
~ Richard Curnrier & surah Mcerrill
Caprt. Roberd stuart, Newtown, Rev, Vet, & Ruth Currier Ruth

. [ Sidney E, Stunrt,U.S.A.< Lakhett Livingston
Mr. Joseph Stuart, Newtown ) Joseph A, Stuart, md. florense Livingston { Stdney Kdwin Ji,
married Rebecea Bell § Nav, Vet Civil War, ! Jos A1 S .
md. Anne J. flanders | osephine Bell Stuart

( F'red A staart, md. Mary B McKay { Ray

Rev. Benjamin Bell, Amesbury & Rebeeea White Archer Bell

Enos Flunders & Almira Co'o

Hon. Phillips White Levi Flanders & 1|)ully Pillsbury JolmI Cole & Janette Gregg
md. Ruth Brown, I |
Levi Flanders,Rev.Ver.  Nathan Cole & Molly Flint - Sminucl Gregg & Margaret Wallnco
William White and Saral Phillips & Mury Sargent |

John Cole & Kuniee Spoftord John l\mlluce

Samuci Gregg & Mary Moor & Janet
Johm Whiwe and Lydia Gilman Samuel & Susanna Colo | | Steele
| Capt. James Gregg  John Moor & Janet Cochivan

- Samuel Phillips, Salem, Goldsmith, & Mary Emerson & Janet Cargy!l

John White & Hannah French | JUHN MOOR, Who was
A Rev. John Bmerson and Ruth Symonds massacred at
Non.John Gilman, | | Glencoe, 1u02
Counsclor THoMAS EMERsON, Lt. Gov. SAMULL SyMoNDS
WILLIAM W HITE Lev, Samuel Phillips, & Sarah Appleton uand wife & Martha licad, (the widow-
b.1610. i | Elizaheth came Eppes)  He was Cursitor in
Ist settler Epwarp fopNcl Rev. Georae PuILLips, Hon, SAMUEL APPLETON,  to lpswich 1639 Chimeery, Ueldham, Dssex
Ipswich,  Ipswich, 1636, ist b. hefure 1600, Tl gen. (i, JORN, of Grt,  died May 1,1660  Co., ing. At Ipswich, 1637

Newbury, et Salisbury. Epwarb GinaMan  Istsettlerat Waddingfleld,bfr.1400. mmd.  Was o baker. Representacive,  Assistunt,
Haverhitl’  AuSalem d.1o74, llinghaon Watertown  Mary Everard. At Ips'ch, 1033 L648-136. Doputy, 1673 o death,
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JouN LiviNcsTonN., A Scoteh-Irish Jovas & Grace Earon, b, Eng. DA, THOMAS K ENDALL.
Presbyterinn,  Came from Pallybay Theophilus Tracy, Granville, st settler und n lst Selectinan, Leading. Mass,
in 1764, scttled in W, Hebron,, N Y, N. Y. Recading, Mass.. 1444, | 1ud3s,
Hox. Jurnua EaqoN, & Rebecoa Kendall.
1st set. Reading, 1i138. Ben). Pierce, Watertown.

Dr. Wm. Livingston, U. 8, N. ‘1812', & Barah 'I'racy.

I
Settled in Lowis, N, Y, Capt. Thomas Eaton & T ydia Pkerce.

Joseph & Mury Damon, Reading,

Roger H. & Sally Russell Woodruff.
Lt. Jonauthan Faton & Mary Damon,

I
Dea. James G. Livingston & Rosctta Woodruff. Dea. Benjnmin & Sarah Brown, Reading.
Lewis, Fssex (o, N, Y. C
Active Member “Underground R. R.” Co, Ldmund Eaton & farah Brown,
]

'
Dr, Joseph Eaton, U. 8. A. & Sarah Fmith.

Col. LaRhett L. Livingston & M ary Eluton.

I .
Florence Livingston. Rurr SruanT b, Feb, 5, 1800,
married LARHETT LivINgsTo . S~var™, b, Jan, !'7, 1899,

Sidney E, Stuart, Lt. Ordnance. U. 8. A, ( S1oNEY EbpwiN Nruant, J.. b rug. 18, 1893,
Josephine Bell Stuart, Principal of Training School for Teachers, New Bodfurd, Mass,

Fred Augustus Stuart, Printer, Auburn, Cal, RAY S.UARM. b £ib. 16, 1848

marriod N . i .
Mary Elizabeth McKay. ARCHER BELL STUART, b, Fob 16, 1891,

Burton McKay and Jane Hatton IHarris,
John w.' Harris & Mary Hadley.

John McKay & Elizabeth McGeorge Burton, Dr. Jolm llnrr:s & Flizabeth Scott.
Thomus IHarris & Mary McKinnoy.

Ropnrr ok MoKar, Leader of first party RoBeRT HARRIS and Dorothy Wiley.

:of:ost':ﬁli;l;?;";;‘;ms coming to Pletou, Eo\!'uw Harrt 8 & Frora TouGLass,
. S8COTCH COVENANTEBRS.

*SNOTLOANNOD SL! ANV HONVIT Y10
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- Capt. ROBERT StUART’s ninth child, Mary, was born at
Newfown, N. H., Oct. 22, 1787. She married Dea. Joseph-
French May 18, 1810. Her oldest daunghter writes me :—
‘‘’There is something very singular about the division of my
mother’s years upon earth. She spent 22 1-2 years at New-
town before her marriage, less than 23 at Gilmanton, N. H.,
where we were all born, over 22 at Concord, N. H., and a
few months over 22 at Painesville, Ohio. She died Oct. 25,
1876, aged 89.” My own recollection of her is that she was
a handsome woman, even when getting well along in years,
and quite smart at the time. Her husband’s business while
at Concord took him from home much of the time, he being a
traveling agent for an Insurance Company. He died May
16, 1867. 'They had six children :—

NAXME. BORN. MARRIED. T LIVED AT. DIED. AGE.,

1. CEARLES S. June 12, 1812 May 20, 1834 Rebecca Stuart NH,Pa 0,111 May 11,1872 60
2. MaryY ANN Feb. 6, 1815 May 18, 1845 Wm. Hillis i
3. JoaN R. May 23, 1819 Dec. 24, 1846 Frances Rogers NH,0.D¢,N¢,1p Oct. 2, 1890 71
4. Jospra A. Oct. 11,1822 about 1848 1 Mary Johnsou McKean, Pa.
about 1833 2 Rachel Dunn Erie, Pa. Sept. 6, 1887 65

5. Fravces R. Oct. 30, 1824 Madisonrille, O.
€. SAeA" L. Oct. 2, 1829 April — 1851 1 Francis B. Flint

May 1, 1835 2 Stephen Gano Madisonrille O.

1. CnARLEs Strant. 1 have given an account of his life
in connection with that of his wife, Rebecca Stuart, together
with that of his children on pages 50 to 54. He was born
June 12,1812, and died at Dixon, Illinois, May 11, 1872.

2. Mary Axx, born Feh. 6, 1815, With all this family
of children the Covenanter blood showed its presence, and
she wus a pioneer in the Anti-si: very agitation.  With them
in succession uss they came to the tlitting age she made three
migrations west, {i,st to Pennsylvania where her brother was,
thence to Ohio, whereshe married William Hillis, May 18,
1845 ; lived some years near Oakland, O., then moved to a
farm near Dixon, Ill. In the autumn of 1882 they moved to
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Dixon, where they were scarcely settled when Mr. Hillis was
stricken with paralysis and died. After her marriage, hav-
ing no children of her own, she brought up several otherwise
friendless children, one or more at a time, and started them
well taught in the duties of life. She still lives at Dixon.

3. Joux RoBert, born May 28, 1819. His nest younger
sister, Fanny, sends me the following account of his life :—

‘At the age of fourteen John was apprenticed to Asa Me
Farland, a printer at Concord, N. H. At eighteen he pur-
chased his time and was associated with Nathaniel P. Rogers,
as publisher of the Herall of Freedom, Mr. Rogers being
editor and prime mover of the same. 1t was the first anti-
slavery paper published in New England, ante-dating Wm.
Lloyd Garrison’s paper by several years. (The paper was
once mohbed by the pro-slavery people of Councord during
Mr. Rogers’ lifetime, the result other than the serious injury
to property being only a more energetic advocacy of human
rights. - The subscription list and account books were saved
by Mr. French in the face of thesmob.) Mr. Rogers was a
descendant of John Rogers, the Martyr. He was a promi-
nent lawyer in New Englaud, a brilliant writer and one of
the most fearless anti-slavery agitators of that early day.—
On Christmas eve, 1846, Mr French married Frances F. an
estimable lady, the eldest daughter of Mr. Rogers. On the
death of Mr. Rogers Mr. French succeeded him in the edi-
torship of the paper, continuing it till 1854, when he moved
to Painesville, Ohio with his family, purchasing and editing
the Painesville Telegraph until 1861. During his residence
in Painesville he represented Lake County in the State Leg-
islature two terms. While there he made the acquaintance
end became intimate witlt such men as Chase, Giddings,
¢nd Benjamin F. Wade, prominent anti-slavery agitators
of Ohio. Mr. French was the first to mention Mr. Chase’s
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name as candidate for Governor of Ohio, and it was largely:
owing to his influence that he was nominated and elected.

In 1861, when Chase entered Lincoln’s cabinet, Jobhn R.
‘was appointed by Secretary Chase to a responsible position
in the Treasury Department, where he remained until 1864,
-when be was sent to North Carolina as a Direet Tax Com-
missioner. At the close of the war he settled at Edenton,
N. C., to which place he brought his family. There Mrs.
French died after a brief iliness, leaving two sons ; a third,
the youngest, having preceded her. John R. represented
his district in the 40th Congress, and at the expiration of
his term in Congress was elected Sergeant at Arms of the
United States Senate, which office he held till March, 1879.
- He was then appointed one of the Commissioners to settle
the Ute (Colorado) Indian trouble after the massacre of
Major Thornburg and his command. He returned to the
Capital and remained a few years, then went to Omabha, Neb.
where nis oldest son, Edward R. French, a prominent lawyer
of that city resides, remaining there until he went to Idaho
to visit his son Howard. Daring his stay at Idaho he was
so delighted with the country that he decided to make it his
home. He became editor of the Idahko Statesman, and his
articles on Statehood in that paper attracted wide attention
and favorable comment. To his vigorous and delightful
articles publisbed in newspapers and magazines is due in a
great degree a wide-spread interest in Idaho, and which has
brought hundreds to the *Gem of the Mountains.” He
became editor of the Bu/s Swi when it was started, continu-
ing its editor till his sudden death on Qect. 2, 1890.
. The following is from an obituary notice written by some
friend at Boise City at the time of his death :—

JOHN R. FRENCH IS DEAD! The Archer has sped
his arrow and the kind, the charitable, the true-hearted has'
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fallen! - The-charity of Jobn R. French was as wide as the
. Race. 1t was his erowning glory that he loved his fellow
man. He was glad 1o bave clasped the black hand of the
slave and helped him to freedom. In long years of strife
against the wrong and oppression of his fellow man, in the
companionship of such men as Chase, Giddings, Lincoln and
‘Wilson, he possessed much of the same heroic spirit. * = A
poet by nature, he seemed to transform common things in
the alembic of his intellect until they sparkled into loveliness
-and beauty. His sentences were clear, like crystal; they
~were always clean and white, like snow. As a descriptive
writer he had few equals. While he had little taste for dry
political subjects he could discuss them re:zdily and with
clearness and force. Bul when he touched the poetic or
-emotional side of life, then was revealed the sweetness and
light that was in him. He was kind hearted; chivalric, ten-
der, generous, readier to say a kind word than an unkind,
ever extending a helping hand to the needy. He lived in
the most wonderful period of his country’s history, and he
aided greatly in shaping her destiny. Born when the lash
swung over the bared bLuck of the slave, he lived to see the
slave set free ; (o represent a foimer Slave State in Congress,
and to see the wave of population roll frcm Plymouth Rock
to the Golden Gate. He was one of the few who labored to
the last, and fell with the pen in his hand, words of cheer
- and thanksgiving over the grand vietory of his party in his
beloved Idaho trembling upon his lips. He ceased at once
to work and to live. Brave Soul, farewell.”

His sister adds :—*¢ John took a severe cold by exposure
during the campaign preceding the first State Electiou of
Idaho, which resulted in his death. While writing in his
cflice the day following the election he was seized with a
chill which bzffled all the efforts of physicians and friends to
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save him. He was laid to rest in a lovely spot near to the
home of his adoption. Edward, who was present to witness
- the last sad rites, says the love manifested for his father by
the people there was very touching. '

At the time of his death he had the manuscript of a book
of Reminiscences covering his observations of men and of
things for half a century which he proposed to publish had
he lived. He was 71 years old at his death.

The two livinz sons, Elward, born Jan. 16, 188, now
residing at Omaha, and Howard, born Oct. 22, 1852, living
at Boise City, are unmarried. The third son, John Rogers,
. was born in the summer of 1855. In the fall of 1863, while
visiting friends in Illinois, the house took fire and he inhaled
- the flames while being rescued, resulting in his death in a
few hours. The spirit of his martyred ancestor shone forth
when he noted that his friends were all preseat about him,
trying to alleviate his sufferings and be said, «‘I'm glad it’s
only me!” 'The widow of N. P. Rogers died at the home of
her daughter Mary, the wife of Thomas Kimball, at Omaha,
about 1890, at the age of 94 years, having retained her fae-
ulties and strength to a remarkable degree till a short time
previous to her death. Of her other children, Ellen, who
had her home with Mary, Mrs. Kimball, died about three
weeks previous to brother John’s decease. The youngest,
Annie, unmarried, makes her home with Mis. Kimball.

4. Josepn AXxDREw, born Oect. 11, 1822, was at first a
clerk in a store at Concord, N. H. He went to McKean,
Pa. to his brother Charles, and after some years bought his
brother’s farm and mill, and carried on the business of grind-
ing grain for the neighborhood and of sawing lumber and
veneering in addition to his farming. Was so good a judge
of trees that would make fine specimens of ‘¢ bird’s-cye”
veneer that he at one time was commissioned by a dealer in
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New.York to select some exceptionally fine logs for-export
Jo .-Er.;i.ncej-_fo-r,-inner; wall veneering to a cerlain expensive
\building; the logs proving so satisfactory from their beauty
_and-uniformity of markings as to receive the special praise
-of those:ordering them. He first married Mary Johnson of
McKean, about the year 1848. Their son, Frank J., was
Jborn in March, 1852. Mary died six weeks after.the birth
of Frank, and her intimate friend, Rackel Dunn, took:her
.place. - Frank J. married Miss Haverstick, of Erie, Pa.—
z."']?,hey-.‘,li_ve at New York city and have two sons, Stuart, and
-.Wi_lli-,am.. In 1854 Joseph and his wife tcok charge of the
Railway’s dining rocom for his brother Charles and his wife,
Rebecca, and afterward with one of the railway conductors
as partner, bought out his brother and conducted it for some
ye-_al:s;.' - He afterward engag%d in the grocery business at
Erie.. In 1856 he was a delegate to the Convention that
nominated Fremont for President. He was also one of the
Pennsylvania Home . Guards that started from Erie to stop
Lee’s; advapce on Harrisburg at the time Lee invaded that
State and-was defeated by Meade at Gettysburg and turned
back. With Rachel he had four children :—1. A daughter;
died young; 2. Clara E., born May 1, 1858, at Erie, Pa.,
who f01 ;_more' than half the years of her life was an invalid,
and fm_zsc;.mé.. years was ‘unable to walk, and died at Erie
May _16,..,41.888; 3. George D., born Jan. 18, 1860, married
his cousin, Frances F. Gano, Jan. 18, 1883 ;—they had :—
1. Com.L.,'May 16, 1884, at Wilkesbarre, Pa.; 2. Ruth,
Aug. 22, 1886, near Newfield, N. J.; 3. Clara, March 10;:
1888, at Madisonville, Ohio; 4. Joseph A., May 8, 1889,
at Madisonville. Joseph Stuart, the fourth and youngest.
child of Joseph A. and Rachel French, was born at Geneva,:
Obio, and married a young lady of Wilkesbarre, Pa., where"
they are now resid\i‘r_:g-. - They- have two children, but his:
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‘aunt, Fanny, the Statistician of the family, being away from
her home and records when she wrote, could not give me any
dates. -
In the antumn of 1885, Joseph A. French, with his wife,
“daughter Clara, his son George and family, and his sister
Fanny, moved to a small-fruit farm near Newfield, N. J.—
Joseph died there of heart disease on the morning of Sept.
6, 1887. His sister writes :—
¢ His departure was not unexpected, and he was ready
‘when the summons came. . Friends had laid the apparently
lifeless form upon a lounge, and while his son, his sister
Sarah, who was with us, and I lingered by the side of the
loved one, suddenly his face was lighted up with a radiant
smile as though he were greeting loved ones that- had gone
before. He left a large circle of friends to mourn his loss,
for none knew him but to love him. After his death Rachel
and Clara returned to Erie, the farm was sold and none of
us remained there long. Clara died the next year at Erie,
Rachel went to the home of her youngest son, Joseph S.; at
Wilkesbarre, Pa., and died there last spring, (April, 1893,)
I think.” |
5. Fraxces Reskcca, born Oct. 30, 1824, in early life
adopted teaching as a profession. When her parents went
to Painesville to live she went with them and having secured
a position there as a teacher, was her mother’s companion
during the remainder of her mother’s life. Concerning her
own life she writes me :—¢¢ After the death of father, mother
and brother Joseph I was without a home, and came here
(Madisonville, Ohio,) over four years ago, that I might be
near to sister Sarah and her children, who have their homes
here. For atime I made my home with them, but for more:
than a year I have bzen indepandent, and kept housz by my--
self, having rooms iu a house with a lady and her daughter,
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pot far from my friends, so that I see them often. . This
‘gives me control of my time and an opportunity to do such
work as I like best to do. I am now, (Feb. 17, 1893,) in
my 69th year, and like others I have had my joys and my
trials, but I realize that God’s hand has ever been upon me
for good, and I thank Him for all the way He has led me,
for all His dealings with me; for the bitter as well as the
-sweet experiences of life, since all have worked together for
my good. My health is excellent; 1 am free from disease
s0 faras I know; I have no pains or aches, not even head-
ache; my strength has been renewed, and though I have.
not the vigor of youth I am able to accomplish far more than
I could a year ago or even years ago, and far more than
most persons of my age.”

6. SArRAH LucrETIA, born Oct. 2, 1829. She was first
married to Francis B. Flint, a merchant in Haverhill, Mass.,
about April, 1851. Mr. Flint died in less thar a year after,
leaving no children. Sarab married Stephen Gano, of Cin-
cinnatti, Ohio, on the first of May, 1855. They reside at
Madisonville, Ohio, twelve miles from Cincinnatti, a favorite
fesidence of Cincinnatti’s business men. They have :—
< 1. Mary REBEccA, born Mar. 25, 1856, unmarried. and
lives at bome with her parents.

2. ANDREW B., born Sept. 1, 1858, married May 1, 1880,
Belle They have :—1. Blanche, born in November,
18853 2. Grace, born June 8, 1888.

3. Fraxces F., born Dec. 3, 1859, married her cousin,
George D. French. Their children’s record is on page 115.

4. Hexrierta M., born Jan. 1, 1862, is unmarried and
lives at home with her parents.

5. StepHEN JR., born Oct. 25, 1863, married in April,
1888, Sophie Avons, of Cinciunatti, O. They have three
children :-1. Howard French, born Mar. 3, 13889 ; 2. Daniel,
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.:born June 7, 1890; 8. Marguerette, born Mar. 5, 1892..
6. Cora May, the youngest, born in Cincinnatti, May
6, 1865; she died near the close of 1876.

Capt. ROBERT STUART'S tenth child, .RUTH,.W{;.S born in
October, 1790, or in 1792." She married Daniel Hobson,
a shoe manufacturer and merehant of Haverhill, Mass. and
they lived across the bridge in Bradford. She died on Feb.
26, 1870, agea 78. Her husband died Sept. 23, 1871, at
.12 years.. They had one son, Jorx Hexry, born Feb. 23,
1824¢. He went to California in May, 1852 with his uncle,
Thomas O. Larkin, and was a grain dealer in Stockton seven
.years. Returning home then, he engaged. in the shoe busi-
ness and married Oct. 7, 1861 Rebecca White Gale, daugh-
ter of Dr. Ezra and Ruth White Gale, and:granddaughter
of Richard and Sarah Stuart White, so that their children
have descent from William Wkite, and through him from the
first settlers of Ipswich upoa the chart on page 108; Rich-
ard being the 13th child of Hon. Phillips White. Rebecca
died Aug. 19. 1871, aged 30 years.. They had William H.
born June 28, 1864, drowned in the Merrimac river, June 5,
1874, aged 10; Charles Stuart, born Dec. 28, 1867, died
Feb. 12, 1868, aged six weeks; George Henry, born June
22, 1871, is living with his father, who is still in the shoe
business in Haverhill and residing in Bradford.

- John married a second wife, but had no children, and was
granted a divorce for cause. His son George is a teacher of
music, with a fine tenor voice; was a pupil of Allison Stu-
art, and like his teacher devoted to his profession.

. 'This concludes, as far as I can learn, the <fene1a.t10ns of
Capt. Robert Stuart, of New town. I will now give a table
showing the connection these. sev ei-al;.tamlhes ,‘ hbe:arjo each
other by generations.

| #55~A 2 in connection with a statement denotes uncertainty in its eorrectuess. -



DESCENDANTS OF DUNCAN STUART AND WIFE ANNE, OF IPSWICH, NEWBURY, ROWLEY.

Ist Gen. |

2d Generation | 3d Genoration. | 4th Goneration | SthGenoration | 6th Generatlon | 7thGeneration | 8thGeneration | 9th Gen.

Duncan
Stuart,
b, 1017
d. 1717
and
wife
Anne.
At Ipé-
wich as

early

as 1638

o T think Savage was mistaken, and that this was Duucan’s son. He evidently did not know the names of Duncan's Rowley sons.

1. Katheriue,
1658. mul.
a Carter (trad.
2. Martha,
1659, md.
a Cartor (trad.
3. Chnrles,
1631-1693.2
4. Flizabeth
1452,
“md. Silvanus
Wentworth,
Nov, 7, 1685.'?
5. James,

1664, md.
Elizwheth ——

6. Menry
1649,

Can 9and 1D
be children
of James or !
John? ,
L

¢ 7. John, 1872
hy lstklizab'th
Dy 2d Elizab'th
8. Samuiel, 187?

{. Jamos, 1088
2. Charles, 16))
2, Bdward, 1693
+. Abigall. 1697
5 Solomon 88
& wife Martha,
#,8enjmu, 170
7. David,1702-9
8, Mosas, 1712,

0. 2 <“Willlam
Stuart married
Abigail<tandly
Mar.3, 1736" in
Boxford record
10. 2 « Georgo
Stuart andwife
Sarah' had in
Boxford record

1. Elizab. 1639,

2. Mary, 1699.
3. Sarah, 1712,

1. Benjamin,
1728-9.

'2, Solomon.
1729-10.

3. Phineas,
1732,

1. Sarah, 1745,
2, William, 1746
8. Georgo,1743
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1st Gon. | 24 Genoration | 8d G'enoi‘at,io_n.*] 4th Generation | SthGeneration | 6th Generation | 7thGeneration | 8thGeneration | 9th Gen. '

Duncan
Stuart.
Contin-

ued.

o 1 fafl tofitid which of thie twosistors marrylng Websters, both of Kingston, was mother to “Esquire” Isaae, and which to “Wildeat" Isanc

9. Ebenczer.
-1879—-1746.2
Cind. EHzabeth
Johnson,

1. Sarah, 1699.
! md. a Webster

2. Robert,

1701—1783. md

Anne Adams,
1705—-1787.

«Iisq." Isanc %
of Deep Brook.
1. Samuel,

1728 —=1767 md,.
GraceHubbard

3. Sarak,
1732, md.
Samuel Chase,

of Newbury,

4, ——
5. Anne,
1736-after-1826
md.
Barnard Hoyt.

G. Mary.

1739 md,
Samuel Chaso,
of Litchfield.

7. Elizabeth, =
1741. nd.
ReubenCur'ier

1. Abigall, md.
Enoch Brown,

2. Samuel,
abt1762a1, 1812
md,
HannahBrown

From her ciame
samuel Stuart
Chase, of Hn
verhill, Mass.

A daughter
md. & Cliftord.

s“Judge' Stuart
Brown, of Vt.
Anothear son &
3 daughters,
1.Robert,md.2t

2. Ruth,
1783—1872.
mad.
Moses Hook,

3. Nathaniel,
md. a Collins,

4. Daniel, md,

5. Polly, md,
Win, Kimball,

6. Grace, md.
Asa Wood.

7. Samuel. md.
Mary Shaw.

8. Abigail, md.
John Wood.

9. John, 1803,
md.
Rhoda Ordway

Weare Clifford
Lowell, Mass.

Haq children.

1. Moses.

2. Danieol Clark
3. Horace H.
4. Ruth Stuart,

5. Sarah ITub'd
md.CP Preston

Had children.

Had children.
A large family

Six children.
No children.
One son.

(_Quit,e a fami'y.

), Warren, also
A daughter,md
Frank J. Lada.

| of Lowell.

Charles H. ' .
Danvers,Mass

XNTINVA I9VALIS THL
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ration | 6th Generation | 7thGoneration | 8thGeneration | 0th Gen,

Ist Gen. |“.2E Generation | 3d Generation. | 4th Goeneration | SthGene

0 . “hor 11 8. Rohert, of | 1. Ebonezer. 1. Sally, o I
Duncan ', 9: Iibonezer & ‘ % ROb‘e”' flbmr Newtox:m, 1770—1847.md | 17071800, i
& Anne 21"“7‘211'0“1 Stu- ~Anne Stuart,o 1743—1519 md | Hann'h Rowell Ebenezer, ‘
vart, of Rowley, | Newtown,Con- | Ruth Currier. o %'800"1:‘308 i
Stuart, : Continued. i tinued. \ 18%!(;?-(: 8'28
. 4. Wm. Rowell | 1, Charles
Coutln 1802—1877.md | 1883, md.
ved. Eliza Marvsh. | Mary Atwood.

3. Richard.
1704, md.
Judith Ponr.

A Richard md 3. Richard W 6, Grs{wobF.,
Mary Fisk. b in ; . . Richard W, Horbort,
Probably [ Boxford, 1749, O Bhenezo | 1830—1866, | ™ { Herman.
Richard's. A Judith md i 4, Hannah F, 1. Eva J..
1 u - | 1841, md. {2, 1za May.
f I:\‘O%i‘;slllmll": ’94:] i S¢illman Clark | 3. Annio  Gar-
m P 5. Bleanor L, field.
1844—1846.
6. Mary Jaue,
1846. md.
4. John. «8arah, daugh- No birth rec- " Alonzo Messor

l» twins; 1707,

4.Flizaheth,mdad
Benj, Webster.

1. Kbenezer,
1723.9,

'l 2. Joseph,1731.

ter of John
Rt u’ art. bap-
tised, Apr. 1729
in Boxford.”

Isanc. &

‘Several others

ord DPer-
haps of this,
or Duncan's
John,

A daughter md
Nath nKimb'll

5. Richard W,
1804—18406. wmd
Eloan'rCurier

7. Rabert,
1813—18351. md
Muary A, Marsh

1. Jonathan,
1815—1880.md,
Nancy Sawyer.
2. David Lo'ell
1823 —-184?

2. Mary Ann,
18381864,
1. George W.
1835 md.
Saraty Currier.
2. Hannah,
died an infant.

1. Alvin,
1847, md.
Dolilalh Smith.

| .

1.11a,

. Addie,

. Eleanor,

. Lucretia,

. Georglana,

= BUG Y T

No children
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1st Gen. | 2d Genoration |

3d Genoration. | 4th Generation | SthGeneration | 6th Generation | TthGeneration | 8thGeneration | 9th Gen.

Duncan
and
Anne
Stuart,
Contin-

ued.

9. Ebenezer &
Elizabeth Stu-
art, of Rowley,
Continued,

2. Robert and
Anne Stuart,of
Newtown,Con-
tinued.

6. Anne,
1712, md.
Samuel Loel,

7. Mercy,
1715. nd.
Ezra Clough,

8. Charles,
1718, nd.
Sarah Fisk.

9. Jane,

1720— md.

Wm. Davis,

8. Rohert, of
Newtown, &
Ruth Currler.
Continued,

Not traced.

i Not traced.

Not traced.

Ebenezer.
And others.

2. Richaxd,
1772—1840. md
Sally Rowell.

8. Sarah,
1775-1848. md.
18t husband,
RichardWhite,

2d husband,
Phillips White

3d husband,

Sam'l Barnard '

4. Robert,
1777 A, at D yrs,

woog G

I (51 (4] [

“1. Robert,
1797-1843. md
Mary Pillsbury

1. Ruth, died
at ¢ 1-3 years.
2. Sarah,
1798-1823. md.
Rufus Hills.

3. Rebhecea,
died at 8 mos.

4. Ruth,
1804-1841, md.
v, Ezra Gale,

3. Richard.
P IBOT- 1365, md,
I Sarah Gale.
6. Phillips,
18121814,
7. Phillips.
1817. nd.
Hannah M,
Brown.

No children.

{ A daught'r nid.
I D. G. Haskins,

! Gilbert Davis ?
Alfred Davis?

1. Richard,
1825~1830. md,
Adaline Bart-
lett.

1. Louisa,

2. A daughter,
One md Asa
Foster,?of Erie,

Sevenchildren
7. Rebecea W,
1841-1871, md,
John Hobson.

Three children

1. Hannah M.
1840. md.
Mr. Merrill
2. Phillips jr.
1842. md.
Mary Palmor.

David G. jr.

Had children.
Has children.

1. ﬁm_y Anng,
1848. md.
Stephen Chase -

2, Ada B.,
1852. md.
Rich'd Sargent

‘ Flavius §,
L1870,

Sarah Foster.?

1. William H,,
1864-1874.

2. Charles 8.

1867-d. 6 wks,

3. George H,
1871,

1. Kate Palmer
1874.

GGl

NI XTIKYVJd IUVIALS dHL

*VOIIKY



st Gcn.ﬁ]-T.'Vd_(,'enerat.ion

| 3ud Gencrntioﬂ?ﬂth Goneration | sthGeneration | 6th Generation | 7thGenoration | sthGeneration | 9th Gen.

i ——e

Georga W.lLee.

Justin T. Cook.

Inecz J. Noyes,

Duncan 9 Ebenezer & . 2. Robert and 8. Rohert, of | 5. Snmuﬁel, i 1. Amos, ‘ |
- Elizabeth Stu- | Anne Stuart,of Newtown, & 178)-1857 md. 1803-1816. L
and ! . N\ Mary Sawyer. 'g Mary '
- art, of Rowley, | Newtown,Con- Ruth Currier. ' 1805-1816 ‘
Anne | Continucd. tinued. Continued. ) '
! 8. Robert, 1. Charles,
Stuart, ‘ . 1310-1845. md. | diedunmarried
Contin I i ' Mary Kimball, .
ontin-
l ! 4. Marilla, 1, Marilla, 1. Harry Lee, | 1. Geo. .
ued. | ; 1811-1887. md. | 1834-1865. md. | 1850, md. 1974
{

0. James,

died at 2 days.

Amos,
1818-1822,

1818-1890.
md.
Alica Wheeler,

|
' 50
Samuel,

2. Caroline,
1835. md.
John lI. Chase.

~

1. Willis, 6.A.w.
1842-1873.

2. Mirviam F.
1843.
3.Walter,¢.A.R
1845-1878.

4. Allison,
1831.

2, Elizabeth J,
1854,

3. Marilln,
1350-1868.

4. Agues A.
1859~

d. Oct. 6, 1809,

1. Florence M.
1838.

*EXOIJIDINXXOD S1I dXV HIOXYU4 410



l-;st Gen.

‘o0 Genoration | 8! Genoration, | 4th Generation | sthGeneration | 6th Generation | 7thGeneration | 8thGeneration | 9th Gen.

Duncan . 9. Ebenezer & . 2. Robert and 8. Rohert, of
| Xlizabeth Stu-; Anne Stuart,of Newtown, &

and

Anne | Continued.

Stuart,
Contin-

ued.

. art, of Rowley,

Newtown,Con-
tinued.

Ituth Currier.
~Continued.

7. John,
1783-1853. md,
Nabby Dow.

1. Betsey.
1806-1819,

2. John,
1808— ? md.
Nancy Tilton,

3. George,
181?2-1878. md.
Emeline Tilton

!

i 4. Newell,

\ diedunmarried
i
' .

5. Loulsa, md.
i Gilbert Davis,

' 8. Charles,
1819-1338,

7. Hiram,

* born ab't 1825,
i died young.

! 8, Hazen, born
I abt 1827.md. d.

9, Frank,
. 18831-1833.

1, Anne E,,
died young,

2 John F,,
died young.

3. JosephineA.
$833. md.

Dr. Brennan,

1. Geo. Edwin,
1837-1881.c.A n

2. Flizabeth,
1841. wmd.
Chandler Per-

ham.

1. Franklin,
1833-1838,
Other children

One child.

—_——

Had children.

1. Geo. Stuart,
1871-6 days.
2. Graecs 1.,
1876-1878.

8. Frank Stuart
1881.

174!
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18t Gen. | 2d Generation | 3 Generation.

'|"4t,h Geueration T.’)thGeneratlou | 6th Gencration | TthGeneration | sthGeneration | 9t

h Gen.

Duncan
and
Anne
Stuart,
Contin-

ued.

t

9. Bbenezer &
Llizaheth Stu-
art, of Rowley,
Continued.

Continued.

|

. 2. Robert and 8. Rohert, of
Aune Stuart,of Newtown,
Newtown,Con- Ruth Currier.
tinued.

&

8. Joseph,
1785-1836. md.
Rebecen Bell.

1. Sarah White
1810-1880

2. Rebecca,
1812, md.
Chas. 8 French

A, Rohert,
1814-1884. md.
Harriett M.
Blodgett.

4. Ruth I,
1816. md.
SamlJ. Varney

5. Mary Jane,

1818-infuncy.

6. Richard,
1321-1838.

7. Mary Jane.
1823-1842.

1. Mary R,
1835-1838,

2. Mary I,
1839. md.

Josiah Buflett.

3, Sarah Jane,
1840-18717.

‘4, Charles W,

1854. md,

Ella Foster.

1.Emma White
1851. md.

Leonard V.

Parish.

2, Sarah Jane,
1852. md.
Thowmas.l.Noll.

3. Charles,
died at 2 yrs.

1. Edward 8.,
1853.

2. Samuel 1. jr.

1833-1872,

1. Harrlett J.,
1876.

2. Edith May,
1881,

1. Ollie R.
1883.

. Charles W,,
1887.

. Addio Ln
1889.

]

o

1.Leon'rd W.jr,
2. John Carl,
3. Mabel,

4. Ariel.

1. Grace .
2, Ashley J.
3. Amy W.
4, Warren 8,

|
3

Iy pasp——
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ist Gen. | 24 Generation | 3d Genoration. | 4th Generation | sthGeneration | 6th Generitlion | TthGeneration | 8thGeneration | 6th Gen.

Dunecan
& Anne
Stuart,

Contin-

ued.

0. ¥henezer
Stuart and

. Elizabieth

Johuson,
Cantinued.

2. Robert and 8.|IobertSlunrb'8. Joseph and
of Newtown, & Rebecen Bell

Anne Adams
Stuart,
Countinuced.

Tuth Currier,
Continued.

Stuart.
Coutinued.

9. Mary,
1787-1876. md.
Joseph French

8. Joseph A.,

| 1825, md.

‘ Anne ..JJ. Flan.
ders,1830-1890,

0. Edward A,,
1827-1832,

1. Charles 8.,
1812-1872 md,
RebeccaStuart

2. Mary Ann,
1815. md.
William Hillis,

3. John Robert

1819-1890. md.
FrancesRogers

4. Joseph A,,
1822-1887. md,
1st, Mary John-
son,

2d, Rachel
Dunn.

8. Frances R.,
= 1824,

1. Sidney E,

1857, mad.,
Florenco

Livingston,

2, Josephine B.
‘1859,

3. Fred A,
1860 md,
Mary E.McKay

8eoe Rebecen
Stuart, p.123.

1 Edw'd R.1848
2. Howard 1852

8. John Rogers
1855—1833.
1. Frank J.1852
md.
— Haverstick.

2. GeorgeD.md
Frances Gano.

8. Clara F,
1858~ 1888,

4. JosephStuart
1860.

1. Ruth, 1800.

9, Lahett L.
1892.

8. Sidney E. jr.
1893

1. Ray, 1888.

2. Archer Bel),
1801,

1. Stuart.
2. William.

1. Cora L. 1884
2. Ruth. 1886.
8. Clara, 1888.

4. Joseph A,,
1889,

P —e—— Y
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Ist Gen.\l 2d Generation | 3d Generation. | 4th Generation | 5yhGeneration | 6th Generatlon | TthGeneration | 8thGeneration | 9th Gen.

Dunean
and
Anno
Stuart,
Contin-

ved.

9 Ebenezer & 2. Robert and
Elizabeth Stu- Anne Stuart,of
art, of Rowley, Newtown,Con-
Continued, " tinued.

8. Rohert, of
Newtown, &
Ruth Currier.
Continued.

9. Mary Stuart
and
Joseph French.
Coutinued.

10. Ruth,
1792-1870, md.
Daniel Hobson

6. Sarah L., |
1829, md.
1st. Charles B.

Flint.

|
2nd, Stephen

Gano.

1, John Henry,
21824, md, 1st,
Rebecea Gale, |

2nd, Hannah
R. Foster.

caenoe .,

No children.

1. MaryR.,1850.
unmarried,

19, Andrew B.,

1858. wd.
Belle .

"3. Frances F.,

1839. md.
Geo.D. French,

4. Henrietta M,
1862.
unmarried,

5. Stephen jr,

1843. md.
Sophie Avons.

8. Cora May,
1863-18740,

1. William H,,
18641874,
2, Charles §,,
1837-6 wks.
8. Geo. Henry,
1871,

No children,

1. Blanche,
1885.
2. Graco. 1888,

1 Cora I..,1884.
2. Ruth, 1886.
8. Clara, 1888.
4. Joseph A,
1889.

1. Howard F.,,
1849,

2. Paniel, 1890.

3. Margueretto
1892,

!
1

|
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128 THE STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA.

APPENDIX.

O
A4

A.

ORIGIN OF, AND DIFFERENT MODES OF SPELLING
THE NAME OF STUART.

—_——

There are two accounts current respecting the origin of
the surname Stewart, Stuart, Steunart, very rarely Steward.
One which seems to have wide credence, though perhaps it
has little if any documentary evidence to substantiate it, is
as follows :—¢¢ Banquo, Thane of Lochabyr, was Steward to
Duncan I, King of Scotland. Upon his murder by Macbeth,
his son Fleance fled into Wales, (1055) where he married a
daughter of a chief named Griffith ar Llewellyn. The son
of Fleance, Walter, returned to Scotland and was created
Lord High Steward of Scotland by Maleolm III, surnamed
Canmore, which office became hereditary in his family.”—
"This seems to be the version accepted by Shakespeare in his
“‘Macbeth”. 'The Walter of this account died in 1113.

‘The other account is that given by Burke in ¢Royal Fam-
ilies of kngland, Scotland and Wales.” It is corroborated
by documeutary evidence, and would appear to be the more
trustworthy of the two. (It is barely possible, however,
that the names Fleance and Flaald refer to the same person,
the latter a Norman form of the former; in which case the
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two accounts might lose some of their opposing character,
the more so when we observe that the town ¢‘Oswestry,” in
the county of Salop is close to the Welsh border, and that
as an expatriated Scotchman, bearing no fealty to Harold,
who had carried the head of Griffith to England, he might
bave joined the Normans on that account, and perhaps hoping
to recover lost rights in Scotland ; though thissecond Walter
would be a2 grandson.) This other account is as follows :—
‘‘Alan, the son of Flaald, a Norman, soon after the Con-
quest, obtained a grant of the castle of Oswestry, County of
Salop, and occurs as ‘‘Alanus Flaaldi filius”—Alan, son of
Flaald. He married the daughter and keiress of Warine,
Sheriff of Shropshire, (Salop,) of the time of William the
Conqueror, aud had three sons :-1.-William, whose descend-
ants became Earls of Arundel and Dukes of Norfolk ;—
2. Walter, who founded the House of Stewart; 3. Simon,"
who is said to have founded the family of Boyd, from whom
the Earl of Errol derives. This son, Walter Fitz Alan, is a
witness to a charter by King David I in favor of the church
of Glasgow, dated at Cadzow in the earlier part of the 12th
century, and bad granted to him by the same monarch the
office of Steward of Scotland. In 1160 he founded the
Monastery of Paisley for monks of the Cluniac Order from
the Convent of Wenlock, in his own native county of Salop.
He died in 1177, leaving by his wife, Eschina, daughter of
““Thomas de Londoniis” and heiress of Molla and Huntlaw,
in Boxburyshire, an only son, Alan. |
This son Alan, Lord High Steward of Scotland, occurs as
a witness to two charters of William the Lion, and died in
1204. The eldest son, Walter, inherited his office and ob-
tained in 1230 the office of Justiciary. He is witness to a
charter by Alexander II, under the designation ¢‘Walterus
Alani filius, Sencschallus, Justiciar Scotiz.” His oldest son
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and heir, Alexander, succeeded him in 1283, and he was in
.turn succeeded by his son, James, in 1309. h
- "Walter, the son and heir of James, had a glorious though
short career, dying in 1326, in his thirty-third year. : He
.commanded a division of the army at Bannockburn, and he
:held with distinction other high oflices. ‘His second wife
was Marjorie, daughter of Robert Bruce, King of Scotland,
and through her bis son Robert succeeded to the throne of
Scotland in 1371 as Robert I1.” ,
. 'The name, originally and most generally spelt Stewart was
ﬁrst spelt Stuart by Mary, Queen of Scots, who probably
made the change to adapt it to the French alpbabet.: This
:spelling, whether adopted first by her or not, is now that
.ased by historians to ..~ represent the earlier
members of the name, though certain fami-
lies still retain the old spelhng, while others
cling to the oldest form of Steward.
. . With the material at my command ‘I have

endeavored to repra- sent the form and col-
ors of the original shield adopted by the
first of the name as a coar OF ARMS, desgbed in heraldry
a8 ““OR; A FESS CHEQUY, ARGENT AND:AZURE.”
‘This in plain English would mean—A golden shield ; with a
bar across its center, divided into blue and white checks.

Burke gives about one huadred variations of this coat of
arms as used by various branches of the family, all contain-
ing the original as the distinguishing characteristic.

This is given as the origin of the numerous families of
Steward, Stewart, Stuart, and sometimes Steuart. The
writer, however, would remind the descendants of Duncan
in America that he evidently belonged to the workers of the
hive, not to the drones or queenly royalty; and.though he
bore kingly Scottish names that should place him' among the
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Highlands, in the opinion of the Scotch Registrar, MacLEeoD,
his hirtk-place and parentage are still unsettled problems ;
and those of our family who may have hugged the delusive
phantom of possible royal descent may delude themselves
no longer, but content themselves with eertainty of legitimate
descent. If from the Earl of Moray we would find a record.

The Old Stewart or ¢‘clan” tartan was a plaid having 152
threads tothe square or figure, which is represented below :
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In the foregoing illustration lack of space compelled the
withdrawal of two threads from the broad bands of black
and one each from the broad green, also a thread from one
broad blue. Otherwise it is as given in Authenticated Tar-
tans of the Clans and Families of Scotland, by William and
Andrew Smith, published in 1850. Tn this Old Stewart, or
Clan plaid the series in number and color of threads is in the
following order :—3 red, 10 black, 2 red, 10 black, 3 red,
12 green, 2 black, 2 blue, 2 black, 12 green, 2 black, 2 blue,
-2 black, 12 green, 3:Ted, 10 black, 2 red, 10 blacks 3 red, -
12 blue, 2 black, 2 green, 2 black 12 blue, 2 black, 2 green,

2 black, 12 blne the warp and- -woof of the same series of
numbers and colms of threads

The clan badO'e was the thistle. |
Tartans, though distinctive of clans and families, were
~ not invariable, and frequently different branches of a clan-
- or family would adopt new tartans, generally variations of
the original. Of this clan tartan a later, or what is now the
~ “Stuart plaid” or tartan is an instance, having a figureof 142
threads, one more than half of whichis of a bright red, ap-
proaching scarlet, as is also the ¢* Modified Stuart,” of 17 w
threads, wornby ¢¢ Prince Charhe” and the 72nd Reglment i
of which 59 are red, and the blue of a paler color than that
of the ¢ Stuart,” which is quité bright. The Stmart tartan -
has its numbers and colors of threads arranged as follows:
"5 blue, 7 black, 2 yellow, 2 black, 2 white, 2 black, 12
green, 7 red, 2 black, 2 red, 2 white, 2 red, 2 black, 7 red,
12 green, 2 black, 2 Whlte, 2 black, 2 yellow, 7 black, 5
blue, 54 red. This is illustrated on the next page with the
full number of threads in the figure, or square.
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APPENDIX B.

O
A4

“JOHN OF NEWBURY.”
L | .
None of those assisting me in the investigation can find
anything to give cerlainty or even color to Savage’s suppo-
sition that his ‘‘ John of N eiwbury" was the son of Alexan-
der, of Charlestown, Mass. . He evidently did not know the
names of his ‘‘three more” to Duncan. The Newbury rec-
ord of this John and Duncan’s James stop together; John’s
wife died Dec.. 20, 1689, and James’ Charles born Jan. 16,
1690 ; then both are at Rowley, John being taxed £1 9s. 4d.
in the earliest tax list in Rowley extant, 1691. Gage, in
his History of Rowley says that Duncan and. his sons were
the first shipbuilders in Rowley at Rowley landing. Norde
we find reference to any other John Stuart in ibe deed of .
1718, or till Duncan’s grandson John, signs a deed to Richs;
‘ard Stuart, styling himself John Stuart, Jr., husbandman,
of Rowley, son of Ebenezer, the designation Jr. instead of
2nd, implying that, though not this John’s father, the elder
John was a very near relative.
The only other John we find mentioned as of Rowley was
John Stewart, the weaver, of Georgetown-Rowley and of
WestParish, Haverhill, who was put under bonds to support
the male child of a Miss Peaslee, and my informant thought,
he married the widow Margaret Gage, of Rowley in 1749 ; he
also having an impression that this John came after 1700,
. starting in company with .a brother, a doctor, who was lost
overboard on the way here. All the records go to sustain
the theory that John of Newbury was a son of Duncan rather
than of Alexander, of Charlestown. Of Alexander Savage
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fays, ‘“Alexander, Charlestown, Mass., shipwright, perhaps
brother to Duncan, named with children, James and John,
by his wife Hannah, in the will, Jan. 1669, of her grandfa-
ther, Richard Pritchard, of Charlestown, of whom I suppose
James died young, but toth prohably born in another town ;
had at Charlestown, Hannzh, Samuel and Margaret all with
John baptised 9 May, 1675, the mother having died on the
21st August preceding. Had come to Charlestown from
another town not known ; removed to Marlboro, married a
second or third wife ; died 6 April, 1731.” |

I bis svpposition of Savage that Jobn of Newbury was a
son of Alexander has led us all upon a wild goose chase to
tnd Duncan’s John. A Mrs. Berry, of Washington, D. C.,
an aunt to Lt. Commander Joseph G. Eaton, U. S. N., at
her death turned over to me as the nearest she knew of the
family name, certain scholarship medals won by ‘Charles
Stuart in the Boston schools in 1824 ; also a Phi Beta Kappa
hiadge of silver, dated September 5, 1781, engraved on the
other side with {he name Charles Stuart. On inquiry of the
Secreta1y of Harvard University I learn that ¢¢ Charles Stu-
crt, class cf 1£30, was the son of John Stuart, of Boston;
as to the kadge of 1781, the Assistant Librarian does not
krow fiem what College Scciety it was given, but he does
pot thirk it a Harvaid tadge.” ¢<John Steunart, class ef
1724, came from Boston, father’s name unknown, entered
college Sept. 22, 1720, at the age of fifteen years.” (In
San Francsico is a Steuart Street, from which it appears
that a branch of the family still spell the name thus. This
¢arly Harvard record, while evideuce of a Boston family of
the nanie at an early date, gave no clue to connect it with
the Jobn of either Duncan or Alexander.

From the similarity of names given by the ¢¢ Stewarts of
Londonderry” and by Duncan to their children Mr. Preston
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thought that ¢:Proprietor” John, of Londonderry (will of
1741) might be Duncan’s John; or that the John (will of
1786) might be Ebenezer’s son, and grandson of Duncan.
My son Sidney E. writes:—*¢I find that The Londonderry
Stewarts are not of our branch. They are descended from
royal blood, and had to skip to Ireland; and from there a
son came over here about 1718. The Stewarts of neighbor-
ing New Hampshire towns are probably from that branch.
The Colerain, Mass. Stewart, (near Deerfield,) was James,
who went there an early settler from Concord, Mass. about
1742. The Colerain historian thinks this.James ‘was Scotch-
Irish, and perhaps the James Stewart who made himself fa-
mous about the time of the seige of Londonderry, Ireland.””
Mr. Walter Gibson, 12 Boylston Place, Boston, sends me
the following notes taken by him concerning the Londonderry
Stewarts, from whom he traces descent. They may serve
to assist future investigators in efforts to solve some of his
problems as also to show that our two branches are entirely
distinct. 1 give his notes verbatim :— |

A LONDONDERRY STEWART FAMILY. -
BY WALTER GIBSON, BOSTON, MASS.

R, S—

The earliest record we have of John Stewart, of Loadoa-
derry, N. H., (will of 1786,) was oa April 23, 1736, when
he bougit of James and Sarah Cochran, of Andover, Mass.,
land in Londouderry which they had bought Oct. 22, 1733,
of Samuel Houston, of Londonderry. Tradition in the family
of his son Thomas, of Henniker says that John was called
*“ The Minister’s Lad,” and that he came to this country, or
to Londonderry at the age of twelve or fourteen. Ilz was
probably not younger than 21 in 1736, when he bought of
the Cochrans, nor than 20 in 1735, when his second son,
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Samuel, was born. If he was fourteen in 1719, when Lon-
donderry was settled, he was born in 1705. He could not
have been boin much later than 1715, and therefore was be-
tween 71 and 81 at his death. The minister referred to was
doubtless the Rev. Jamnes MacGregore. Was John that
servant of MacGregore who had a half-lot laid out in 17197

Six of his children survived him :—~Robert, of New Roston ;
Samuel, of Dunbarton; John Jr., of Litchfield; Thomas,
of Henniker; Elizabeth, wife of Samuel Gibson, Jr., of
Merrimack ; and Margaret, wife of James Humphrey, of
Londonderry. Adam Stewart, the loyalist, who married
Sarah (Iairservice) Paul, and lived in Londonderry and in
Poston, and who died before John made his will, may have
been his son, as Elizabeth Gibson had a son, Adam Gibson,
who may have been named after the tory; also Matthew, of
New Boston (will of 17532) may have been another son.

I suspect that Robert, of Nottingham West, (now Hud-
son, N. H.,) there as early as 1764, who for $1000 deeded
on April 4, 1798, 200 acres at Musquash Brook to Francis
and John Stewart, of Nottingham West, of being Robert, of
' New Boston, the son of John, (will of 1786,) or some other
near relative. John is not to be confounded with John, of .
I.ondonderry, the Proprietor, wko died in 1741, or his son,
John Jr., who went to Windham. John Jr.. of Litchfield,
also had a Musquash Brook property. Samuel, of Dunbar-
ton deeded lend to Robert, of Nottingham West, Sept. 2,
1799. A Robert, of Nottingham West deeded land border-
ing on that of Barnabas Gibson to John Hathorne, of Salem.
A Robert is called a cooper in 1803. July 20, 1802, Rob-
ert and Adam Stewart, of Nottingham West, deeded land in
Pelham to David Sawyer.—Witnesses :-Samuel Gibson Jr.
and Samuel Morrison. (The name of Robert Stewart is a
familiar one to Hudson people of the present day as that of
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a resident landowner in *¢ Musquash District.” J. A. S.)
Adam, the tory died in 1777 or 78, and could not have been
the Adam of this deed, who was probably a son of Robert,
of 1764.

John, (will of 1786) in 1760 or 61 got judgment of £33
in Portsmouth against Sarah Bryant, of Londonderry. Who
was she? Who has seen the Portsmouth record ?

Possibly he stopped at Andover, Mass., and was related

to the Stewarts there, who were known to be relatives of the
‘¢ Proprietor” John, (will of 1741.)
- In 1753 or 63 he deeded land bounded by that of John
Steele, Samuel Morrison, Benjamin Thompson and John
Stewart’s part of meadow, to Rev. James Me. Gregore in
consideration of a deed given him. He also bought Nov.
26,1740, land of Francis Richey, wharfinger, of Boston, and
Mar. 19, 1747 Leverett’s meadow of John Adams of Lon-
donderry. - He also bought land in 1754 of Daniel and Mar-
tha Mc Niel, of Derrytield, and in 1756 land of Ephraim
Bushnell, of Derryfield. One of his deeds was witnessed by
Col. Stephen Holland, the famous loyalist, and either he or
his son John jr. of Litchfied and his son Thomas, of Henni-
ker petitioned the New Hampshire Legislature in Holland’s
behalf. He did not abjure the Pope with most of his fellow
townsmen, and may therefore have been a Romanist. He
probably was a loyalist as he refused to sign the Association -
Test in 1776, although two of his sons subseribed. All this
confirms my opinion that Adam, the martyred loyalist, [see
N. H. State Papers-Sabine’s Loyalists, ] was lus son.

Elizabeth Gibson, daughter of John Stewart, had a son
Gabriel. Was he named for Gabriel Barr, a brother of Col."
Samuel Barr, and brother or son of John Barr, of Ballymo-
ney, Ireland? Col. Samuel Barr’s three daughters, Jean,
Margaret and Mary, married Daniel Hall, Robert, son of



OUR,.BRANCH AND ITS CONNECTIONS. 139

Williami Humpbrey, and Samuel, a grandson of Samuél Alli-
Gon.’ ~Were these three sisters neices of John Stewart’s w1fe,
who probably died ‘prior-to. 1786? . (zabriel Barr courted
kachel Wilson forty years and never married because they
dttended: different Presbyterian churches; and at bis death
{u 1776 made his will in favor of his ‘*kinsman, John Barr,
and Mary his wife.” . This John was probably a nephew of
Gabriel, and son of Col. Samuel. Jean Barr, wife of Hugh
Jameson, was probably a sister of Gabriel. Robert Barr,
of Ireland, of the petition to Gov. Shute 1n 1719 was prob-
ahly a brother or some near relative of John Barr. On Apr.
5, 1766, John Humphrey and Martha, his wife, for £40,
granted to John Stewart land formely belonging to William
Humphrey. It was near land of Gabriel and Samuel Barr.
The witnesses were Jean and Samuel Barr. If the wife of
John Stewart was not a Barr, who was she?
. I have endeavored in vain to connect John, (will of 1786)
with the following family :—Robert Stewart, of Edinboro,
born 1655, a Scotch laird, who had two brother_s. Alexander
and Adam. He -had five children:— _ . .
- I. John, born 1682, married Elizabeth, died in 1741 at
Londondem}, N. H. His children were :—
" 1. Charles; 2, Rolelt 3. James, of Colerain, Mass; 4.
John jr., of Windham, N.H., born 1711, mariied Rebecca.
. Patten; 5. Samuel, (prohablj of Colerain?,) Lorn about
1713 or 14 ; 6. Mary, born 1716; 7. Joseph, born 1721
8. Margsret. "Lhe children of Samuel, of Colerain, Mass..
and Salem, N. Y. were :— 1.* ¢ Capt.” John, born 1743,
~ the grandfather of Congressman J. W. Stewart, of Vt;

. % Could this be the John Stewart of Bennington, Vt., 1765 to 1769, and engaged with
Fthan Allen in the resistance ta the Sherifi’ of Albany County, N. Y,? Or the General
John Stewart, who came to Brattleboro. Vt. from Royalston, Mass. about 1772 with his
wife, Ruth Newton, of Royalston, and had ten children. five of them being sons, and
died in 1812, as reported by D. L. Mansfield, Esq., Historian of Brattlebora. J.A.S.
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2. Robert, born 1748 ;* 3. Rebecca, born 1750 ; 4. Mary,

born 1753 ; 5. Hannah, born 1755; and 6. Adam, born

1758. Inglis Stewart, a lawyer, of New York City, is
the genealogist of this family.

II. Robert, probably of Glasgow, bcotl‘md Andover,
Mass. ; and Amherst, N. H. "He had two sons :—

1. John, who married Keturah Holt in 1741 ;

2. Samuel, born 1716, who married Sarah .
III. Julia.
IV. Ann.

V. Samuel, probably of Andover; and Executor of the
will of John, (l 741,) and father of John, (will of 1786.)

The children of John Stewart. (will of 1786,) were :—
- 1. Robert, lived in New Boston and perhaps Nottingham
West. He married Sarah , but had no children. His
wife deserted him Oct. 20, 1805,.and he paid her board in
land in New Boston to.John Hogg, of Ackworth, formerly
of Weare, and probably the son of Thomas and Hannah
Hogg, of Weare whose names were changed to Moore Dec.
29, 1503, also the nephew or brother of Agnes Hogg, who.

tardond ]
married Thomas Stewart of Henniker. As Thomas Hogg

" & The removal of Samuel. of Colerain to Salem. N. Y. leads me to judge that the
following from tIEMENwaAY's VERMONT HIis1oRmICcAL GA4ETTE iR, vol. L, pp. 19 to 2L

should find a place here in the records of the Colerain Stewarts:— Samuel Stewart,
the first permanent settler of Pocock, (now Bristol,) Vermont, was a soldier of the
Revolution; was in the battle of Buanker Hill; went with Arnold in his detachment
that peunetrat-d the wilderness by the wiy of Kennebec River; was at the assault on
Quebee; and after the fall of Montzomery, his term of service having expired, he re-
-turne:l home,  Hesoon after married Eliz wbeth Abbott, of Pawlet, and REvoveED To
sALEM, N. Y ; from thence to Scheensboro (Whitehall) ; and from thence to Bristol
inJune 1786 where he continued b reside till the full of 1317, when he removed to
Royalston with an ox team, being fifty-one days on thz journey. He was.one. of the
first Board of Selectmen of Bristol; had twelve children; was a bold and resolute
man, and died in Royalston, Aug. 17, 1827, aged 73, (This would ‘place his birth in
1749.) The first white person born in Bristol was Mary Stewart, daughter of Samuel
Stewart, the first settler; she married Capt. Saxton and was living in New Bergh, O.

in 1863. Arnold’s detachment consisted of ten companies of New Ihmpshm: t.roops

two of Virzinia and one of Pennsyivania.” ’
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had a sister Sarah, Robert’s wife may have been that Sarah,
and therefore a sister or aunt of Agnes.

2. Samuel, born 17385; he went to Dunbarton and was
Town Treasurer from 1775 to 1781. He married Agnes,
daughter of Daniel and Esther (Rankin) Clyde, and died
childless in 1803, aged 6&. March 4, 1775, he bought land
of James Hogg, and on May 10, 1798, for $§1800 he sold 170
acres to Eberezcr Chase.  Agnes died in 1835 or6, aged 93.

3. Elizabeth, born in 1738. Before 1764 she mnarried
Samuel jr., son of Samuel and Ann (Mackafee) Gibson, of
Boston in 1733, who in 1741 were first settlers of Hillsboro,
They were the parents of John Gibson, of Francestowu, who
buiit the second New Hampshire turnpike.

4. John jr., born in 1749. He married Martha Gibson,
a sister of Samuel jr.; of Merrimack. He had no children.

5. Margaret, married James Humphrey, of Londenderry,
probably a son or graudson of William and Mary, the im-
migrants. Robert Humphrey, who married Samuel Barr’s
daughter, was of Canesbush, Albany Co., N. Y., in 1777.
Jarmes Humphrey, of Loodonderry, deeded land to Boutelle,
of Leominster May 7, 1787, and acknowledged the deed at
Antrim, Cct. 23, 1792. James Humphrey, of Duriresboro,
N. Y., Nov. 20, 1804, deeded land to Agnes Stewart, the
wife, probally, of Thomas, of Henniker, or Samuel of Dun-
barton. Margaret has no record of children.

6. Thomas, married Agnes, or Nancy Hogg. He had no
other wife. The mistake of the Historian of Henniker was
due to the fact that the name of Hogg had been charged to
Moore. He was drowned in the Contoocook.

7. Adam.(7) He may-have been a son, as he was of
Londonderry. He was the Bosion carter and carpenter who
bought land in Londonderry in 1771 of Robert and Hannah
Fairservice, of Boston. On Sept. 25, 1770 he married the
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widow Sarah (Fairservice) Paul. She may have been the
- widow of James Paul, the Londonderry trader. She sur-
vived Adam and married a Vernon. Adam was a loyalist,
and was seized in September, 1777 and carried to Roxbury
and Dedham fastened to a cart. Adam’s will, dated Sept.
10, 1778, was proved Sept. 25, 1778. Col. Samuel Barr,
possibly his uncle, tried to save him by an affidavit, (sup-
pressed in State Papers by Dr. Bouton.)

1 fail to connect definitely the Robert Stewart who mar-
ried Lydia Blair in Andover Feb. 22, 1733, and the tax
payer from 1722 to 1742 with Robert of Glasgow. Robert,
of Andover had a son Samuel, besides the Samuel of Ando-
" ver, executor to the estate of his brother, the ‘‘Proprietor,”
yet no Samuel was taxed in Andover. A William Stewart
was a tax payer in Andover from 1741 to 1747. A William
bought land in Chester, N. H. in 1727 ; and there was one
of that name in Soubegan West in 1743. Who were they?”

(The Town Clerk of Londonderry sends me the following
as ¢‘all that can be found in the records :—:John Stewart,
the son of John Stewart and Jean his wife, was born Jan.
29, 1737.°” I cannot connect this wife’s name or this birth
with any of Mr. Gibson’s notes, or of others. Mr. Preston
sends me an abstract of the will of John Stewart, of Lon-
derry, dated 7th of June, 1736, ¢ to sons Robert, John,
Samuel, Thomas, and daughters Elizabeth Gibson and Mar-
garet Humphrey; Inventory, £1826. Probated 20th Dec.,
1786.” According to this abstract John should have been
the second son in place of Samuel; and as Mr. Gibson says
John’s wife was probably a Barr, in which family Jean is
found, this birth record may refer to John, (will of ’86.)

Mr. Preston also sends me some records concerning the
family of ¢¢ Proprietor” John that may be of interest to that
branch. This John leaves his property to ¢‘wife Elizabeth,
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‘son Charles, granddoughter Mary, sons Robert, James, John,
Samuel, Joseph, and daughter Margaret.” The Executors,
-were Charles and Samuel. Inventory, £1259. The will
was dated April 3, 1741 and was probated June 24, 1741.
The following from Mr. Preston seem to refer to members
of this family :—*¢ In 1744 William Aken and Margaret, his
wife, cold right in her father John’s estate to Charles Stew-
art.” Also *“Jobhn Stewart, Windham, 26 Aug. 1748; Ad-
ministration grarnted to widow, Rebecca Stewart. Land io
Windham, Cobbet’s Pond, ete. Total inventory, £8607.”
The early dates of the following show they refer to some
other famiiy:—¢¢In 1712 Charles Steward of Hampton
bought land.” ¢¢‘Charles Steward, Hampton Falls, Black-
emith; Administration granted to Jonathan Steward, of
same place.” ¢¢In 1714 Mary Stewart, wife of James Stew-
art, of Portsmouth, sold land.” I find no place for this :—
¢* Walter Stewart, of Londonderry and Grizel, his wife, sold
land in 1726.”—The marriage of Walter Stewart and Giziell
Crumey, of Boxford, J—. 18, 1722 is reported to me by the
gentlemanly Town Clerk of Boxford, John W. Parkhurst.
TLere was a David Stewart or Stuart, of Kensington, N,
H. who died 1788, and administration granted to his widow,
Abigail, who was also the guardian to their children, David,
Jonathan and Josiah. David left land in Kensington, Hamp-
ton and Pittsfield, with an inventory of £372. He may be
a possible connection of the Charles, of Hampton, in spite of
the mode of spelling the name; and Charles may be the son
of Duncan’s Jamcs, and Mary the wife of James’ James, as
these sons would have been respectively 22 and 26 years old
/upon the dates of these Ceeds. Duncan’s name seems to be
spelt in deeds up to 1707 as Steward, and James’ son may
have retained the cldest spelling, as Samuel, of Wells, in
tbe deed t'y Duncan’s sons in 1718 held to the Stewart of
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the deed of 1708. Savage has a Joseph, of Salisbury, with
a son Joseph, but I fail to find any farther tracz of them.

Mr. Gibson sends me notes of other Stewarts than those
of Londonderry, and which cannot belong to our branch :—
*John Stewart, of Haveraiil, Mass., Antrim and Unity, N.
H., born in 1727, and said to have mixed bloo:d in his veins,
married Abigail Phipps, of Gloucester, Mass., bornin 1725
August 30, 1766, was made guardian of John Stewart. jr. in
respect to property left by his grandfather Stewart or Phipps.
This John jr., born 1758, married his relative, Jean Stew- .
art, a daughter of John Stewart, of Merrimack, N. H. (will
of I776.) She was a sister of John jr., who married Mary
Barron ; of Thomas, who married Sarah McCalley ; William,
a soldier; Francis, born 1761 ; Rachel; Sarah; James; and
Agnes. They could not be first cousins, as their fathers
were both named John. This John Stewart is not to be con-
founded with John, the weaver, of Georgetown-Rowley and
Sweet Hill, West Parish, Haverhill, (will of 1784,) who mar-
ried Susan Mitchell and Margaret ,» (probably Margaret,
the widow of David Gage of Bradford, formerly of Rowley.”
The first book of Rowley marriages says ¢ Mr. John Stewart
and widow Margaret Gage, both of Rowley, married 5 Sept.
1749.” 'The prefix Mr. in those days meant ¢*Master” or a
schoolteacher, and as Duncan’s John was a blacksmith, 83
years old, and Ebenezer’s John, had been of Newbury since
1744, and neither had ever been given this title, this mar-
riage can hardly refer to either. Bradford being also oppo-
site Haverhill the bridegroom might be a Haverhill man that
had formerly been of Rowley as well as the bride, Margaret
(Harriman,) the widow of Jonathan Boynton, of Rowley,
and of David Gage, of Bradford. J. A. S.)

Mr. Gibson adds ¢* I have a dim recollection that I have
made a note that John, the weaver, came to America with a
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JOHN THE WEAVER AND TEACHER.

g
A

Mr. George William Stewart, 15, Eighth Street, Lowell,
Mass, sends me copies of the will and other records he finds
concernicg John Stewart, the Weaver and Teacher, tracing
his own ancestry to him by Susanna Mitchel. The will was
dated Oct. 4, 1784, and probated Jan. 5, 1785. Entries
in the private records of Rev. Samuel Bacheller of the Third
Church of Baverhill read :—¢¢ Mr. John Steward died Nov.
4, 1784.” He also found in the same book records of the
leptism of Sareh, daughter of John Stewart and his Wife,
in January, 1755; the addition of ¢ wpon her (the wife’s)
account, who is o Mcmber of The Church,” and of John, upon
his wife’s account, in June, 1756, show that they were young
children brought by their mother for baptism. The dates
give to these children Margaret for their mother, while the
gift in the will to his daughter Susanna of the ‘¢ Household
Goods left by her late mother,” and to his daughter Sarah
his Loom and Tackling” are evidence that it was John, the
Weaver who married Margaret Gage, and the title Mr. again
accorded him shows he was a School Master. Thongh not
of our branch I present that family’s record as given me.

1 2 3 4 5
John Stewart, —1. James, b.
md. Oct. 8, 1736.
Susanna 2. Mary,
Mitchel. t. 21, 1788
Mar.9,17356. oV 2%
Dan!, Gilmore.
3. James, ——William, 1. Philip, ——-—1. James P.,
b.Jan.8,1748-4. md. b. atSpringfield. Nav. Vet., md.
md. Anna Sargent. N.H.July 23.1815 2. John Alonzo
Sarah d. at Billerica, Army Vet.
Rawlings. Apr. 22. 1879. 3. MaryEvalyn_
Nov. 23, 1769. 2. Alanson.————1. George Wm.
2nd wife 4. Susanna. Bow, N. H,, July 2. Mabel E.

13,1820.d. byan 3. Nettie A.

MargaretGage,~5. S8arah, md, accident at Sun- all married.

Sept. 5,1749, at James Miller. cook,Feb.11,1869.
Rowley, Mass. 6. Anna. _ 3. John Chappin, b. at Lowell, Aug.
7. Margaret. 18, 1825, killed at Petersburg, June

8. John. 17, 1864.



My correspondent, George William Stewart, under date
of Jan. 13, 1896, adds:—¢I have received a letter from
George B. Blodgett, Esq., of Rowley. He writes to me:
«¢I had supposed that your John left no sons, as his suc-
cessor on the place here, a Stewart Hunt, whom I supposed
to be a grandson of John the Weaver, came from Billerica
a full-grown man. I now live on the land formerly occu-
pied as a homestead by your John.”” 1In his will John the
Weaver mentions his daughter Mary as the wife of David
Gilmore to distinguish her from his step-daughter, Mary
Boynton, who married James Stewart, (See page 148,) and
I think this James was the farmer brother our traditions say
came over with John, a third brother, a doctor, being lost at
sea on the way over. A grandson of this Mary is now a
resident of Concord, N. H.”

This seems to clear the somewhat mixed character of the
unions between the Stuarts or Stewarts and Boyntons. Mr.
Stewart remarks :—¢¢ I now know something about collecting
notes for a family record, and I can truthfully say that it is
not all ¢‘fun,” neither is the path full of roses.” 1 think I
first put him on the right track by showing that he could not
come from ¢¢Proprietor John,” on account of the disparity
of the dates he gave and suggested John the Weaver as his
probable source. He now repays me in the solving of some
of my own knotty problems. He even gives Mr. Blodgett,
author of Early Settlers of Rowley new information. Gene-
alogical research is like the puzzle of ¢“A Chopped-up Mon-
key.” One finds a piece evidently a hand, and it fits into a
place nicely, but turns out to be a foot, and the true hand
will not join to the foot’s place, nor will what was supposed
to be a part of the fore-arm then fit. One feels tempted to
shuffle the whole puzzle time and again; but the game, once
begun, is too fascinating to be dropped until all parts fit.

T
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Lirother who.was a doetor, and who was lost at sea. -Also
; R obelt Stewart mariner, of Gloucester, on Qct. 23, 1727,
“__.ma‘megl ,Au,ne_. Hodgkins, a relative of Christopher, and had
‘Anne, -Elizabeth, Deborah and Robert, the latter born Aug.
;23 1735,  Robert sr. was buried June 9, 1760. Robert jr.
lived at Pigeon Cove. .

Robert. of Nottingham West, (now Hudson,) appealed
there in 1764, and had wife Margaret and sons Adam and
l*xanms 1 cannot prove him to be Robert jr., of Glouces-

.tet, or connect him with John of Merriinack, who alsohad a
son of the uncommon name of Francis. I think, however,
that John,: (will of 1786,) was a nephew of ‘*Proprietor”
Jobn, (will of 1741,) and that both were related to Robeﬂ:
ot Hudson, and John, of Merrimack.”

)

APPENDIX C.

DEEDS TO EBENEZER STUART, A¥D ABSTRACT OF HIS WILL.

—_——

In the Essex Registry of Deeds at Salem I found these:
records :—B. 26, p. 176, Jonathan Pritehard sold land to
Ebenezer Stuart; b. 33, p. 38, Samuel Dickinson sold to:
Ebenezer Stuart land bounded on the southeast side by land.
of said Stuart, southwest by Woodman’s land; b. 44, p.
143, Dec. 9, 1724, Samuel Platto to Ebenezer Stuart, Inn-:
holder, of Rowley, in the part called Byfield, and upon the
plain called Rye Plain, 11 acres—3 acres as part of lot laid:
out as right of Richard Thurlow, and 3 acres as part of lot
laid out as right of Francis Parrott—the three acres hounded
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on westerly end by so called.Ox Pasture Land ; b. 45, p. 58,
July 1, 1725, John Bennett to Ebenezer Stuart, for £7 10s.,
one lot, which is the last draft of freehold right in the mid-
dle commons—witnesses, Joseph Jewett and John Hobsen;
b. 48, p. 279, Sept. 30, 1726, Dzvid Wood to Ebenezer
Stuart, for £30, one commonage or freehold in Middle Com-
monage ; b.49,p. 169, July 12, 1727, Mehitable Woodman,
single, of Newbury, daughter of Joshua Woodman, to Eben-
ezer Stuart, Innholder, of Rowley, for £185, eight acres,
bounded E? by the great swamp, N9 by land in possession:
of John Lull, Innholder, N. W. and S. W. by land of Dea.
Maximillian Jewett,—with 1-2 dwelling house, 1-2 of barn
and orchard.—Also another tract of 30 acres, bounded E9 by
Maximillian Jewett’s land, N. W. by Town of Rowley’s land,
W. by the highway in Bradford, and S. E. by said Stuart’s
land. In all these deeds Ebenezer’s name was spelt with
‘‘u” as here printed. The following, sent me by Mr. Pres-
ton, are spelt by bim with ‘*ew,” and I am inclined to think
the name in the deeds was thus spelt as I had taken notes of
only those in the index spelt Stuart, thinking at the time no
other spelling could refer to our family :—4th May, 1724,—
Ebenezer Stewart, of Rowley, Innholder, deeds land—deed
is signed also by wife Elizabeth; 16 Feb., 1735, Ebenezer
Stewart, of Rowley, husbandman, sells son JoLn land in
Rowley. In an ‘agreement,” Mar. 17, 1730, I think Mr.
Preston may have made a mistake in copying the name if it
was the agreement I saw, as that was spelt Stuart.

In Essex Probate Records is a record of administration on
the estate of Ebenezer Stewart, of Rowley, granted to Rob-
ert Stuart, Oct. 2, 1749. The estate was divided among
Robert, Richard, John, Charles, Sarah Webster, heirs of
Elizabeth Webster, Ann Lowell, Mercy Clough, and Jane,
(unmarried.) This, with the marriage record of Merey and



OUR BRANCH 'AXND ITS CONNECTIONS. 147

Ezra Clough would seem to fix the birth record of ¢“-Mary”
in the Rowley Records as a mistake for Mercy, unless she.
be Mary of the marriage record ot ¢¢ Nathaniel Boynton and
Mary Stewart, both of Rowley, 8 Mar. 1737.” 'This Mary

may have died without heirs, and consequently the name
would not be found in the will. Thisimplies also the neglect
to enter the birth record of Mercy and of Elizabeth, whose
names are found in both the marriage record and the will.

Concerning Mary Fisk the Boxford Town Clerk says that
¢« Mary Fisk was born Feb. 20, 1740, daughter of Samuel
and Judith (Noyes) Fisk.” If this is the record of the
right Mary she would be hut thirteen years old in 1753 and
wife of a man of forty-nine years. Either Richard married
some other Mary, or the date of the deed should have been
ten years later. Probably the Richard making the deed of
1753 was the Ricbard who married Mary Stickney five years
before in Newbury.. My son Sidney writes that ¢¢ Richard
Stuart marched with other minute-men from Leominster for
Lexington, April 19th, 1775.” Ttis hardly supposable that
a man of over seventy would make much show as a minute-
man, while a son of his, born later than the record gives
would be of an age to marry Mary Fisk and to take part in
showing the British the mettle of his pasture. The witpess
to the deed of 1775 would be his oldest brother. A Joseph
from Leominster, was at Jaffrey, N. H., and I believe died
there, thus giving us mention of both names of Richard’s
recorded children zs having been in Leominster. There was
a Joseph, of Larncaster, who died at the war between 1755 and
1760, whose death may have had some connection with ‘the
dismissal of Ephraim Boynton (page 8) from the Rowley
Church to that at Lancaster. This Joseph may bave come
from Duncan’s John. Perhaps future investigators may
solve these problems. '
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From the Essex Institute Historical Collections, Vol. XX,
we learn that there were several marriages hetween Stuarts
and Boyntons, of Rowley. Deacon Joseph and Bridget
(Harris) Boynton had Ephraim, Richard and Jonathan.—
Ephraim, born July 16, 1707, married Sarah Stuart, who
-was probably the daughter of Duncan’s John, born in 1712
Nathaniel, son of Richard Boynton, born Aug. 18, 1712,
on Mar. 8, 1737, married Mary Stuart, probably the daugh-
ter of Ebenezer, recorded at Rowley as born Oct. 26, 1715 ;
A James Stuart on Jan. 11, 1742, married Mary Boynton,
daughter of Jonathan, born Aug. 21, 1720; and Mary’s
mother, Margaret (Harriman) the widow of Jonathan Boyn-
ton and of David Gage, married in 1749 a John Stuart that
possibly and probably may bave been Duncan’s John, who
was then 83 yearsold and very likely needed care. 1f James
was a son of Duncan’s John, or even grandson of Duncan’s
James they would make a pretty thoroughly united family.

—0
APPENDIX D.

———
DUMMER. SEWALL, LONGFELLOW; ADAMS, PETTINGILL, INGERSOL.

e () e

Stephen Dummer was the third son of John Dummer, of
Bishopstoke, Hants County, England. John’s second son,
Richard, was born about 1599, making Stephen’s birth date
about 1601 or 1602. His wife, Alice Archer, was born in
1603. They came to this country in 1638 with their four
children and ten servants in the Bevis, in company with his
brothers Richard and Thomas, Ricbard having previously
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been over. - Thomas settled in Salisbury, the others in- New-

bury, where Richard had located. Stephen was a freeman

in 1639. ‘He returned to England with his family in 1647,

His oldest daughter, Jane, married Mar. 25, 1646, Henry

Sewall, born in 1614. Henry was the son of Henry Sewall,

baptized 8 April, 1576, (said to be eldest son of Henry

Sewall, Mayor of Coventry,) to have lived at Manchester,

England, in 1573, and died at Rowley in 1657. He mar-

ried Ann Hunt, or Ellen, (perhaps Ellen was a second wife)-
and bad only Henry. He came in 1635. He separated
from his wife and caunsed scandal by his perverse actions.—
Savage says he was probably insane. He lived at Ipswich
first, then in Newbury, and last in Rowley. His son Henry

came in 1634 in the Elizabeth and Dorcas. Was first at
Ipswich, and went to Newbury with early settlers in 1635.

‘Went to England with his wife’s family in 1647. He lived

a short time at Warwick, then at Tunwood, four miles from

Bassingstoke, Hants; then at Baddesly, same shire, four
miles from Rumsey. He had made a second visit to New
England to look after his father. Made a third in 1660 and

remained, sending for his family who arrived at Boston in

July, 1661, after a six wecks’ passage in the Prudent Mary,

Capt. Woodgreen, and all went to Newbury five days later.

He never officiated as a minister here, but that he was one
in England is proved by a letter to the Governor of the.
Province from the Lord Protector, Richard Cromwell, Mar.

23, 1659. Nearly all of the name in this country are his
descendants. The children of Henry and Jane Sewall were :

1. Hannah, born May 10, 1649, at Tunwood or Tunworth,
England, married Jacob Toppan or Tappan, Sept. 24,1677 ;
‘died Jan. 29, 1717.
2. Samuel, born May 28, 1652, married Feb. 28; 1676,
‘Hannah, daughter of John Hull, Mintmaster. He graduated
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at Harvardin 1671. He 'was probably the richest man:in the
Province. 'Was Chief Justice of the Supreme Court,-and
member of the Commission for trial of witches—for partici-
pation in which delusion ke suffered years of :remorse; suppli-
cating for mercy in open congregation on.the Lordis Day-.
- 3. John, born Oct. 10, 1654, at Baddesly, Eng:, married
Hannah Fessenden Oct. 27,:1671..:(At:172)
4. Stephen, born at Baddesly Aung: 10, 1637.

5. Jane, born Oct. 25, 1659 at Baddesly, mairied:Sept.
24, 1677 Moses Gerrish, died Jani 29,-1717..

. 6.. ANNE; born at Newbury, Mass.::Sept. 4, 1662, mar:
ried Nov. 10, 1678, William Longfellow; who was- born in
‘Hants County, England about 1651. William Longfellow
.was a merchant at Newbury Byfield and went:to:England. in
1687 to obtain his patrimony in Yorkshire, and after his
ireturn was Ensign in the Newbury company embarked in the
-project of Sir William Phipps against Qunebec. - Was ship-
wrecked and with nine others drowned. Anne  afterward
married Henry Short and had children by both busbands, -,
i+ .-7. Mehitable, born May 8, 1665, married William Moody
«Nov.'15, 1684, died Aug. 8y 1702.

. --8. Dorothy, born Oct. 29, 1668, married Sept. 10, 169}
Ezekiel Northend. o

» . William and Anne (Sewall) Longfellow had children :—
- 1. Wiliiam, born Nov. 25, 1679.

. .2. Stephen, born Jan. 10, 1681, died under three. years.

3. ANXE, born Oct. 3, 1683, married Captain Abraham

-Adams and had Anne, who married Robert Stuart, - . ; , oy
"4, ,Stephen, born Sept. 22, 1685. Stephen was a black-
smith. Yive of his name had graduated. at Harvard and
Bowdoin in 1834. Stephen married Abigail Thompson, of
‘Marshfield and had Stephen, a teacher and I think graduate
of Harvard. Judge Stephen Longfellow, his son, removed
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to Portland, Me.; had Stephen, the lawyer and legislator,
snd father of the poet, Henry Wadsworth Longfellow, who
was born Feb. 27, 1807, and died Mar. 24, 1882. |
5. Elizabeth, born July 3, 1688.. |
6. Nathan, born Feb. 5, 1690.
| o

ADAMS, PETTINGILL, INGERSOLL.

. According to uniform tradition Robert Adams, who came
to this country in 1635 was born in Devonshire, Ecgland, in
'1601. Tn Burke’s Commoners the Adams family in Devon-
ghire claims to be lineally descended ¢ from John Ap Adam,
of Charlton Adam, in Somersetshire, who mariied Elizabeth.
daughter and heiress of John. Lord Goumey, of Beverston
-and Tidenbam, County of Gloucester, and who was sum-
mouned to Parliament as a Barou of the Realm, from 1296 to-
1307. After residing for several generatious in Charlton,
they removed to Devonshire.” From the above John Ap-
Adam descended Rickard Adams, who married Margaret, a
daughter of Annager. This Richard had two sons:—
Robert, who married Elizabeth Shirtland, and William, who
married- , of Barrington. Henry, one of the sons
of William, came to this country in 1630 and was ancestor
of John Adams, President of the United States. Robert, the
elder son of Richard, bad a son Robert, who is supposed,
but not certainly known to be the Robert Adams who came
to Ipswich in 1635 with Lis wife Eleanor and finally settled
111 Newbury in 1640 on 1and in possession of his descendants
of the name as late as 1857. Ileanor died June 12, 1677,
and he married Sara, (Glover) the widow of Henry Short,
on Feb. 6, 1678. He died Oct. 12, 1682, aged 81. Sara
died Oct. 24,1697. Robert and Eleanor’s children weve :—.

1. John, korn ————, married a Woodman.
2. Joanona, born in 1634, married Launcelot Granger.
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3. SERGT. ABRAHAM, born 1630, married Mary Pettingill,
daughter of Richard and Joanna (Ingersoll) Pettingill, Nov.
10, 1670; he died Dec. 12, 1714 ; she died Sept. 19, 1705.

4. Elizabeth, married Edward Phelps, of Andover.

5. Mary, married Jeremiah Goodridge Nov. 15,1660.

6. Isaac, born 1648, died unmarried.

7. Jacob, born April 23, 1649, died young.

8. Hannah, born June 29, 1650, married William War-

ham Feb. 10, 1682.
9. Jacob, born Sept. 13, 1651, married Anne Ellen or
Allen April 7, 1677, represented Suffolk, (now Conn.) in
General Court of Massachusetts in 1711-14-17, died at the
Court in Boston in November, 1717. [n Newbury he had
Dorothy and Rebecea, and at Suffolk, Jacob, Daniel, Abra-
ham, John, Ann, Elizabeth and Sarah.

10. Archelaus, married Sarah March, March 18, 1698.
In the Newbury records I found to their credit :—Elizabeth,
May 20, 1707; Samuel, April 29, 1710; Stephen, Mar. 14,
1712.  Archelaus married Sarah Green, of Salisbury in
171Y. | |
Sergt. Abrabam and Mary (Pettingill) Adams had:—

1. Mary, born Jan. 16, 1672.

2. Robert, born May 12, 1674, married Rebecca Knight
in August 1695. 'They had Robert, Nov. 20, 1702 ; Jacob,
Nov. 10, 1704, and perhaps others. A Robert Adams is on
Newbury records as marrying Ann Jaques, June 26, 1725,

3. Carr. ABraHAM, born May 6, 1676, married Anne
Longfellow in 1703, and had Axxe April 29, 1705, who
married Robert Stuart, of Rowley.

4. lIsaac, born Feb. 26, 1679, married Hannah Spofford
in 1708. | _

5. Sara, born April 13, 1681, married John Hutchinson
Jan. 28, 1713. |
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6. John, born Mar. 7, 1684, married Elizabeth Noyes
Jan. 22, 1707, and Sarah Pearson, Nov. 17, 1713.

7. Dr. Matthew, born May 25, 1686, married Sarah
Knight April 4, 1707. _

8. Israel, born Dec. 25, 1688, married Rebecca Atkinson
Oct. 15, 1714, died Dec. 12, same year.

9. Dorothy, born Oct. 25, 1691.
~ 10. Richard, born Nov. 22, 1693, married Susanna Pike
Dec. 12, 1717. | ;

Capt. Abraham and Anne (Longfellow) Adams had :—

1. ANNE, born April 29, 1705, married ROBERT STUART
Dec. 11, 1727.

2. William, born May 8, 1706, married Elizabeth Noyes
April 2, 1728.

3. Mary, born Sept. 26, 1707, married Thomas Poor, of
Andover, Sept. 30, 1728. |

4. Stephen, born April 16, 1712, died young. .

5. Sarah, born Sept. 29, 1713, married Dea. Samuel Som-
erby Sept. 29, 1735.

6. Abraham, born Aug. 24, 1715, married Mary Colman
Nov. 18, 1737, and Sarah Foster in 1759.

7. Samuel, born June 6, 1717, married Mary Brown, of
Rowley, in 1747.

8. Rev. Joseph, l born {married widow Mary Green-

Mar. 8, { leaf in 1746.
9. Mr. Benjamin, § 1719, ( married Elizabeth Payson in

1748, and Rebecca Nichols. _

10. Nathan, born Jan. 17, 1721, married Mary Trumbull,
of Charlestown, in 1757.
~ 11. Henry, born Nov. 18, 1722, married Sarah Emery.
Nov. 20, 1744, and Catherine Gerrish in 1767. [N. E.
Hist. and Gen. Reg., Vol. 11, pp. 53-60. By Joshua
Coffin, A. M. | |

LY S—
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PETTENGILL.

Richard Pettengell, (later generally spelt Pettengill and
Pettmonll I think,) was of Newbury, Mass., and tradition
says he came from Staffordshire, England. He was first at
Salem, and there married Joanna, daughter of Richard In-
gersoll. They had :—Samuel, baptized at Salem Feb. 9,
1645, and probably others at Salem ; and had at Newbury,
Mary, born July 6, 1652, married Abraham Adams Nov.
10, 1670 ; Nathaniel, born Sept. 24, 1654.

_ o

INGERSOLL.

= Richard Ingersoll was at Salem in 1629 ; came with Hig-
ginson, bringing wife Anue and children ; was from Bedford.
County. Kept the ferry at the river. He died in 1644.
The following are the children as mentioned in his will :—
George, John, Nathaniel, Joanna, Sarah Alice, and Bath-
sheba. .

00—

APPENDIX E.

_——

ABSTRACT OF WILL OF ROBERT STUART, OF ROWLEY, KINGSTON
AND NEWTOWN ; ALSO OF SOME CF HIS DEEDS.

—————

In the Exeter Probate Records, Robert Stuart, of New-
town, N. H., by will, dated 81st of August, 1781, probated
24th of April, 1782, gives to his wife Anne 1-2 of dwelling
house, 1-2 of personal estate, and 1-3 income of real estate:
Gives to grandson Samuel, son of son Samuel, deceased,
lands in Kingston which Samuel, deceased, possessed in his
tifetime. Gives to granddaughter Abigail Brown, wife of
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Enoch Brown and;daughte'r of son Samuel, deceased, £1 10s.
Gives to daucrh't'er_Sarah Chase, widow of Samuel Chase,
two cows, ete. | o
Gives to daucrhter Ann Hmt wife of Barnard Hoit, two
eows, ete.

Gives to daucrhter Maly Chase, wife of Samuel Chase, two
cows, ete.

Gives to dauohter Elizabeth Curri ier, wife of Reuben Cur-
rier, two cows, etc.

Gives to son- Robert Stuart, land in Newtown.

Gives to son Stephen Stuart, land in Kingston and New-
town. (11 acres in Newtown.) . ...

Robert Stuart was the executor, and Stephen Stuart was
guardian of grandson Samuel. The Inventory mentions land.
and buildings in Newtown, valued at £693 ; land and build-
ings in Kingston, £1116.

Administration was granted him on his son Samuel’s estate
Deec. 2, 1 461

The followmg abstracts of his deeds have been sent me :—

1723, Robert Stuart, of Rowley, to Burpee.

1726, Robert Stuart, of Rowley, to J. Pearson, land in
Rowley.
. 1729, Sept. 26, Robert btufut of Kingston, sold land in
Rowley, with buildings, to Amos Pillsbury, of Rowley.

1731, July 9, Robert Stuart, of Kingston, bought land in.
Kingston of Thomas Wallingford.

1733, Robert Stuart, of Kingstou, bought land in ngston
of Sleeper. |

1734, Robert Stuart, ot Kingston, sold land in Amesburg
to Peaslee.

1740, Robert Stuart, of Kingston, sold land bought of
Wallingford.

1741, Mar. 27, Robert Stuart, of Kingston bought land in
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Kingston of Webster. (Latest mention as ¢‘of Kingston.”)

1745, Robert Stuart, of Amesbury, bought land in Ames-
bury of Peaslee. (Newtown was then a part of Amesbury. )

1747, Robert Stuart, of Amesbury, bought land in Ames-
bury and Salisbury. (The latter probably Salt Marsh.) '
" 1752, Mar. 2, Robert Stuart, of Newlown, yeoman, sold
land in \Iewbury, to Daniel Chase, of \Iewbmy (Newtown
was incorporated in 1749.)

O

APPENDIX F.

MASSACHUSETTS AND NEW HAMPSHIRE STATE-LINE.

— ()

Previous to the year 1740 a disputc between Massachu-
setts and New Hampshire had been in progress for years
eoaldma the boundary line separating the two States.—
Massachusetts claimed a stnp of land three miles wide alonO'
“the north and east bank of the Merrimac as far as Sanborn-
ton, twenty miles above Concord, at or near the southwestern
voint of Lake Winnepesaukee, and thence due west; while
New Hampshxre claimed a line running due west from a
point on the seacoast three miles north of the mouth of the
river. lhev referred theu dlspute to the King, and New
Hampshire gained a stnp fourteen miles wide by fifty long
more than she claimed. The exact location of this line has
been a matter of dispute to the present day, and surveys on
‘he part of Massachusetts led her town adjoining Newtown
to claim taxes on a part of my uncle John’s barn as being
within her limits. New Hampshire still claimed that though
the line established by the King might be very nearly correct



OCR BRANCH AND ITS CONNECTIONS. 157

along that part running three miles north of the Merrimac to
the ¢ Pine-Tree Bound” in Dracut, north of the Pawtucket
Falls, too much allowance for variation of the compass had
been made by the Surveyor in running the due-west line
from that point, and that a triangular strip widening to the
Connecticut was hers by the King’s award. After 150 years
of contention upon this claim Commissioners were appointed
by the two States to run the line again, in hopes to obtain‘a
final adjustment. On a visit to my birthplace in the autumn
of 1892 I found tLat by the stone bound set by these Com-

missioners Massachusetls was entitled to the whole of my
uncle’s barn, with a rod to spare.

o

APPENDIX G.

———o
WHITE, FRENCH, GILMAYN, PHILLIPS, APPLETON, EMERSON.

—_—O— .

WiLLiaM WHITE, born in 1610, in Norfolk Co., England,
according to tradition, was of Anglo-Saxon descent. The
family coat of arms, a copy of which was in my mother’s
possession, bore upon a white shield three black cock’s heads,
erased, with red, scalloped combs and wattles. Above the
shield was a helmet. This had come over from England,
and was by my mother transferred to Phillips White, of
Exeter, N. H., he being in the direct line of descent from
her grandfather, Hon. Phillips White. William White, (see
pages 40-41 for partial notice,) had two sons.:—dJohn, from
whom we trace descent on pages 37-43 ; and James, born in
1649, married Eunice Kingsbury, of Amesbury, April 16,



158 THE STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA.

1678. I get no record of children to him. Wiilliam White
had property at his death valued at £508 10s. His descend-
ants are numerous and scattered over the United States.

—— e

FRENCH.

" EDWARD FreNcH, of Salem, Mass., died Deec. 28, 1690.
His wife Ann had :—Joseph, John, Samuel, and Hannah, who
married John White, son of William above, Nov 25, 1662.
Edward French was in Ipswich in 1636 removed to Salis-
bury among the earliest proprietors and had in 1652 the third
greatest estate in town. In his will he speaks of his great
age and mentions his three sons and their children, and his
daughter. )

. o

KILMIN or “CILMIN."—GILMAN.

¢«CrMIN TROED-DHU,” (club-foot) of Glynlliffon, in Mweh
Givir Vai, in Caer-yu-Aroonshire, lived in 843, in the time
of Roderick the Great, with whom he came out of the north
of Britain. He bore ‘¢Argent, a man’s leg, couped, sable.”
This Kilmin or Cilmin was head of one of the fifteen noble
tribes of North Wales. The Glynns’ of Glynlliffon are de-
scended from him, and probably also the Gilmans’ of Nor-
folk Co., England, as they always used the same coat of
arms, surmounted by a crest,—¢¢A demi-lion issuing flom a
cup of maintainance.” -
Edward Gilman, of Caston, Norfolk Co., En01and who
dled in 1573, married Rose Rysse, and had :— :
. John, to whom was devised his mansion house in
Caston.
- 2. Robert, baptized July 10, 1559 at Caston, Norfolk Co.,
England; buried at Caston March 6, 1631 ; his wife, named
Mary, had Edward about 1588 at Hingham, England, who
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married Mary Clark. They emigrated to this country in com-
pany with many others under charge of Rev. Joseph Peck,.
Rector of old Hingham, England,-in the ship Diligent, Capt.
John Martin, which left Gravesend April 26, and arrived at
Boston August 10, 1638, He brought wife, three sons, two.
daughters and three servants, and located in Hingham, Mass.,
which had been settled some five years by emigrants from
Hingham, England. He was admitted freeman Dec 13,,.
1638. In June 1641 Plymouth Colony glanted a tract of
eight miles square then called Seekonk, now Rehoboth near
the Rhode Island line to him and others In 1643 his estate
was £300. He lived awhile at Rehoboth was at Ipswwh in
1647, and soon after went to Exeter, N. H He died June
22 1681 at Exeter. He had the following chtldren —
1. Mary, baptized Aug. 6, 1615, at Hingham, England,

married John Foulshom. (Folsom.)

2. Edward, baptized Dec. 26, 1617 at Hingham, England
married a daughter of. Richard Smith, of Ipswich, Mass.—
Was lost at sea in 1653-4.

3. Sarah, baptized Dec. 26, 1617.

4. Lydia, married Hon. Damel Cushmo

5. John, (Hon.) born Jan, 10, 1624 at Hingham, anr

6. Moses, baptized March 11, 1620 at Hingham, Eng.

Four other sons died young, unmarried.

Hox. Jon~ GiLMaN, born at Hingham, Norfolk Co., Eng.,
Jaun. 10, 1624, married June 20, 1657 Elizabeth Treworgye,
born in 1639, died Sept. 8, 1719, daughter of James Tre-
worgye and Catherine Shapleigh, whose father, Alexander,
was a merchant and ship owner, ‘and agent for Fernando
Gorges. Hon. John accompanied his father from England
to Hingham, Rehoboth, Ipswich and Exeter, arriving there:
about 1648 and engaged in the lumber and milling business
with his brother Edward, who was soon atter lost at sea on
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a trip to England for machinery. He was a leading man in
his town, was a Selectman, and was also a Councillor from
1680 to 1683. He died July 24, 1708. To his descend-
ants principally the charter of the town of Gilmanton, (now
N. H.) was granted in 1727 for services rendered in defense
of their country. The following were his children :—

1. Mﬁry, born Sept. 10, 1658, married Capt. Jonathan
Thing, died in August, 1691.

2. James, born Feb. 6, 1660.

" 3. Elizabeth, born Aug. 16, 1661, married 1st, Nathan
Ladd, 2nd, Henry Wadleigh. ' '

4. John, born Oct. 6, 1663, died in childhood.

5. Catherine, born Mar. 17, 1665, died Sept. 12, 1684.

6. Sarah, born Feb. 253, 1667, married Stephen Dudley.

7. Lypia, born Oct. 6, 1668, married Capr. Joux WHITE,

Oct. 24, 1687. They had fourteen children. See page 41.
‘8. Samuel, born Mar. 30, 1671, died aged twenty years.
' 9. Nicholas, (J. Sup. Crt.) born Dec. 26, 1672, married

Sarah, daughter of Nathan and Eliza Clark, of Newbury.

10. Abigail, born Nov. 1674, married Samuel, son of Jon-
athan and Joanna Thing; (probably a brother of her sister
Mary’s husband.) Abigail died Nov. 7, 1725.

11. John, (Col.) born Jan. 19, 1677, married 1st, Eliza,
daughter of Peter and Abigail Coffin; 2nd, widow of Dr.
Robert Hall, daughter of Nathan Clark; (probably a sister
to Nicholas’ wife Sarah.) He died between 1738 and 1742.
12. ‘l Deborah, married Henry Dyer,

Apr. 30, 1679, < Sept. 30, 1680. (An error.)
13. S {J oannah, married.Capt. Robert

Coffin Dec. 24, 1720. (Perhaps Deborah died Sept. 30, at

17 months old, and Joanna married 1st, Henry Dyer, 2nd,

Capt. Coffin when 41 years old, the error being in my notes.)
14. Joseph, bora Oct. 28, 1680, died in infancy.
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15. Alice, born May 23, 1683, married Capt. James
Leavitt, died June 2, 1721. ‘

16. Catherine, born Nov. 27, 1684, married 1st, Peter
Fulsom, 2nd, Richard Catley.

——

PHILLIPS.

Rev. George Phillips came over in the Arabella, flagship
of the fleet that came with Winthrop in 1630, landing June
2nd. Sir Richard Salstonstal and he were at the head of the
settlement at Watertown, and there he gathered his church.
In a copy of the Exeter News Letter of June 10, 1844, I find
this concerning him :—¢* Having chosen « place up Charles
River for a town, which they called Watertown, they resolved
to combine into a church fellowship there as their first work, .
and to build the house of God before they would build any
houses for themselves. July 30, 1630, was observed by
them as a day of solemn fasting and prayer, and about forty
men organized themselves into a church by subseribing a
covenant drawn up by Mr. Phillips, who continued faithfully
discharging the duties of his ministry till his death, July 1,
1644, much lamented by his church, who testified to their
affection for their deceased pastor by a special care to pro-
mote and perfect the-education of his oldest son, whereof
all the country, but especially the town of Rowley bave since
reaped the benefit.”” He brought his wife, who was an only
child, daughter of Richard Sargent, and half sister to John
Hayward, of Watertown and Charlestown. The wife died
at Salem soon after their arrival and was buried beside Lady
Arabella Johnson. The son Samuel and daughter Elizabeth
were brought with them.

Mr. Phillips was the son of Christopher, born in 1593, at
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Rainham, St. Martins, near Rangham in the hundred of
Gallow, Norfolk. He was bred at Cambridge, and soon
after taking his degree of A. M. in“1617 settled in Boxford,
Co. of Essex, where he probably married, and where his
first children were born.

A writer in Harper’s Magazine says of him :—¢¢A Phillips
erossed the water with John Winthrop, and from him de-
scended a long line of ministers, judges, governors and
councillors, (See pages 43-47)—a sterling, rare, temperate,
just and high-minded man.” He was a skillful writer and
controversialist, a man of firmness and independence, con-
scientious in forming and fearless in maintaining his opin-
ions and translating them into action. He was noted for
his learning in the original languages of the Scriptures.—
It is said that he read them through six times every year,
and to have remarked that he always found something new
in them. - In an altercation in the church whether the church
of Rome was a true church he favored the affirmative. He
was the earliest advocate of the Congregational order of dis-
cipline in Massachusetts, which, though he did not live to
see it, was finally established in New England. His second
wife was Elizabeth, perhaps widow of Capt. Robert Weldon.
His will gives his wife her third; and to his son a double
portion of the remainder of his estate, divided among his
children equally. The inventory was £553 2s. 9d., and the
books were £71 9s. 9d. His widow died June 27, 1681, and
her will gives Samuel ¢‘all the Latin, Greek and Hebrew
books now in the house.” His church provided for the edu-
cation of his son Samuel at Harvard in respect and venera-
tion of his father’s memory. This son was the Rev. Samuel
Phillips of Rowley, born in 1625 at Boxford, Eng., married
barah, born in 1627, daughter of Samuel Appleton, a first
settler of Ipswich, and Mary Everaid, who came in 1635
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from Waddingfield, Suffolk Co. Eng., with wife and five
. children, of whom Sarah was the third.

Rev. Samuel and Sarah Phillips had four chlldren —

1. Mary, married Rev. Edward Payson, of Rowley.

2. Dorecas.

3. SamukL, born in 1658 at Rowley, was a goldsmith at
Salem, married Mary Emerson, born Mar. 7, 1665, daugh--
ter of Rev. John Emerson and Ruth Symonds, who was the
daughter of Lt. Gov. Samuel Symonds.

4. George, graduted 1€86, settlcd at Brookhaven, L. I.

The children of Samuel Phillips, goldsmithk, were :—

1. Samuel, Rev., of Ardover, married Hannah White,
daughter of Capt. John and Lyaia (Gilman) White. (See
pages 35 and 44-47.)

2. SaraH, married WiLrLiam Waite, of Haverhill, fourth
child of Jon~ and Lypia (Gilinan) WHiTE. (See page 41.)

8. Ruth, married Samuel, fifth child of John and Lydia
White above.

4. John, born in 1701, married Mary Buttulph, (Page 47.

——

APPLETON,

SAMUEL APPLETOX, the father of Sarah Appleton, wife of
Rev. Samuel Phillips, of Rowley, was born at Little Wad-
dingfield, Suffolk Co., Eng., and died at Rowley, Mass., in
June, 1670. He married Mary Everard in England. The
Everards were a respectable family in Suffolk. Samuel, the
ancestor, probably, of all of the name in New England,
came to Ipswich in 1635 with wife and five children from
Waddingfield, about three miles from Sudbury and four from
Groton. The family was there before 1400. The earliest
ancestor of record is John Appleton, of Great Waddingfield,
living in 1396, from wkom Samuel is of the 7th generation.
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Samuel was a freeman May 25, 1636 in Ipswich; a promi-
nent man, and though undoubtedly a Puritan, was retired
from public life because not sufficiently intolerant on the
General Court in the Mrs. Hutchinson case. They had :—

1. John, Hon. and Capt., born in 1621 at Little Wadding-
sfield, married Priscilla, the danghter of Rev. Jose Glover.

2. Samuel, Hon. and Maj., born in 1624 at Little Wad-
dingfield, married first, Hannah, daughter of William Paine ;
second, Mary, daughter of John Oliver. He held important
military commands. . :

3. Sarsg, born in 1627, married REv. SAMvEL PHILLIPS.

4. Judith, marriecd Samuel Rogers, son of Rev. Nathan
Rogers, Ipswich, and brother of John, President of Harvard.

The line of descent from Sarah Appleton to a Stuart is :—
Sarah Appleton and Rev. Samuel Phillips had Samuel, the
goldsmith, of Salem, who married Mary Emerson, daughter
of Rev. John Emerson and Ruth Symonds, who was the
daughter of Lt. Gov. Samuel Symonds.

Samuel Phillips, of Salem, and Mary Emerson above had
a danghter Sarah Phillips who married William White, and
had Rebecca White, who married Rev. Benjamin Bell, and
had Rebecca Bell. Rebecca Bell married Mr. Joseph Stuart,
of Newtown. . '

One other connecting link, though not resulting in the
Stuart name was by the marriage of Phillips White, son of
Nathaniel White and grandson of Hon. Phillips White with
Sarah Stuart, sister to Mr. Joseph Stuart, the contracting
parties being each of the seventh generation respectively
from the first settlers, White, French, Gilman, Phillips, Ap-
pleton, Emerson, Symonds on the one hand; and upon the
other also of the same generation from Stephen Dummer,
and Ingersoll ; the sixth from Sewall, Longfellow, Pettingill,
Adams and Currier; and fifth from Duncan Stuart.
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ANOUESTORS

OF SAMUENL APPLETON,

Samuel Appleton !

( Thomas Appleton 1

L Rose Sexton

| Mary .Iﬁ,aacke

f William Appleton

~Robert S8exton

—Agnes Jermyn

( Edward Isaacke {

~lohn Appleton
~John Appleton

( Thomas Appleton
—Margaret { Willlam Crane

Robert Appleton {' Robert Crn'ne

| ~— Andrew Butler

( Margaret Butler
—Catherine Carbonell

Rohert Crane

] | Margaret Crane l-———- Singleton

 Mary Mowntney Anne Agard
—Thomas Mowntney —Andrew Agard
“—Thomas Mowntney
—Thomus Mowutney
—Thomas Mowntney
-Itobert. Mowntney

James Isaacke
John Isancke
John Isaacke Elizabeth Coudy
— Tuke —Vice Admiral Coudy

( Willinmn Isaacke
— Guylforde
' —Bennett Guylforde

~William Hawte, Kt.
~Michael Hawte, Kt.
~Willlam Hawte, Kt.
' William Hawte, Kt.
Richard Hawte, Kt.
— Ilorne
 Henry Horne

Margaret Wleattoll
w-Rhichard

L Margaret Hawte

Wheattell, Kt.
Brian

Elizabech Trowych
heattell ~Thomas Trowych, Kt.
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EMERSON, SYMONDS.

—_——

Thomas Emerson and wife Elizabeth were at Ipswich in
1639. He died May 1, 1666. They had :—Elizabeth, Jo-
seph, Nathaniel, James, (who went to England,) Thomas,
who died before 1666, leaving widow Eliza and perhaps son
Thomas; and John. Most of these were born in England.
John graduated at Harvard in 1656, was ordained Oct. 6,
1663, married Ruth Symonds, daughter of Lt. Gov. Samuel
Symonds, and preached at Gloucester 40 years. Their daugh-
ter Mary married Samuel Phillips, the goldsmith. Thirty.
of the name had in 1834 graduated at Harvard, and twenty
at other New England Colleges, of whom seventeen were
ordained as ministers, and several others as preachers ; prob-
ably most or all his descendants. Their children were :—

‘1. Ruth, born Aug. 26, 1660.

Martha, born Nov. 28, 1662,

MaARyY, born Mar. 7, 1665, married Samuel Phillips.
Elizabetli, born Aug. 16, 1667. '
John, born May 14, 1670, graduated at Harvard, 1689.
Dorothy, born July 6, 1675.

Samuel, born Nov. 20, 1678.

> TO N

1

-~

-1
. .

—_— ———

SYMONDA.
—_—

Ruth Symouds was the daughter of Deputy- (Lt.) Gov.
Symonds, who married about 1620 Deborah Harlakénden,
of the old gentry of Earl’s Colne; probably sister of Roger.
I1e had ten children before he came over; left John and
perhaps others in England, but brought several. His second
vife was Martha Read, (the widow Eppes,) from Kent Co.,
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Eng., a sister to the wife of Gov. John Winthrop Jr., of
Connecticut. They had three children :—

1. Martha, married 1st, John Dennison; 2nd, Richard
Martin, of Portsmouth. ' .

2. RutH, who married Rev. John Emerson in 1659, four
years before his ordination.

3. Priscilla, married Capt. Thomas Baker, of Topsfield.

Samuel Symonds was a gentleman of ancient family at
-Geldham, Essex Co., Eng., where he was a Cursitor in the
Chancery. He came over in 1637, settled at Ipswich, was
freeman in March, 1638, Representative many times, wag
Assistant, 1643-1673, then Deputy Governor till his death.

O
A4

APPENDIX H.

——

FLANDERS, CARTER, COLE, MOOR.
From N. E. Hist. and Gen. Reg.. Vol. 27, pp. 170-6.

—_——

Stephen Flanders was probably the only one of the name
in America in early history. He came with wife Jane to
Salisbury, Mass., between 1640 and 46, an early, but not a
first settler. Was admitted a freeman in February, 1650.
His will was dated April 4, 1684, he died June 27, 1684.
Jane died Nov. 19, 1683. Their children were :—

1. StEPHEN, born Mar. 8, 1646, married Dec. 28, 1670,
Abigail, daughter of Thomas and Mary Carter, of Salisbury,
who was born Feb. 11, 1653, (Nov. 1652 in the Carter list.)
Stephen resided in Salisbury and died there Oct. 6, 1744 at
the age of 98 years, 7 months.

2. Mary, boin May 7, 1650, and died the same month.

3. Phillip, bcrn July 14, 1652, married in 1686 or 7 the
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‘widow Martha Collins, daughter of John and Martha Eaton.

He was admitted freeman in 1640, at Salisbury. No reeord
‘'of children. |

4. Sarah, born Nov. 2, 1654, married Newhall.
¢ 5. Naomi, born Dec. 15,1656, mamedBenJamm Eastman
Apr. 4, 1699, died July 4, 1718. '

6. John, Dea., born Feb. 11, 1659, marriedin 1686 or 3,
iElizabeth Sargent, granddaunghter of William and Elizabeth
Sargent, of Salisbulj 'Was in the fight at Turner’s Falls,
:May .19, 1676, lived at Salisbury and Southampton 3 dled
Det. 25, 1140, greatly respected. His descendants are
numerous..

STEPHEN FLANDERS, the oldest of the children of Stephen,
the first settier of the name, married ABicaiL CArTER Dec.
28, 1670, as before stated. ‘Their ¢hildren were : —

. Thomas, born Feb. 17, 1671, died April 12, 1672.

2 Stephen, born Jan. )1 1672, married Sarah Blaisdell
in 1706.

8. Thomas, born Dec. 8, 1673, married Catherine Hack-
ett Mar. 8, 1711, died Oct. 4, 1741.

. 4. Daniel, born Mar. 10, 1675, married and lived: in
Amesbury

. 9. JosepH, born Mar. 28, 1677, married three times :—
lst ]usthel, who died Mar. 8, 1702, leaving :—

1. Anna, born June 15, 1701;
an Hannah in 1703, whodied in 1714, leaving :—

2. Ezekiel, born Mar. 7,. 1705.

3. Joseph, born Sept. 9, 1707, married Ruth Morrill, 1732

4. Neugmiai, born Feb. 18, 1709, married Sarah: Hack-
ett in I elnuuv, 1738.

. Ebenezer, born 1412, married \Iama :
)rd Mary IhOI’prOﬂ, in October, 1716, who had :—

6. Phineas, born June 25, 1720, marued Tabltha Cloucrh
in April, 1444
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7. Mary, born Aug. 6, 1721, married John Lunt in 1737.
8. Jeremiah, born July 6, 1723.
9. Moses, born Nov. 17, 1727.
The children of NemeEmran, the fourth child of Joseen
FLANDERs, and third by his second wife, Hannah, were:—
1. James, born Oct. 13, 1738.
2. Hezekiah, born July 5, 1742.
8. David, born Jan. 22, 1747.
4. Nehemiah, born Sept. 2, 1749.
5. Almro, born July 21, 1751.
6. Levi, born Feb. 26, 1754.
The record of a bro.ther Dayvid and sister Almro fixes this
Levi as the Revolutionary Veteran of page 71, and connects
our Flanders record from the first settler to the present time.

The other children of Stephen and Abigail Flanders were :

6. Phillip, born Jan. 10, 1678, died Feb. 23.

7. Sarah, born Deec. 7, 1679, died in January, 1716.

8.. Phillip, born Jan. 8, 1681, married Joanna Smith Feb.
2, 1710, lived at Kingston.

9. Jane, born March, 1684, married John Martin, 1711.

10. Jeremiah, born in Sept. 1686, married Mary Hayes in
1724. Lived at Southampton and died there Apr. 14, 1757.

11. Abigail, born in October, 1688, married Jabez Page
in 1734. ‘ '

—_—C—

CARTER.

—O—

The carliest record I find of the name of Carter is that of
'Thomas Carter, who died June 14, 1669. His wife’s name
was Mary, and the record gives them the following children :

1. Mary or May, born Aug. 6, 1641.

2. Thomas, torn in 1643, died young.
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3. Martha, born in December, 1645.
4. Martin, born in June, 1647.
5. Elizabeth, born in Angust, 1649.
. John, born March 18, 1651, married Martha. (Can
this be the daughter of Duncan Stuart, of whom our tradition
says that she married a Carter?)

7. ABIGAIL, born in November, 1652. (Feb. 11, 1653,
in the Flanders list.) '

8. Samuel, born Aug. 25, 1656.

———0—.—:

COLE, GREGG, MOOR.
———

ArLmira CorLE was the mother of Anne Japnet Flanders,
daughter of Enos Flanders, and wife of Joseph A. Stuart.
Almira was a descendant of the MacGregors, Moors, Car-
gills, Cochrans and Wallaces. By proclamation the name
of MacGregor was forbidden to be used, and various slight
changes were adopted by different families to avoid being
prosecuted, while still elinging to pride of ancestral name.—
Among the original settlers of Londonderry, N. H., were
Rev. James MacGregor or MacGregore and Capt. James
Gregg; also John Moor, the Cochrans and Wallaces. John
Moor was born the night after his father was shot by English
soldiers at the brutal massacre at Glencoe of that branch of
the clan McDonald under Maclan. The Cochrans are men-
tioned by Mr. Gibson on page 136 as selling land in 1736
to his ancestor, John Stewart. John Wallace came from
the north of Ireland in 1726, and was an early, though not
_an original settler of Londonderry. Capt. James Gregg,
one of the original settlers of Londondeary, was a native of
Ayrshire, Scotland, born about 1670, went to Ireland, 1690,
and came to America in 1718 with the party that settled
Londonderry, probably & charter member; was a leading,

=p}
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well-to-do man. The following is found in Gcucalogy of
the Cole Family, by Fraxg T. CorLg, Columbus, Ghio :—

" 1st'Generation. Tromas CoLE weas in Salem in 1649-20,
recorded as a farmer. He died in the spring of ' 1673-9.

2nd. Jonx CoLk, born 164—. Was twice married andhad
children by both wives. (Almira was from his second wife,
Sarah Alsbee.) He was a Cooper and lived first at Salem,
then Malden, then Lynn. He died Oct. 8, 1703. Sarah
was tried for witchcraft and acquitted Feb. 1, 1693.

3rd. SamukL CoLg, born at Lynn Dec: 27, 1687. Was a
farmer, lived at Boxford, and died Jan 20,1765. His wife
was named Susanna.

4th. Jonx CoLE, married, 1st, Abigail Brown, who died
childless ; 2nd, Eunice Spofford. They lived in Boxford.

5th. NatHax CoLk, sou of John, is the Nathan of page
13, baptized Feb. 23, 1755, married Molly Flint; both died
in the summer of 1830. Relow will be found a table of

ANCESTORS OF ALMIRA COLE.

! Thomas Cole
John Colex
( Adne —

Samuel Cole!
]

Jobn Cole Sarah Alsbee
Nathan Cole < Susanna ——

John Cole { ~ Eunice Spofford

- . Molly Fling Capt. James Gregg
‘Almira Cole] Samuel Grezg

:l | Janet Cargill
' Samuel Gregg

John Moor, son of massacred John Mobr
Mary Moor

danet Gregg Janet Cochran
3 )
- | John Wallace
Margaret Wallace
Janet Steele
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MOOR. -

—Q—

“Jorx Moor was a member of the Glencoe branch of the
Clan MacDonald, under the lead of Maclan, inhabiting a nar-
row and sterile valley of that name, situated a little way south
of Loch Leven, among almost inaccessible mountains, and
surrounded by lands occupied not by their own clan, but by
 the Clan Campbell, with whom they were at hereditary feud.
- All these circumstances contributed to develop the predatory
character of the people, for which they were as notable,
perbaps, as any in the Highlands at a time when robbery of
an enemy was considered among Scottish Chiefs quite as
reputable an industry as husbandry. The venerable and
able Maclan had but about two-hundred souls in his tribe.

After the Revolution of 1688 the Scottish Chiefs were slow
in submitting to the new government. Finally, in 1691;
King William issued a proclamation of amnesty to all who
should take the oatlr of allegiance before Dec. 31 of that
year. Resistance being hopeless, all the chiefs submitted
before the time éxcept Maclan, who, actuated probably by
a Highland pride, delayed his submission till the last hour.
He appeared with his principal followers at Fort William on
December 31, to take the oath, but to his dismay found that
the commanding officer was not empowered to administer
the outh. Armed with a letter from this officer they made
their way as rapidly as the state of the ecountry would allow
to the nearest magistrate at Inverary, and took the oath of |
allegiance on Jan. 6, 1692. :

The news of Maclan’s non-submission by the last day
allowed by the proclamation was received with joy by his
powerful enemies, the Earls of Bradalbane and Argyle, of
the clan of Campbell, and the Master of Aair, Secretary of
State for Scotland, who was probably actuated less by the
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personal hatred that actuated the other two than by a desire
to accomplish the pacification of the Highlands by the ex-
tinction of all lawless tribes that hindered the establishment
of peaceful busbandry and commerce. These three sup-
pressed the report of Maclan’s submission when it finally
arrived, and obtained an order from the King :— ¢ It will be
proper, for the vindication of public justice, to extirpate that
set of thieves.” And this order was executed in its most
literal sense, with revolting treachery and cruelty.

A body of 120 soldiers was sent to Glencoe under the
command of a Capt. Cainpbell, and were hospitably received,
lodged and fed free of charge by the people, trusting in the
efficiency of their submission, which, though late, had been
accepted apparently. They spent twelve days thus in amity,
playing cards and drinking together; but in the early morn-
ing of Feb. 13, 1692, they began a treacherous massacre of
the people whose hospitality they were enjoying. Maclan
and about thirty-five men and boys and four women were
slain, but the remainder escaped, owing to the rotice given
by the discharge of firearms and the failure of the supporting
body of soldiers to reach the outlet of the valley in time to
intercept the fleeing people, as had been planned. Many
undoubtedly succumbed to cold and bunger at this bleak
season, but many also escaped, thus partially frustrating a
plan discreditable to its authors alike for the treachery and
atrocity of its conception and the lack of military skill dis-
p'ayed in its execution.” [Macauly’s History of England,
Vol. IV, p. 277 et seq. -

¢In the infamous massacre of GGlencoe Joux Moor was
shot dead in his yard. He had two little daughters who were
taken care of by a servant who escaped to Ireland with them.
His wife, after covering his body with a sheet, sought refuge
in a malt-kiln, ard there was delivered of a son that night,
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with whom she fled to Ireland and took up a residence at or
near Londonderry, where she fortuitously met and recovered -
her daughters. One of these daughters was Beatrix Moor,
who married Col. Andrew Todd, of fame in colonial history.
The son, John Moor, married Janet Cochran, probably a
relative of the Cochrans who came to America about the same
time. He embarked with his wife and son William for this
country in 1718 among the emigrants that came in five ships
that year. One of these ships, containing those under the
charge of Rev. James MacGregor, or MacGregore, entered
Casco Bay, but having endured a winter of great hardship
and privation, and not liking the appearance of the land in
the spring, they returned to Haverhill, and from there settled
in Nutfield, or Londonderry, N. H. |
The old house in which John Moor llved was still stand-

ing in 1876, situated on the turnpike about two miles south
of the village of Derry; also the old well and a huge elm
planted by his own hand.”

Q

APPENDIX 1.

U S

CURRIER.

——

The following list of descendants of RicEArD CURRIER JR.,
father of Ruth Carrier, wife of Capt. Robert Stuart, is con-
tributed by Mr. James Bagley Currier, of Lowell, Mass., a
descendant of an older brother of Richard :—

RicHARD CCURRIER JR., was born in 1708, married Sarah
Merrill Nov. 25, 1731, lived near Bugsmore Hill, in South
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Hampton, N. H. He was the son of Richard and Dorothy
Currier, his grandparents being Deacon Thomas and Mary
Currier. Dea. Thomas was born in 1646, and was the son
of Richard Currier, born in 1617, whose wife was named
Anne. (Whether they were married before coming over was
not stated, but this Richard must have been an ezrly settler.)
Richard Jr. died in 1768. He had twelve children :—

1. Sarah, born in 1732, died in 1735.

2. Richard, born in 1733, died in 1735.

3. Judith, born in 1736. |

4. Nathan, born in 1737, married Miriam Hoyt. (Was
she a daughter of Anne Stuart Hoyt?)

5. Hannah, Lorn in 1739.

. Richard, born in 1742.
. James, born in 1744, married Mary Bartlett.
. Hannah, born in 1746, married Batchelder.

9. Rore, born in 1749, married ROBERT STUART in 1770.

10. Barnard, born in 1752, married Abigail

11. Maj. John, born in 1753, married Betsey Bartlett.

12. Richard, born in 1754, married Mary, daughter of
Challis Currier.

Nathan bad children born in South Hampton :—

1. Sarah, born in 1761, married Nathan Kimball. (A
Nathan, son of this Nathan, married a Webster, great-grand-
daughter of Durcan Stuart, and had Jonpathan and David.
Nathan Jr. was a carpenter, and went to Lowell about the first
starting of the new town, building his house upon High
Street, Belvidere, then a part of Tewksbury. Jonathan was
born about 1816 to 1818, married Nancy Sawyer, a cousin
to Passed Midshipman G. V. Fox, afterward Captain and
Assistant Secretary of the U. S. Navy during the War for
the Union. Jonathap became a teacher in Lowell; first, of
a grammar £chool, then a Principal of the High School, and

D =3 &
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afterward Superintendent of Schools of Lowell, and later, of
Chelsea, Mass. He received his education in the schools of
Lowell, being one of the first class at the establishment of
the High School. He was, however, a close student through
all the earlier years of his life. He died in]1890. David,
born 1823, was a carpenter, married, died about 1846 to 50.)

2. Daniel, born in 1765, married Dorothy French; lived
in Enfield, N. H.; his children were :—Henry, Sarah, Na-
than, Daniel, Miriam, Dolly, Rebecca.

3. Nathanp, born in 1767, married Mary Jones; lived in
Enfield; his children were :—Mary, Thomas, Rebecca, Al
bert, Mary Ann, Moses I. |

4. Ezekiel, born in 1770, married Alice Hoyt; lived in
Enfield and removed to North Troy, Vt.; his children were :
John W., Susanna, Miriam, Alice H., Alpbeus, Ezekiel,
Nathan, Sarah, Benjamin H., James M., Joseph M.

5. Miriam, born in 1773, married Joseph Merrill.

6. Richard, born in 1777, married Betsey Huse; lived in
Enfield ; his children were :—Miriam, James, William, Lewis,
twine that died infants, John P., Dennison, Betsey.

7. Thomas, born in 1780, married and removed from En-
tield to Irasburg and Troy, Vt; his children were :—Miriam,
John, Barnard, Rboda, Betsey, Nancy H., Thomas W.,
Mary, William G.

James, the 7th child of Richard Currier Jr., and the 2nd
that lived to marry, had children born in Newtown, N. H.:

1. Mary, born in 1767, married John Bailey.

2. Richard, born in 1769, married Anna Pettingill, and
lived in Lnfield; their children were :—David, Mary B.,
Nancy, Richard B. By his second wife, Mary Garland, he

had :—Jonathan, David, Mehitable, Warren.
3. Sarah, born in 1772, died in 1773.

4. James, born in 1775, married Sarah Bohonnon; went
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to Lowell about 1826 ; they had :—Mary; Betsey; James;
Sarah, born in 1804, married David White, of Keene, N. H. ;
Sophia, born in 1806 ; Jeremiah S., born in 1809, married
Mary Coffin, and lived in Haverhill, Mass. ; had :—George,
Lizzie, James, Albert; Charlotte P., born in 1812, married
a Mr. Yew. ~ -

No record is given of children to Hannah, the 8th child.

The record of Rurh (Stuart) is given on page 24 et seq.

Barnard, the 10th child of Richard Currier Jr., had five
ehildren born in Southampton :—Sarah, in 1771 ; Ephraim,
1774 ; Molly, 1778, married a Mr. Eastman, of Danville;
Barnard, 1782, married Rhoda Quimby; lived in Danville,
N. H., and bad Abigail, Frank, David, Caroline, Ephraim,
Rhoda ; William, 1785, married, first, Miss Heath, second,
Sally C. Haines ; lived in Enfield, and removed to Concord,
N. H.; had Stephen H., Jobn F., Barnard W., Samuel M.,
Sally H., Thomas H., Charles H., Mary H., Joseph H.,
Martha J.

Major John, the 11th child of Richard Currier Jr., had
twelve children, horn in-Amesbury :— |
1. Jobn jr., born in 1773, married Elizabeth Rowell, of

Newtown, and had John, and Sally.
2. Elizabeth, born in 1774, married Theophilus Clough.
3. Sarah, born in 1778, married Thomas Goodhue, of
Enfield.

4. Joseph born in 1780, ma‘rried Mary Bartlett; had no
children.

5. Mary, born in 1782, married Paul Chase.
. 6. Abigail, born in 1784, married Robert Cochran, of
Enfield.
7. Hannab, born in 1787, married Nathaniel Currier, son

of Levi, born in 1784. Their con Nathaniel lives in New:
York City.
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8. Richard, born in 1789, married Mary Tappan, and had
children born in South Hampton :—Andrew, John G., Sa-
. brina, and Sally.

9. Benjamin, born in 1792, married, 1st, Molly Bagley,
2nd, Eliza French, and had :—Mary Ann in 1815, Benjamin,
1817, Elizabeth, 1822, Lucina, 1829, Otis W., 1833, Wash-
~ ington F., 1842, John H., 1846, Joseph Woodbury, 1851.
10. Louise, born in 1795, married Samuel Daggett.

11. Ruth, born in 1797, married Myron Chapin.
12. Nancy, born in 1800, married, 1st, Naham French,
2nd, Morse.

Richard the 12th child. of Richard Currier Jr., had four
children, born in Enfield :—

1. Richard, married Deborah Wiggin, and had Merrill,
Mary, and Sally.

2. Chellis, or Challis, married Foster; had seven
children, born in Enfield :—James A., George W., John,
Sarah Eliza, Harriet, Franklin, Lucy Ann. |

3. Polly.

4. Eliza.

This completes such information as I have been able to
gather of the various roots, branches and stems of our fam-
ily tree. That there should be many inaccuracies in such a
work is unavoidable. Trusting, however, to the leniency of
those whose record may be incomplete or contain errors, I
tender this work to all the descendants of Duncan Stuart
and to their family connections, hoping that they may ever
keep the escutcheon unsullied and to the front in any effort
for the advancement of OUR COUNTRY and THE RIGHT.

et ——
— {3 As b

(S
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ADDENDA.

After printing what I supposed would be my final page 1
received the following from the town clerk of Rowley:—

‘¢ Dear Sir :—Your ancestor’s name is spelled on our
records as follows :—Steward, Stewart, Stewartt, Sewart.

I do not think that Duncan’s John was styled ¢ Mr.” in
his old age. '

1 cannot inform you for certain as to the parents of Eliz-
abeth Johnson, wife of Ebenezer Stuart. I find one who
was the daughter of John and Hannah Johnson, born Jan.
16, 1659. A James Balley and an Elizabeth Johnson were
married Maié 12, 1680. Your Ebenezer and Elizabeth were
married May 23, 1698. I cannot make the distinction be-

tween the two.
BexJs. P. MiGgHILL,

Clerk of Rowley.”

Savage speaks of John Johnson, Rowley, 1650, married
Dec. 1, 1655, Hannah, daughter of Antbhony Crosby; had
John, born 1668, Samuel, born 1671, besides two daughters,
names not given; but one of whom we find from Mr. Mighill
was named Elizabeth. It is questionable, however, that this
was our aucestress as she would have been 61 years old at
birth of Ebenezer’s youngest child, Jane, born in 1720, with
other births at quite regular intervals from 1699 up to that
date. Moreover, it would appear from the above letter that
this Elizaketh, at the cge of 21 years, probably married the



180 THE STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA.

James Bally, and in that case would have been styled ¢‘the
widow Bally” unless granted a divorce with permission to
resume her maiden name, a presumption still more doubtful
for that day. I am therefore forced to the conclusion that
Ebenezer Stuart’s wife was some younger relative of this
Johnson family of Rowley. Her parentage is still a prob-
lem for future solution. The Anthony Crosby spoken of by
Savage was of Rowley in 1643, a Surgeon, with children :-
Anthony, born about 1636, Joseph, born about 1640, and
Hannah, who married Capt. John Johnson, who was made
captain of the town by the General Court.




SUPPLEMENT

TO THE

DUNCAN STUART FAMILY IN AMERICA.

ELIZABETH JOHNSON STUART.

O
J

I am indebted to Mrs. Hannah Little (Noyes) Wescott,
of Lowell, Mass., a descendant of Dr. Matthew Adams, of
Newbury, (p. 153,) and of the William Johnson, first of
that name in America, for a record of Johnsons to herself.
With that as a starting point I gather the following that may
assist in the search for the Elizabeth Johnson that married
Ebenezer Stuart :—

1. Maurice Johnson, Esq., M. P. for Stamford in 1523.

2. Robert, Arch-deacon of Leicester; married Maria

3. Abraham, bornin 1577, died in 1625 ; married : —

1st; Anne Meadowsin 1597. They had one son, Isaac.

2nd ; Abrabham married Cicely Chadderton in 1602 ; they

had eleven children.

4. Isaac married the Lady Arabella, daughter of Thomas,
14th Earl of Lincoln. I have no record of him. I
think that at least four of Abrecham’s sons came early
to America. I find twoJoha Johnsons, one of whem
may have been a son of Cicely :—the John, of Rowley,
(p- 179,) and a John, of Haverhill, who married Eliz-
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abeth Maverick. Each of these had an Elizabeth in
1659, a John in 1668, and a Samuel,—the Rowley one
1671. the otherin 1672. 'The Elizabeths would be too
old for the mother of Ebenezer’s nine children, and the
sons too young to have had an Elizabeth for him. The
Edward Johnson, of Woburn, may also have been one of
the sons of Cicely ; but Woburn’s City Clerk writes me :
“After a careful and thorough search I am unable to
find a record of the birth, marriage, or death of any
Elizabeth Johnson, born about 1680.” ‘
4. William, by record the 4th son of Abraham, and 3rd by
Cicely, settled at Charlestown in 1630. He married
Elizabeth Story in 1633. They bad:—Rubannah, (or
5. Rubamah?), Elizabeth, Joseph, Jonathan, Nathaniel.
5. Elizabeth would be too old for Ebenezer’s wife.
5. Joseph settled at Haverhill and by his 2nd wife, Hannah
‘Tenney, bad several children, one being Elizabeth, born
Feb. 28, 1680. All his sons were too voung to have
had any Elizabeth for Ebenezer.
I bave no record of Jonathan’s children; but in giving
Nathaniel’s record the Boston Registrar referred me to
Joseph of Haverhill for possible record of an Elizabeth.
9. Nathaniel ¢¢ bad no record of an Elizabeth.” He mar-
ried Joanna Long. One of their sons, Wiliiam, born
Nov. 27, 1671, removed to Newbury in 1698, the year
Ebenezer was married. These sons were all too young
to have had an Elizabeth for Ebenezer.

Mrs. Wescott had no record of any Elizabeth other than
the daughter of William and Elizabeth (Story) Johnson, of
Charlestown. The only one I could find of an age to have
married Ebenezer Stuart was the daughter of Joseph Sr., of
Haverhill. In his will he gave her ¢‘the lower piece of his
Hawks Meadow.” It needed only the finding of the record

Ot
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of a deed of the ¢“ Hawks Meadow” to determime her iden-
tity. No mention of such a deed by Ebenezer and his wife
is recorded at Salem, the term ‘‘land” being used. Mr. Pres-
ton, on March 16, 1896, ‘‘stumbled upon the deed of that
Hawks Meadow; but it showed that Joseph Johnson’s Eliz-
abeth was the wife of Samuel Warthen (or Worthen?) in
1724.” 1t sets us back into our former state of doubt, and
belief that she ¢‘never was born™ in this country, but was
from some other of the eleven children of Cicely Chadderton
that may have remained in England. It is true that I have
no record of any children to Isaac, (who may have had a
family here, as the Lady Arabella was buried at Salem,) or
of an Elizabeth to Joseph’s brother Jonathan. Also John
and Elizabeth (Maverick) Johnson’s Elizabeth (1659) may
have died, and that he had another Elizabeth by his second
wife, (first wife died in 1673-4,) who ‘‘might have growed”
to be of an age to marry Ebenezer Stuart, and perhaps with
him devoid of a birth-record yet found. I would suggest
those lines for future investigations.

P









